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PART I  

 
Item 1.    Business  
 
Forward-Looking Statements  
Certain statements under the sections entitled “Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
and “Business” and elsewhere in this Form 10-K constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act 
of 1995. Generally, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “intend,” “forecast,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” and “continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. The forward-
looking statements contained in this Form 10-K involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and situations that may cause our actual results, level of 
activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or 
implied by these statements. Some of the important factors that could cause actual results to differ from our expectations are discussed in Item 1A. of this 
Form 10-K.  
 
By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events that depend on circumstances that may or may 
not occur in the future. While we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future 
results, levels of activity, performance or achievements, and our actual results of operations, financial condition and liquidity and development of the 
industries in which we operate may differ materially from those made in or suggested by the forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K. You should 
not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made.  We assume 
no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement.  
 
Overview  
We are a leading operator of automotive franchises and a retailer of new and used vehicles and services. As of February 22, 2013, we offered 27 brands of 
new vehicles and all brands of used vehicles in 87 stores in the United States and online at Lithia.com . We sell new and used cars and trucks and 
replacement parts; provide vehicle maintenance, warranty, paint and repair services; and arrange related financing, service contracts, protection products 
and credit insurance.  
 
Our dealerships are primarily located throughout the Western and Midwestern regions of the United States. We target mid-sized regional markets for 
domestic and import franchises and metropolitan markets for luxury franchises. We believe this strategy enables brand exclusivity with insulation from 
competition with the same franchise in the market.  
 
The following table sets forth information about stores that were part of our continuing operations as of December 31, 2012:  
 

   

  

State    
Number of  

Stores      
Percent of  

2012 Revenue    
Texas      15       25 % 
Oregon      19       20   
California      11       10   
Montana      8       9   
Washington      7       8   
Alaska      7       8   
Idaho      5       5   
Iowa      5       5   
Nevada      4       5   
North Dakota      3       3   
New Mexico      3       2   

Total      87       100 % 
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Business Strategy and Operations  
Our mission statement is: “Driven by our employees and preferred by our customers, Lithia is the leading automotive retailer in each of our markets.” We 
offer customers personal, convenient, flexible hometown service combined with the large company advantages of selection, competitive pricing, broad 
access to financing, consistent service, competence and guarantees. We strive for diversification in our products, services, brands and geographic locations 
to insulate us from market risk and to maintain profitability. We have developed a centralized support structure to reduce store level administrative 
functions. This allows store personnel to focus on providing a positive customer experience. With our management information systems and centrally-
performed administrative functions in Medford, Oregon, we seek to gain economies of scale from our dealership network.  
 
Our overall strategy is to target mid-sized and rural markets for domestic and import brands and metropolitan markets for luxury brands. We offer a 
variety of luxury, import and domestic new vehicle brands and models, reducing our dependence on any one manufacturer and our susceptibility to 
changing consumer preferences. Encompassing economy and luxury cars, sports utility vehicles (SUVs), crossovers, minivans and trucks, we believe our 
brand mix is well-suited to what customers demand in the markets we serve. Our new vehicle unit mix of 53% domestic, 37% import and 10% luxury 
aligns similarly with national market share.  
 
We have centralized many administrative functions to streamline store level operations. Accounts payable, accounts receivable, credit and collections, 
accounting and taxes, payroll and benefits, information technology, legal, human resources, personnel development, treasury, cash management, 
advertising and marketing are all centralized at our corporate headquarters. The reduction of administrative functions at our stores allows our local 
managers to focus on customer-facing opportunities to generate increased revenues and gross profit. Our operations are supported by our dedicated 
training and personnel development program, which shares best practices across our dealership network and seeks to develop our store management 
talent.  
 
Operations are structured to promote an entrepreneurial environment at the dealership level. Each store’s general manager and department managers, with 
assistance from regional and corporate management, are responsible for developing retail models that perform in their communities. They are the leaders 
in driving dealership operations, personnel development, manufacturer relationships, store culture and financial performance.  
 
During 2012, we continued to focus on the following areas to achieve our mission:  

 
We believe our cost structure is aligned with current industry sales levels and is positioned to be leveraged if vehicle sales levels continue to improve. Our 
selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expense as a percentage of gross profit improved to 69.3% in 2012 compared to 71.1% in 2011. The 2011 
results included a $6.3 million gain on the sale of property in California. Adjusting for this gain and other pro forma items in both 2012 and 2011, our 
adjusted SG&A expense as a percentage of gross profit in 2012 was 69.4%, compared to 72.5% in 2011.  
   

  

  ●  increasing revenues in all business lines;  
  ●  capturing a greater percentage of overall new vehicle sales in our local markets;  
  ●  increasing sales of manufacturer certified pre-owned used vehicles; late model, lower-mileage vehicles; and value autos to reach additional 

customers;  
  ●  leveraging our cost structure as vehicle sales increase while maintaining fixed costs;  
  ●  diversifying our franchise mix through acquisitions;  
  ●  increasing our return to investors through dividends and strategic share buy backs;  
  ●  utilizing prudent cash management, including investing capital to produce accretive returns; and  
  ●  reducing our exposure to pending debt maturities by renewing and extending debt instruments.  
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We also measure the leverage of our cost structure by evaluating throughput, which is calculated as the incremental percentage of gross profit retained 
after deducting SG&A expense. For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, our incremental throughput was 39.3% and 60.5%, respectively. 
Adjusting for the gain on the sale of property in California and other pro forma items, our adjusted throughput in 2012 was 45.3% and in 2011 was 51.1%. 
See Non-GAAP Reconciliations of Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for additional information 
regarding pro forma SG&A expense.  
 
Throughput contributions for newly opened or acquired stores are on a ”first-dollar” basis for the first twelve months of operations and reduce overall 
throughput performance. In 2012, we acquired four stores and opened two new stores. In 2011, we acquired four stores and opened one new store. 
Adjusting for these locations, our throughput contribution on a same store basis was 51.2% and 59.9% for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively.  
 
We believe we are well positioned to improve our SG&A expense leverage if vehicle sales levels continue to improve. As sales volume increases and we 
gain leverage in our cost structure, we anticipate achieving metrics of SG&A as a percentage of gross profit in the high 60% range depending on sales 
volumes and incremental same store throughput of approximately 50%.  
 
We continuously evaluate our portfolio of franchises, divesting stores that are not expected to meet our financial return requirements while selectively 
acquiring attractive stores in our target markets. In the past three years, we generated $31.4 million in cash by divesting stores that did not meet our 
financial return expectations. Additionally, in the past three years, we spent $128.9 million in cash on acquisitions which increase revenue and diversify 
our portfolio.  
 
New Vehicles  
In 2012, we sold 55,666 new vehicles, generating 25% of our gross profit for the year. New vehicle sales also have the potential to create incremental 
profit opportunities through manufacturer incentives, resale of trade-in vehicles, sale of third-party financing, vehicle service and insurance contracts, and 
future service and repair work.  
 
In 2012, we represented 27 domestic and import brands ranging from economy to luxury cars, SUVs, crossovers, minivans and light trucks.  
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* Less than 0.1%  
 
We purchase our new car inventory directly from manufacturers, who generally allocate new vehicles to stores based on availability, monthly sales and 
market area. Accordingly, we rely on the manufacturers to provide us with vehicles that meet consumer demand at suitable locations, with appropriate 
quantities and prices. However, high demand vehicles are often in short supply. We exchange vehicles with other automotive retailers and between our 
own stores to accommodate customer demand and to balance inventory.  
 
Used Vehicles  
At each new vehicle store, we also sell used vehicles. In 2012, retail used vehicle sales generated 23% of our gross profit.  
 
Our used vehicle operations give us an opportunity to:  

 
Our longer-term strategy is to maintain a ratio of one retail used vehicle sale to one retail new vehicle sale. For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 
2011, we had a ratio of 0.9:1. In addition, our stores currently sell an average of 46 retail used vehicle units per month and our longer-term strategy is to 
increase monthly sales to an average of 75 units.  
 
We strive to achieve this strategy through offering three categories of used vehicles: manufacturer certified pre-owned used vehicles; late model, lower-
mileage vehicles; and value autos. We offer manufacturer certified pre-owned used vehicles at most of our franchised dealerships. These vehicles undergo 
additional reconditioning and receive an extended factory-provided warranty. Late model, lower-mileage vehicles are reconditioned and offer a Lithia 
certified warranty. Value autos are older, higher mileage vehicles that undergo a safety check and a lesser degree of reconditioning. Value autos are 
offered to customers who require a less expensive vehicle with lower monthly payments.  
   

  

Manufacturer    

Percent of  
2012 New  
Vehicle  
Revenue      

Percent of  
2012 New  

Vehicle Gross  
Profit    

Chrysler, Jeep, Dodge      33.2%       29.7%   
Chevrolet, Cadillac, GMC, Buick      15.7       15.8   
Toyota, Scion      12.3       11.7   
BMW, Mini      9.8       10.1   
Honda, Acura      5.6       7.1   
Ford, Lincoln      5.9       5.1   
Hyundai      2.7       4.6   
Subaru      5.6       4.6   
Mercedes, smart      3.5       4.6   
Nissan      2.2       2.6   
Volkswagen, Audi      1.8       1.9   
Kia      0.7       0.9   
Porsche      0.6       0.8   
Mazda      0.3       0.5   
Mitsubishi      0.1       *   
Fiat      *       *   

Total      100.0%       100.0%   

  •  generate sales to customers financially unable or unwilling to purchase a new vehicle;  
  •  generate sales of vehicle brands other than the store’s new vehicle franchise;  
  •  increase new and used vehicle sales by aggressively pursuing customer trade-ins; and  
  •  increase finance and insurance revenues and service and parts sales.  
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We acquire our used vehicles through customer trade-ins and at closed auctions. We also purchase vehicles directly from customers visiting our stores, 
private parties advertising through local newspapers, competing dealers and online.  
 
Wholesale transactions result from vehicles we have purchased from customers or vehicles we have attempted to sell via retail that we elect to dispose of 
due to inventory age or other factors. As part of our used vehicle strategy, we have concentrated on directing more lower-priced, older vehicles to retail 
sale rather than wholesale disposal.  
 
Vehicle Financing, Service Contracts and Other Products  
As part of the vehicle sales process, we assist in arranging customer financing options as well as offer extended warranties, insurance contracts and 
vehicle and theft protection products. The sale of these items generated 21% of our gross profit.  
 
We believe that arranging financing is an important part of our ability to sell vehicles and related products and services. Our sales personnel and finance 
and insurance managers receive training in securing customer financing and possess extensive knowledge of available financing alternatives. We attempt 
to arrange financing for every vehicle we sell and we offer customers financing on a “same day” basis, giving us an advantage, particularly over smaller 
competitors who do not generate enough sales to attract our breadth of finance sources.  
 
We earn a commission on each finance, service and insurance contract we write and subsequently sell to a third-party. We normally arrange financing for 
customers by selling the contracts to outside sources on a non-recourse basis to avoid the risk of default.  
 
We were able to arrange financing on 76% of the vehicles we sold during 2012, compared to 72% in 2011. Our presence in multiple markets and changes 
in technology surrounding the credit application process have allowed us to utilize a larger network of lenders across a broader geographic area. 
Additionally, we continue to see the availability of consumer credit expand with lenders increasing the loan-to-value amount available to most customers. 
These shifts afford us the opportunity to sell additional or more comprehensive products, while remaining within a loan-to-value framework acceptable to 
our retail customer lenders. On a same store basis, sub-prime customers, which are defined as customers with credit scores of 620 or less and comprised 
approximately 11.7% of the financings we completed in 2012, continue to experience constraints in obtaining automotive financing. In 2012, we increased 
the number of vehicles sold to customers visiting our dealerships with credit scores of 620 or lower by 39.8% compared to the prior year. Over our entire 
customer base, the average credit score in 2012 was 725. While the market for sub-prime customers continued to improve in 2012, we believe vehicle 
sales will increase as these customers are able to obtain loans at more attractive terms.  
 
We also market third-party extended warranty contracts, insurance contracts and vehicle and theft protection products to our customers. These products 
and services yield higher profit margins than vehicle sales and contribute significantly to our profitability. Extended warranty contracts for new vehicles 
provide additional coverage beyond the duration or scope of the manufacturer’s warranty. We also sell service contracts, which provide coverage for 
certain major repairs. We believe the sale of extended warranties and service contracts increases our service and parts business as well, linking future 
repair work to our locations.  
 
When customers finance an automobile purchase, we offer them guaranteed auto protection (“gap”) coverage that provides protection from loss incurred 
by the difference in the amount owed and the amount received under a comprehensive insurance claim. We receive a commission on each gap policy sold. 
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We offer a lifetime lube, oil and filter (“LOF”) service, which, in 2012, was purchased by 35% of our total new and used vehicle buyers. This service, 
where customers prepay for their LOF services, helps us retain customers by building customer loyalty and provides opportunities for selling additional 
routine maintenance items and generating repeat service business. In 2012, we sold an average of $48 of additional maintenance on each lifetime LOF 
service we performed.  
 
Service, Body and Parts  
In 2012, our service, body and parts operations generated 31% of our gross profit. Our service, body and parts operations are an integral part of 
establishing customer loyalty and contribute significantly to our overall revenue and profits. We provide parts and service for the new vehicle brands sold 
by our stores, as well as service most other makes and models.  
 
The service and parts business provides important repeat revenues to our stores. In addition to warranty revenues associated with new vehicles, we target 
growing our service and parts business organically. Customer pay revenues represent sales for vehicle maintenance and service performed on other makes 
and models. We believe offering ‘one-stop shopping’ for customers will be an important point of differentiation as we offer more diversified services for 
our repeat customers. Our parts wholesale business is an additional source of revenue. We believe body shops provide an attractive opportunity to grow 
our business, and we continue to evaluate potential locations to expand. We currently operate 14 collision repair centers: four in Texas; three in Oregon; 
two in Idaho; and one each in Alaska, Washington, Montana, Iowa and Nevada.  
 
We focus on growing our customer pay business and market our parts and service products by notifying owners when their vehicles are due for periodic 
service. This encourages preventive maintenance rather than post-breakdown repairs. The number of customers who purchase our lifetime LOF service 
helps to improve customer loyalty and provides opportunities for repeat parts and service business.  
 
Revenues from the service and parts departments are particularly important during economic downturns, as owners tend to repair their existing vehicles 
rather than buy new vehicles during such periods. This partially mitigates the effects of a drop in new vehicle sales that may occur in a recessionary 
economic environment.  
 
Our service, body and parts operations provide us an opportunity to build the Lithia Automotive brand independent of new vehicle franchises. We have 
branded our service processes as “Assured Service.” Assured Service provides customer benefits such as same day service, upfront price guarantees and a 
three-year/50,000 mile warranty on repairs. We have also launched “Assured Automotive Products” on various commodity items such as tires, filters and 
batteries. These branded parts provide improved margins as we procure in bulk directly from the manufacturer.  
 
Marketing  
We emphasize customer satisfaction and we realize that customer retention is critical to our success. We want our customers’ experiences to be satisfying 
so that they refer us to their families and friends. We utilize an owner marketing strategy, consisting of email, traditional mail and phone contact, to 
maintain regular communication and solicit feedback.  
 
To increase awareness and traffic at our stores, we employ a combination of traditional, digital and social media to reach potential customers. Total 
advertising expense, net of manufacturer credits, was $31.9 million in 2012, $23.9 million in 2011 and $25.4 million in 2010. In 2012, approximately 47% 
of those funds were spent in traditional media and 53% were spent in digital and owner communications and other media outlets. In all of our 
communications, we seek to differentiate ourselves from competitors by conveying price, selection and finance benefits unique to Lithia.  
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Certain advertising and marketing expenditures are offset by manufacturer cooperative programs. Advertising credits not tied to specific vehicles are 
earned as qualifying expenses are incurred and requests for reimbursement are submitted to manufacturers for qualifying advertising expenditures. These 
reimbursements are recognized as a reduction of advertising expense upon manufacturer confirmation of submitted expenditures. Manufacturer 
cooperative advertising credits were $9.6 million in 2012, $7.8 million in 2011 and $2.5 million in 2010.  
 
Many people now shop online before visiting our stores. We maintain websites for all of our stores and a corporate site (Lithia.com) dedicated to 
generating customer leads for our stores. Today, our websites enable our customers to:  

 
We also maintain mobile versions of our websites and a mobile application in anticipation of greater adoption of mobile technology. Mobile traffic now 
accounts for 20% of our web traffic.  
 
We post our inventory on major new and used vehicle listing services (cars.com, autotrader.com, kbb.com, edmunds.com, ebay, craigslist, etc.) to reach 
online shoppers. We also employ search engine optimization, search engine marketing and online display advertising to reach more online prospects.   
 
Social influence marketing represents a cost-effective method to enhance our corporate reputation and increase vehicle sales and service. We are 
deploying tools and training to our employees in ways that will help us listen to our customers and create more ambassadors for Lithia.  
 
Franchise Agreements  
Each of our stores operates under a separate agreement (“Franchise Agreement”) with the manufacturer of the new vehicle brand it sells.  
 
Typical automobile Franchise Agreements specify the locations within a designated market area at which the store may sell vehicles and related products 
and perform certain approved services. The designation of such areas and the allocation of new vehicles among stores are at the discretion of the 
manufacturer. Franchise Agreements do not, however, guarantee exclusivity within a specified territory.  
 
A Franchise Agreement may impose requirements on the store with respect to:  

 
Each manufacturer closely monitors compliance with these requirements and requires each store to submit monthly financial statements. Franchise 
Agreements also grant a store the right to use and display manufacturers’ trademarks, service marks and designs in the manner approved by each 
manufacturer.  
   

  

  ●  locate our stores and identify the new vehicle brands sold at each store;  
  ●  search new and pre-owned vehicle inventory;  
  ●  view current pricing and specials;  
  ●  obtain a value for their vehicle to trade or sell to us;  
  ●  submit credit applications;  
  ●  shop for and order manufacturers’  vehicle parts;  
  ●  schedule service appointments; and  
  ●  provide feedback about their Lithia experience.  

  ●  facilities and equipment;  
  ●  inventories of vehicles and parts;  
  ●  minimum working capital;  
  ●  training of personnel; and  
  ●  performance standards for market share and customer satisfaction.  
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We have determined the useful life of a Franchise Agreement is indefinite, even though certain Franchise Agreements are renewed after one to five years. 
In our experience, agreements are routinely renewed without substantial cost and there are legal remedies to help prevent termination. Certain Franchise 
Agreements, including those with Ford and Chrysler, have no termination date. In addition, state franchise laws protect franchised automotive retailers. 
Under certain laws, a manufacturer may not terminate or fail to renew a franchise without good cause or prevent any reasonable changes in the capital 
structure or financing of a store.  
 
The typical Franchise Agreement provides for early termination or non-renewal by the manufacturer upon:  

 
Franchise Agreements generally provide for prior written notice before a franchise may be terminated under most circumstances. We also sign master 
framework agreements with most manufacturers that impose additional requirements on our stores.  See Item 1A. “Risk Factors.”  
 
Competition  
The retail automotive business is highly competitive. Currently, there are approximately 17,900 dealers in the United States, many of whom are 
independent stores managed by individuals, families or small retail groups. We compete primarily with other automotive retailers, both publicly and 
privately-held.  
 
Vehicle manufacturers have designated specific marketing and sales areas within which only one dealer of a vehicle brand may operate. In addition, our 
Franchise Agreements typically limit our ability to acquire multiple dealerships of a given brand within a particular market area. Certain state franchise 
laws also restrict us from relocating our dealerships, or establishing new dealerships of a particular brand, within any area that is served by another dealer 
with the same brand. Accordingly, to the extent that a market has multiple dealers of a particular brand, as certain markets we operate in do, we are 
subject to significant intra-brand competition.  
 
We are larger and have more financial resources than most private automotive retailers with which we currently compete in the majority of our regional 
markets. We compete directly with retailers with similar or greater resources in our metropolitan markets in Seattle, Washington and Portland, Oregon. If 
we enter other metropolitan markets, we may face competitors that are larger or have access to greater financial resources. We do not have any cost 
advantage in purchasing new vehicles from manufacturers. We rely on advertising and merchandising, pricing, our customer guarantees and sales model, 
our sales expertise, service reputation and the location of our stores to sell new vehicles.  
 
Regulation  
 
Automotive and Other Laws and Regulations  
We operate in a highly regulated industry. A number of state and federal laws and regulations affect our business. In every state in which we operate, we 
must obtain various licenses in order to operate our businesses, including dealer, sales and finance and insurance licenses issued by state regulatory 
authorities. Numerous laws and regulations govern our conduct of business, including those relating to our sales, operations, financing, insurance, 
advertising and employment practices. These laws and regulations include state franchise laws and regulations, consumer protection laws, privacy laws, 
escheatment laws, anti-money laundering laws and other extensive laws and regulations applicable to new and used motor vehicle dealers, as well as a 
variety of other laws and regulations. These laws also include federal and state wage-hour, anti-discrimination and other employment practices laws.  
   

  

  ●  a change of management or ownership without manufacturer consent;  
  ●  insolvency or bankruptcy of the dealer;  
  ●  death or incapacity of the dealer/manager;  
  ●  conviction of a dealer/manager or owner of certain crimes;  
  ●  misrepresentation of certain sales or inventory information by the store, dealer/manager or owner to the manufacturer;  
  ●  failure to adequately operate the store;  
  ●  failure to maintain any license, permit or authorization required for the conduct of business;  
  ●  poor market share; or  
  ●  low customer satisfaction index scores.  
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Our financing activities with customers are subject to numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations. Claims arising out of actual or alleged 
violations of law may be asserted against us or our stores by individuals, a class of individuals, or governmental entities. These claims may expose us to 
significant damages or other penalties, including revocation or suspension of our licenses to conduct store operations and fines.  
 
Our operations are subject to the National Traffic and Motor Vehicle Safety Act, Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards promulgated by the United 
States Department of Transportation, and the rules and regulations of various state motor vehicle regulatory agencies.  
 
Environmental, Health, and Safety Laws and Regulations  
Our operations involve the use, handling, storage and contracting for recycling and/or disposal of materials such as motor oil and filters, transmission 
fluids, antifreeze, refrigerants, paints, thinners, batteries, cleaning products, lubricants, degreasing agents, tires and fuel. Consequently, our business is 
subject to a complex variety of federal, state and local requirements that regulate the environment and public health and safety.  
 
Most of our stores use above ground storage tanks, and, to a lesser extent, underground storage tanks, primarily for petroleum-based products. Storage 
tanks are subject to periodic testing, containment, upgrading and removal under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and its state law 
counterparts. Clean-up or other remedial action may be necessary in the event of leaks or other discharges from storage tanks or other sources. In addition, 
water quality protection programs under the federal Water Pollution Control Act (commonly known as the Clean Water Act), the Safe Drinking Water Act 
and comparable state and local programs govern certain discharges from our operations. Similarly, certain air emissions from operations, such as auto 
body painting, may be subject to the federal Clean Air Act and related state and local laws. Health and safety standards promulgated by the Occupational 
Safety and Health Administration of the United States Department of Labor and related state agencies also apply.  
 
Certain stores may become a party to proceedings under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, or CERCLA, 
typically in connection with materials that were sent to former recycling, treatment and/or disposal facilities owned and operated by independent 
businesses. The remediation or clean-up of facilities where the release of a regulated hazardous substance occurred is required under CERCLA and other 
laws.  
 
We incur certain costs to comply with applicable environmental, health and safety laws and regulations in the ordinary course of our business. We do not 
anticipate, however, that the costs of such compliance will have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows or financial 
condition, although such outcome is possible given the nature of our operations and the extensive environmental, public health and safety regulatory 
framework. We are aware of minor contamination at certain of our facilities, and we are in the process of conducting investigations and/or remediation at 
certain properties. In certain cases, the current or prior property owner is conducting the investigation and/or remediation or we have been indemnified by 
either the current or prior property owner for such contamination. The current level of contamination is such that we do not expect to incur significant 
costs for the remediation.   However, no assurances can be given that material environmental commitments or contingencies will not arise in the future, or 
that they do not already exist but are unknown to us.  
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Employees  
As of December 31, 2012, we employed approximately 5,043 persons on a full-time equivalent basis.  
 
Available Information and NYSE Compliance  
We file annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended (the “Exchange Act”). You may inspect and copy our reports, proxy statements, and other information filed 
with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further 
information on the Public Reference Room. The SEC maintains an Internet Web site at http://www.sec.gov where you may access copies of our SEC 
filings. We also make available free of charge, on our website at www.lithia.com, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, 
current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as soon as 
reasonably practicable after they are filed electronically with the SEC. The information found on our website is not part of this Form 10-K. You may also 
obtain copies of these reports by contacting Investor Relations at 877-331-3084.  
 
Item 1A.  Risk Factors  
 
You should carefully consider the risks described below before making an investment decision. The risks described below are not the only ones facing our 
company. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations.  
 
Risks related to our business  
 
Our business will be harmed if overall consumer demand continues to suffer from a severe or sustained downturn.  
 
Our business is heavily dependent on consumer demand and preferences. A downturn in overall levels of consumer spending may materially and 
adversely affect our revenues. Retail vehicle sales are cyclical and historically have experienced periodic downturns characterized by oversupply and 
weak demand. These cycles are often dependent on general economic conditions and consumer confidence, as well as the level of discretionary personal 
income and credit availability. Economic conditions may be anemic for an extended period of time, or deteriorate in the future. This would have a 
material adverse effect on our retail business, particularly sales of new and used automobiles.  
 
Our business may be adversely affected by unfavorable conditions in our local markets, even if those conditions are not prominent nationally.  
 
Our performance is subject to local economic, competitive and other conditions prevailing in our various geographic areas. Our dealerships are currently 
located in limited markets in 11 states, with sales in the top three states accounting for approximately 55% of our revenue in 2012. Our results of 
operations, therefore, depend substantially on general economic conditions and consumer spending levels in those markets and could be materially 
adversely affected to the extent these markets experience sustained economic downturns regardless of improvements in the U.S. economy overall.  
 
Increasing competition among automotive retailers reduces our profit margins on vehicle sales and related businesses. Further, the use of the Internet 
in the car purchasing process could materially adversely affect us.  
 
Automobile retailing is a highly competitive business. Our competitors include publicly and privately-owned dealerships, of which certain competitors are 
larger and have greater financial and marketing resources than we have. Many of our competitors sell the same or similar makes of new and used vehicles 
that we offer in our markets at competitive prices. We do not have any cost advantage in purchasing new vehicles from manufacturers due to economies 
of scale or otherwise.  
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Our finance and insurance business and other related businesses, which have higher margins than sales of new and used vehicles, are subject to strong 
competition from various financial institutions and other third parties.  
 
The Internet has become a significant part of the sales process in our industry. Customers are using the Internet to compare pricing for vehicles and related 
finance and insurance services, which may further reduce margins for new and used vehicles and profits for related finance and insurance services. If 
Internet new vehicle sales are allowed to be conducted without the involvement of franchised dealers, our business could be materially adversely affected. 
In addition, other franchise groups have aligned themselves with services offered on the Internet or are investing heavily in the development of their own 
Internet capabilities, which could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  
 
Our Franchise Agreements do not grant us the exclusive right to sell a manufacturer’s product within a given geographic area. Our revenues or 
profitability could be materially adversely affected if any of our manufacturers award franchises to others in the same markets where we operate or if 
existing franchised dealers increase their market share in our markets.  
 
In addition, we may face increasingly significant competition as we strive to gain market share through acquisitions or otherwise. Our operating margins 
may decline over time as we expand into markets where we do not have a leading position.  
 
Increasing fuel prices change consumer demand. Significant increases in fuel prices can be expected to reduce vehicle sales.  
 
Historically, in times of rapid increase in crude oil and fuel prices, sales of vehicles have dropped, particularly in the short term, as the economy slows, 
consumer confidence wanes and fuel costs become more prominent to the consumer’s buying decision. In sustained periods of higher fuel costs, 
consumers who do purchase vehicles tend to prefer smaller, more fuel efficient vehicles (which typically have lower margins) or hybrid vehicles (which 
can be in limited supply during these periods).  
   
Additionally, a significant portion of our new vehicle revenue and gross profit is derived from domestic manufacturers. These manufacturers have 
historically sold a higher percentage of trucks and SUVs than import or luxury brands. They may, therefore, experience a more significant decline in sales 
in the event that fuel prices increase.  
 
A decline of available financing in the lending market has adversely affected, and may continue to adversely affect, our vehicle sales volume.  
 
A significant portion of vehicle buyers finance their purchases of automobiles. Sub-prime lenders have historically provided financing for consumers who, 
for a variety of reasons, including poor credit histories and lack of down payment, do not have access to more traditional finance sources. Lenders have 
generally tightened their credit standards. If lenders maintain or further tighten their credit standards or there is a further decline in the availability of 
credit in the lending market, the ability of these consumers to purchase vehicles could be limited, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  
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Adverse conditions affecting one or more key manufacturers may negatively impact our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash 
flows.  
 
We depend on our manufacturers to provide a supply of vehicles which supports expected sales levels. If manufacturers are unable to supply the needed 
level of vehicles, our financial performance may be adversely impacted.  
   
We are subject to a concentration of risk in the event of financial distress, including potential reorganization or bankruptcy, of a major vehicle 
manufacturer. We purchase substantially all of our new vehicles from various manufacturers or distributors at the prevailing prices available to all 
franchised dealers. Our sales volume could be materially adversely impacted by the manufacturers’ or distributors’ inability to supply our stores with an 
adequate supply of vehicles.  
 
In the event of a manufacturer or distributor bankruptcy, we could be held liable for damages related to product liability claims, intellectual property suits 
or other legal actions. These legal actions are typically directed towards the vehicle manufacturer and it is customary to indemnify us from exposure 
related to any judgments associated with the claims. However, in the event that damages could not be collected from the manufacturer or distributor, we 
could be named in lawsuits and judgments could be levied against us.  
 
There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully address the risks described above or those of the current economic circumstances and sales 
environment.  
 
Our success depends in large part upon the overall demand for the particular lines of vehicles that each of our stores sell and the ability of the 
manufacturers to continue to deliver high quality, defect-free vehicles.  
 
Demand for our primary manufacturers’ vehicles, as well as the financial condition, management, marketing, production and distribution capabilities of 
these manufacturers, can significantly affect our business. Events that adversely affect a manufacturer’s ability to timely deliver new vehicles may 
adversely affect us by reducing our supply of popular new vehicles and leading to lower sales in our stores during those periods than would otherwise 
occur. We depend on our manufacturers to deliver high-quality, defect-free vehicles. If manufacturers experience future quality issues, our financial 
performance may be adversely impacted. In addition, the discontinuance of a particular brand could negatively impact our revenues and profitability.  
 
Many new competitors are entering the automotive industry. New companies have raised capital to produce fully electric vehicles or to license battery 
technology to existing manufacturers. Foreign manufacturers from China and India are producing significant volumes of new vehicles and are entering the 
U.S. and selecting partners to distribute their products. Because the automotive market in the U.S. is mature and the overall level of new vehicle sales may 
not increase in the coming years, the success of new competitors will likely be at the expense of other, established brands. This could have a material 
adverse impact on our success in the future.  
 
Vehicle manufacturers would be adversely impacted by economic downturns or recessions, adverse fluctuations in currency exchange rates, significant 
declines in the sales of their new vehicles, increases in interest rates, declines in their credit ratings, labor strikes or similar disruptions (including within 
their major suppliers), supply shortages or rising raw material costs, rising employee benefit costs, adverse publicity that may reduce consumer demand 
for their products, product defects, vehicle recall campaigns, litigation, poor product mix or unappealing vehicle design, or other adverse events. These 
and other risks could materially adversely affect any manufacturer and limit its ability to profitably design, market, produce or distribute new vehicles, 
which, in turn, could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  
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Additionally, federal and certain state laws mandate minimum levels of vehicle fuel economy and establish emission standards. These levels and standards 
could be increased in the future, including the required use of renewable energy sources. Such laws often increase the costs of new vehicles, which would 
be expected to reduce demand. Further, changes in these laws could result in fewer vehicles available for sale by manufacturers unwilling or unable to 
comply with the higher standards.  
 
If manufacturers or distributors discontinue or change sales incentives, warranties and other promotional programs, our business, results of 
operations, financial condition and cash flows may be materially adversely affected.  
 
We depend upon the manufacturers and distributors for sales incentives, warranties and other programs that are intended to promote new vehicle sales or 
support dealership profitability. Manufacturers and distributors routinely make changes to their incentive programs. Key incentive programs include:  

   
Our financial condition could be materially adversely impacted by a discontinuation or change in our manufacturers’ or distributors’ incentive programs. 
In addition, certain manufacturers, including BMW and Mercedes, use a dealership’s manufacturer-determined customer satisfaction index, or “CSI”, 
score as a factor governing participation in incentive programs. To the extent we cannot meet minimum score requirements, we may be precluded from 
receiving certain incentives, which could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  
 
The ability of our stores to make new vehicle sales depends in large part upon the manufacturers and, therefore, any disruption or change in our 
relationships with manufacturers may materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  
 
We depend on the manufacturers to provide us with a desirable mix of new vehicles. The most popular vehicles usually produce the highest profit margins 
and are frequently in short supply. If we cannot obtain sufficient quantities of the most popular models, our profitability may be adversely affected. Sales 
of less desirable models may reduce our profit margins.  
 
Each of our stores operates pursuant to a Franchise Agreement with each of the respective manufacturers for which it serves as franchisee. Manufacturers 
exert significant control over our stores through the terms and conditions of their franchise agreements. Such agreements contain provisions for 
termination or non-renewal for a variety of causes, including CSI scores and sales and financial performance. From time to time, certain of our stores have 
failed to comply with certain provisions of their franchise agreements, and we cannot assure you that our stores will be able to comply with these 
provisions in the future. In addition, actions taken by a manufacturer to exploit its bargaining position in negotiating the terms of renewals of franchise 
agreements or otherwise could also have a material adverse effect on our revenues and profitability. If a manufacturer terminates or fails to renew one or 
more of our significant franchise agreements or a large number of our franchise agreements, such action could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  
   

  

  ●  customer rebates;  
  ●  dealer incentives on new vehicles;  
  ●  special rates on certified, pre-owned cars;  
  ●  below-market financing on new vehicles and special leasing terms; and  
  ●  sponsorship of used vehicle sales by authorized new vehicle dealers.  
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Our Franchise Agreements also specify that, except in certain situations, we cannot operate a franchise by another manufacturer in the same building as 
the manufacturer’s franchised store. This may require us to build new facilities at a significant cost. Moreover, our manufacturers generally require that 
the store meet defined image standards. These commitments could require us to make significant capital expenditures.  
 
Manufacturer stock ownership restrictions may impair our ability to maintain or renew franchise agreements or issue additional equity.  
 
Certain of our Franchise Agreements prohibit transfers of ownership interests of a store or, in selected cases, its parent. The most prohibitive restriction 
which could be imposed by various manufacturers, including Honda/Acura, Hyundai, Mazda and Nissan, provides that, under certain circumstances, we 
may lose a franchise if a person or entity acquires an ownership interest in us above a specified level (ranging from 20% to 50% depending on the 
particular manufacturer’s restrictions and falling as low as 5% if another vehicle manufacturer is the entity acquiring the ownership interest) without the 
approval of the applicable manufacturer. Other restrictions in certain Franchise Agreements with manufacturers, including Ford, GM, Honda/Acura and 
Toyota, provide that a change in control in the Company without prior consent is a violation of our franchise or dealer framework agreement. Transactions 
in our stock by our stockholders or prospective stockholders are generally outside of our control and may result in the termination or non-renewal of one 
or more of our franchises or impair our ability to negotiate new franchise agreements for dealerships we desire to acquire in the future, which may have a 
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. These restrictions may also prevent or deter a 
prospective acquirer from acquiring control of us or otherwise adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock or limit our ability to 
restructure our debt obligations.  
 
If state dealer laws are repealed or weakened, our dealerships will be more susceptible to termination, non-renewal or renegotiation of their franchise 
agreements. Additionally, federal bankruptcy law can override protections afforded under state dealer laws.  
 
State dealer laws generally provide that a manufacturer may not terminate or refuse to renew a franchise agreement unless it has first provided the dealer 
with written notice setting forth good cause and stating the grounds for termination or non-renewal. Certain state dealer laws allow dealers to file protests 
or petitions or attempt to comply with the manufacturer’s criteria within the notice period to avoid the termination or non-renewal. If dealer laws are 
repealed in the states in which we operate, manufacturers may be able to terminate our franchises without providing advance notice, an opportunity to 
cure or a showing of good cause. Without the protection of state dealer laws, it may also be more difficult for our dealers to renew their franchise 
agreements upon expiration.  
 
In addition, these laws restrict the ability of automobile manufacturers to directly enter the retail market in the future. If manufacturers obtain the ability to 
directly retail vehicles and do so in our markets, such competition could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial 
condition and cash flows.  
 
As evidenced by the bankruptcy proceedings of both Chrysler and GM in 2009, state dealer laws do not afford continued protection from manufacturer 
terminations or non-renewal of franchise agreements. No assurances can be given that a manufacturer will not seek protection under bankruptcy laws, or 
that, in this event, they will not seek to terminate franchise rights held by us.  
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Import product restrictions and foreign trade risks may impair our ability to sell foreign vehicles profitably.  
 
A significant portion of the vehicles we sell, as well as certain major components of such vehicles, are manufactured outside the United States. 
Accordingly, we are affected by import and export restrictions of various jurisdictions and are dependent, to a certain extent, on general socio-economic 
conditions in, and political relations with, a number of foreign countries. Additionally, fluctuations in currency exchange rates may increase the price and 
adversely affect our sales of vehicles produced by foreign manufacturers. Imports into the United States may also be adversely affected by increased 
transportation costs and tariffs, quotas or duties, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial 
condition and cash flows.  
 
Environmental, health or safety regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash 
flows or cause us to incur significant expenditures.  
 
We are subject to various federal, state and local environmental, health and safety regulations which govern items such as the generation, storage, 
handling, use, treatment, recycling, transportation, disposal and remediation of hazardous material and the emission and discharge of hazardous material 
into the environment. Under certain environmental regulations or pursuant to signed private contracts, we could be held responsible for all of the costs 
relating to any contamination at our present, or our previously owned, facilities, and at third party waste disposal sites. We are aware of minor 
contamination at certain of our facilities, and we are in the process of conducting investigations and/or remediation at certain properties. The current level 
of contamination is such that we do not expect to incur significant costs for the remediation. In certain cases, the current or prior property owner is 
conducting the investigation and/or remediation or we have been indemnified by either the current or prior property owner for such contamination. There 
can be no assurance that these owners will remediate, or continue to remediate, these properties or pay, or continue to pay, pursuant to these indemnities. 
We are also required to obtain permits from governmental authorities for certain operations. If we violate or fail to fully comply with these regulations or 
permits, we could be fined or otherwise sanctioned by regulators.  
 
Environmental, health and safety regulations are becoming increasingly stringent. There can be no assurance that the cost of compliance with these 
regulations will not result in a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition. Further, no assurances can be given that 
additional environmental, health or safety matters will not arise or new conditions or facts will not develop in the future at our currently or formerly 
owned or operated facilities, or at sites that we may acquire in the future, which will require us to incur significant expenditures.  
   
With the breadth of our operations and volume of consumer and financing transactions, compliance with the many applicable federal and state laws 
and regulations cannot be assured. New regulations are enacted on an ongoing basis. These regulations may impact our profitability and require 
continuous training and vigilance. Fines, judgments and administrative sanctions can be severe.  
 
We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations in each of the 11 states in which we have stores. New laws and regulations are enacted on 
an ongoing basis. With the number of stores we operate, the number of personnel we employ and the large volume of transactions we handle, it is likely 
that technical mistakes will be made. It is also likely that these regulations may impact our profitability and require ongoing training. Current practices in 
stores may become prohibited. We are responsible for ensuring that continued compliance with laws is maintained. If there are unauthorized activities of 
serious magnitude, the state and federal authorities have the power to impose civil penalties and sanctions, suspend or withdraw dealer licenses or take 
other actions. These actions could materially impair our activities or our ability to acquire new stores in those states where violations occurred. Further, 
private causes of action on behalf of individuals or a class of individuals could result in significant damages or injunctive relief.  
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Compliance with the variety of federal, state and local advertising related regulations cannot be assured. These regulations, which impact various 
forms of advertising including print, media, text and Internet, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial 
condition and cash flows.  
 
Advertising in our business is subject to numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations. These laws and regulations address unfair, deceptive 
and/or fraudulent trade practices. Claims arising out of actual or alleged violations of law may be asserted against us or any of our dealers by individuals, 
either individually or through class actions, or by governmental entities in civil or criminal investigations and proceedings. Such actions may expose us to 
substantial monetary damages and legal defense costs, injunctive relief and criminal and civil fines and penalties.  
 
Governmental regulations related to fuel economy standards and greenhouse gases may have an adverse impact on the ability of vehicle 
manufacturers to cost-effectively produce vehicles or design vehicles desired by customers. These regulations may also impact our ability to sell these 
vehicles at affordable prices.  
 
Federal regulations around fuel economy standards and “greenhouse gas” emissions have continued to increase. New requirements may adversely affect 
any manufacturer’s ability to profitably design, market, produce and distribute vehicles that comply with such regulations. We could be adversely 
impacted in our ability to market and sell these vehicles at affordable prices and in our ability to finance these inventories. These regulations could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  
 
Failure of our information technology systems to perform adequately or data protection breaches and cyber attacks could disrupt our operations or 
result in the loss or misuse of customers’ proprietary information. These disruptions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
results and reputation.  
 
Our information technology systems are important to operating our business efficiently. We employ systems and websites that allow for the secure storage 
and transmission of customers’ proprietary information. The failure of our information technology systems to perform as we anticipate could disrupt our 
business and could expose us to a risk of loss or misuse of this information, litigation and potential liability.  
 
Our information technology systems may be vulnerable to data protection breaches and cyber attacks beyond our control and we may not have the 
resources or technical sophistication to anticipate or prevent rapidly evolving types of cyber attacks. We invest in security technology to protect our data 
and business processes against these risks. We also purchase insurance to mitigate the potential financial impact of these risks. Despite these precautions, 
we cannot assure that a breach will not occur and any breach or successful attack could have a negative impact on our operations or business reputation.  
 
Our ability to increase revenues through acquisitions depends on our ability to acquire and successfully integrate additional stores.  
 
General  
The U.S. automobile industry is considered a mature industry in which minimal growth is expected in unit sales of new vehicles. Accordingly, a principal 
component of our growth in sales is to make acquisitions in our existing markets and in new geographic markets. To complete the acquisition of 
additional stores, we need to successfully address each of the following challenges.  
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Limitations on our capital resources  
The acquisition of additional stores will require substantial capital investment. Limitations on our capital resources would restrict our ability to complete 
new acquisitions.  
 
We have financed our past acquisitions from a combination of the cash flow from our operations, borrowings under our credit arrangements, issuances of 
our common stock and proceeds from private debt offerings. The use of any of these financing sources could have the effect of reducing our earnings per 
share. We may not be able to obtain financing in the future due to the market price of our Class A common stock and overall market conditions. 
Furthermore, using cash to complete acquisitions could substantially limit our operating or financial flexibility.  
   
Substantially all of the assets of our dealerships are pledged to secure the indebtedness under our credit facility and our other floor plan financing 
indebtedness. These pledges may limit our ability to borrow from other sources in order to fund our acquisitions.  
 
Manufacturers  
We are required to obtain consent from the applicable manufacturer prior to the acquisition of a franchised store. In determining whether to approve an 
acquisition, a manufacturer considers many factors, including our financial condition, ownership structure, the number of stores currently owned and our 
performance with those stores. Obtaining manufacturer approval of acquisitions also takes a significant amount of time, typically 60 to 90 days. We 
cannot assure you that manufacturers will approve future acquisitions timely, if at all, which could significantly impair the execution of our acquisition 
strategy.  
 
Most major manufacturers have now established limitations or guidelines on the:  

 
In addition, such manufacturers generally require that no other manufacturers’ brands be sold from the same store location, and many manufacturers have 
site control agreements in place that limit our ability to change the use of the facility without their approval.  
 
A manufacturer also considers our past performance as measured by the Minimum Sales Responsibility (“MSR”) scores, CSI scores and Sales 
Satisfaction Index (“SSI”) scores at our existing stores. At any point in time, certain stores may have scores below the manufacturers’ sales zone averages 
or have achieved sales below the targets manufacturers have set. Our failure to maintain satisfactory scores and to achieve market share performance goals 
could restrict our ability to complete future store acquisitions.  
 
Acquisition risks  
We will face risks commonly encountered with growth through acquisitions. These risks include, without limitation:  

   

  

  ●  number of such manufacturers’  stores that may be acquired by a single owner;  
  ●  number of stores that may be acquired in any market or region;  
  ●  percentage of market share that may be controlled by one automotive retailer group;  
  ●  ownership of stores in contiguous markets;  
  ●  performance requirements for existing stores; and  
  ●  frequency of acquisitions.  

  ●  failing to assimilate the operations and personnel of acquired dealerships;  
  ●  failing to achieve predicted sales levels;  
  ●  incurring significantly higher capital expenditures and operating expenses;  
  ●  entering new markets with which we are unfamiliar;  
  ●  encountering undiscovered liabilities and operational difficulties at acquired dealerships;  
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In addition, we may not adequately anticipate all of the demands that growth will impose on our systems, procedures and structures.  
 
Consummation and competition  
We may not be able to consummate any future acquisitions at acceptable prices and terms or identify suitable candidates. In addition, increased 
competition in the future for acquisition candidates could result in fewer acquisition opportunities for us and higher acquisition prices. The magnitude, 
timing, pricing and nature of future acquisitions will depend upon various factors, including:  

 
Financial condition  
The operating and financial condition of acquired businesses cannot be determined accurately until we assume control. Although we conduct what we 
believe to be a prudent level of investigation regarding the operating and financial condition of the businesses we purchase, in light of the circumstances 
of each transaction, an unavoidable level of risk remains regarding the actual operating condition of these businesses. Similarly, many of the dealerships 
we acquire do not have financial statements audited or prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. We may not have an 
accurate understanding of the historical financial condition and performance of our acquired businesses. Until we actually assume control of the business 
assets and their operations, we may not be able to ascertain the actual value or understand the potential liabilities of the acquired businesses and their 
earnings potential.  
 
Indefinite-lived intangible assets, which consist of goodwill and franchise value, comprise a meaningful portion of our total assets ($94.5 million 
at December 31, 2012). We must assess our indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment at least annually, which may result in a non-cash write-
down of franchise rights or goodwill and could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash 
flows and impair our ability to comply with loan covenants.  
 
Indefinite-lived intangible assets are subject to impairment assessments at least annually (or more frequently when events or circumstances indicate that 
an impairment may have occurred) by applying a fair-value based test. Our principal intangible assets are goodwill and our rights under our Franchise 
Agreements with vehicle manufacturers. The risk of impairment charges associated with goodwill increases if there are declines in our market 
capitalization, profitability or cash flows. The risk of impairment charges associated with franchise value increases if operating losses are suffered at those 
stores, if a manufacturer files for bankruptcy or if the stores are closed. Impairment charges result in non-cash write-downs of the affected franchise 
values or goodwill. Furthermore, impairment charges could have an adverse impact on our ability to satisfy the financial ratios or other covenants under 
our debt agreements and could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  
   

  

  ●  disrupting our ongoing business;  
  ●  diverting our management resources;  
  ●  failing to maintain uniform standards, controls and policies;  
  ●  impairing relationships with employees, manufacturers and customers as a result of changes in management;  
  ●  incurring increased expenses for accounting and computer systems, as well as integration difficulties;  
  ●  failing to obtain a manufacturer’s consent to the acquisition of one or more of its dealership franchises or renew the franchise agreement on terms 

acceptable to us; and  
  ●  incorrectly valuing entities to be acquired.  

  ●  the availability of suitable acquisition candidates;  
  ●  competition with other dealer groups for suitable acquisitions;  
  ●  the negotiation of acceptable terms with the seller and with the manufacturer;  
  ●  our financial capabilities and ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms;  
  ●  our stock price;  
  ●  our ability to maintain required financial covenant levels after the acquisition; and  
  ●  the availability of skilled employees to manage the acquired businesses.  
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A net deferred tax asset position comprises a meaningful portion of our total assets (approximately $21.0 million at December 31, 2012). We are 
required to assess the recoverability of this asset on an ongoing basis. Future negative operating performance or other unfavorable developments may 
result in a valuation allowance being recorded against part or all of this amount. This could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of 
operations, financial condition and cash flows and impair our ability to comply with loan covenants.  
 
Deferred tax assets are evaluated periodically to determine if they are expected to be recoverable in the future. This evaluation considers positive and 
negative evidence in order to assess whether it is more likely than not that a portion of the asset will not be realized. The risk of a valuation allowance 
increases if continuing operating losses are incurred. A valuation allowance on our deferred tax asset could have an adverse impact on our ability to 
satisfy financial ratios or other covenants under our debt agreements and could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, 
financial condition and cash flows.  
 
Our indebtedness and lease obligations could materially adversely affect our financial health, limit our ability to finance future acquisitions and 
capital expenditures and prevent us from fulfilling our financial obligations. Much of our debt has a variable interest rate component that may 
significantly increase our interest costs in a rising rate environment.  
 
Our indebtedness and lease obligations could have important consequences to us, including the following:  

 
In addition, our loan agreements contain covenants that limit our discretion with respect to business matters, including incurring additional debt, 
acquisition activity or disposing of assets. Other covenants are financial in nature, including current ratio, fixed charge coverage and leverage ratio. A 
breach of any of these covenants could result in a default under the applicable agreement. In addition, a default under one agreement could result in a 
default and acceleration of our repayment obligations under the other agreements under the cross-default provisions in such other agreements.  
 
Certain debt agreements contain subjective acceleration clauses based on a lender deeming itself insecure or if a “material adverse change” in our business 
has occurred. If these clauses are implicated, and the lender declares that an event of default has occurred, the outstanding indebtedness would likely be 
immediately due and owing.  
 
If these events were to occur, we may not be able to pay our debts or borrow sufficient funds to refinance them. Even if new financing were available, it 
may not be on terms acceptable to us. As a result of this risk, we could be forced to take actions that we otherwise would not take, or not take actions that 
we otherwise might take, in order to comply with these agreements.  
   

  

  ●  limitations on our ability to make acquisitions;  
  ●  impaired ability to obtain additional financing for acquisitions, capital expenditures, working capital or general corporate purposes;  
  ●  reduced funds available for our operations and other purposes, as a portion of our current cash flow from operations would be dedicated to the 

payment of principal and interest on our indebtedness; and  
  ●  exposure to the risk of increasing interest rates as certain borrowings are, and will continue to be, at variable rates of interest.  
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Additionally, our real estate debt generally has a five-year term, after which the debt needs to be renewed or replaced.  A decline in the appraised value of 
real estate or a reduction in the loan-to-value lending ratios for new or renewed real estate loans could result in our inability to renew maturing real estate 
loans at the debt level existing at maturity, or on terms acceptable to us, requiring us to find replacement lenders or to refinance at lower loan amounts.  
 
As of December 31, 2012, including the effect of interest rate swaps, approximately 74% of our total debt was variable rate. The majority of our variable 
rate debt is indexed to the one-month LIBOR rate. The current interest rate environment is at historically low levels, and interest rates will likely increase 
in the future. In the event interest rates increase, our borrowing costs may increase substantially. Additionally, fixed rate debt that matures may be 
renewed at interest rates significantly higher than current levels. As a result, this could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of 
operations, financial condition and cash flows.  
 
We have a significant relationship with a third-party warranty insurer and administrator. This third-party is the obligor of service warranty policies 
sold to our customers. Additionally, we have agreements in place that allow for future income based on the claims experience on policies sold to our 
customers. If the insurer should be unable to honor our customers’ policies or has a decline in their financial health, such events could negatively 
impact our business and reputation, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  
 
We sell service warranty policies to our customers issued by a third-party obligor. We receive additional fee income if actual claims are less than 
the amounts reserved for anticipated claims and the costs of administration and administrator profit.    
 
A decline in the financial health of the third-party insurer could jeopardize the claims reserves held by the administrator, and prevent us from collecting 
the experience payments anticipated to be earned in future years. While the amount we receive varies annually, the loss of this income could negatively 
impact our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. Further, the inability of the insurer to honor service warranty claims would 
likely result in reputational risk to us and might result in claims to cover any default by the insurer.  
 
The loss of key personnel or the failure to attract additional qualified management personnel could adversely affect our operations and growth.  
 
Our success depends to a significant degree on the efforts and abilities of our senior management, particularly Bryan B. DeBoer, our Director, President 
and Chief Executive Officer, and Christopher S. Holzshu, our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Further, we have identified Sidney B. 
DeBoer, our Executive Chairman of the Board, and/or Bryan B. DeBoer in most of our store franchise agreements as the individuals who control the 
franchises and upon whose financial resources and management expertise the manufacturers may rely when awarding or approving the transfer of any 
franchise. If we lose these key personnel, our business may suffer.  
 
In addition, as we expand, we may need to hire additional managers. The market for qualified employees in the industry and in the regions in which we 
operate, particularly for general managers and sales and service personnel, is highly competitive and may subject us to increased labor costs during 
periods of low unemployment. The loss of the services of key employees or the inability to attract additional qualified managers could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. In addition, the lack of qualified management or employees 
employed by potential acquisition candidates may limit our ability to consummate future acquisitions.  
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The sole voting control of our company is currently held by Sidney B. DeBoer, who may have interests different from our other shareholders. Further, 
2.8 million shares of our Class B common stock held by Lithia Holding Company, LLC (“Lithia Holding”) are pledged, with other assets, to secure 
personal indebtedness of Mr. DeBoer. The failure to repay the indebtedness could result in the sale of such shares and the loss of such control, which 
may violate agreements with certain manufacturers.  
 
Sidney B. DeBoer, our Founder and Executive Chairman, is the sole managing member of Lithia Holdings, which holds all of the outstanding shares of 
our Class B common stock. A holder of Class B common stock is entitled to ten votes for each share held, while a holder of Class A common stock is 
entitled to one vote per share held. On most matters, the Class A and Class B common stock vote together as a single class. As of February 22, 2013, 
Lithia Holding controlled, and Mr. DeBoer had the authority to vote, approximately 55% of the aggregate number of votes eligible to be cast by 
shareholders for the election of directors and most other shareholder actions. In addition, Mr. DeBoer may prevent a change in control of our Company 
and make certain transactions more difficult or impossible. The interest of Mr. DeBoer may not always coincide with our interests as a Company or the 
interest of other shareholders. Accordingly, Mr. DeBoer could cause us to enter into transactions or agreement that other shareholders would not approve 
of or make decisions with which other shareholders may disagree.  
 
Lithia Holding has pledged 2.8 million shares of our Class B common stock, together with other personal assets of Mr. DeBoer, to secure a personal loan 
to Mr. DeBoer from U.S. Bank National Association. If he is unable to repay the loan, the bank could foreclose on the Class B common stock, which 
would result in the automatic conversion of such shares to Class A common stock and a change in control of our Company. If this change is not consented 
to by the manufacturers, we would have a technical violation under most of the dealer sales and service agreements held by us. In addition, the market 
price of our Class A common stock could decline materially if the bank foreclosed on such pledged stock and subsequently sold such stock in the open 
market.  
   
Risks related to investing in our Class A common stock  
 
Future sales of our Class A common stock in the public market could adversely impact the market price of our Class A common stock.  
 
As of February 22, 2013, we had 2,183,114 shares of Class A common stock reserved for issuance under our equity plans (including our employee stock 
purchase plan). As of February 22, 2013, a total of 583,463 shares related to outstanding restricted stock, restricted stock units and options (with the 
options having a weighted average exercise price of $6.27 per share and options to purchase 250,499 shares being exercisable). In addition, we had 
2,762,261 shares of Class B common stock outstanding convertible into 2,762,261 shares of Class A common stock.  
 
In the future, we may issue additional shares of our Class A common stock to raise capital or effect acquisitions. We cannot predict the size of future sales 
or issuance or the effect, if any, they may have on the market price of our Class A common stock. The sale of substantial amounts of Class A common 
stock, or the perception that such sales may occur, could adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock and impair our ability to raise 
capital through the sale of additional equity securities, or to sell equity at a price acceptable to us.  
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Volatility in the market price and trading volume of our Class A common stock could adversely impact the value of the shares of our Class A common 
stock.  
 
The stock market in recent years has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the 
operating performance of companies like ours. These broad market factors may materially reduce the market price of our Class A common stock, 
regardless of our operating performance. The market price of our Class A common stock, which has experienced large price and volume fluctuations over 
the last five years, could continue to fluctuate significantly for many reasons, including in response to the risks described herein or for reasons unrelated to 
our operations, such as:  

 
Oregon law and our Restated Articles of Incorporation may impede or discourage a takeover, which could impair the market price of our Class A 
common stock.  
 
We are an Oregon corporation, and certain provisions of Oregon law and our Restated Articles of Incorporation may have anti-takeover effects. These 
provisions could delay, defer or prevent a tender offer or takeover attempt that a shareholder might consider to be in his or her best interest. These 
provisions may also affect attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares held by shareholders, and may make removal of the 
incumbent management and directors more difficult, which, under certain circumstances, could reduce the market price of our Class A common stock.  
 
Our issuance of preferred stock could adversely affect holders of Class A common stock.  
 
Our Board of Directors is authorized to issue a series of preferred stock without any action on the part of our holders of Class A common stock. Our 
Board of Directors also has the power, without shareholder approval, to set the terms of any such series of preferred stock that may be issued, including 
voting powers, preferences over our Class A common stock with respect to dividends or if we voluntarily or involuntarily dissolve or distribute our assets, 
and other terms. If we issue preferred stock in the future that has preference over our Class A common stock with respect to the payment of dividends or 
upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or if we issue preferred stock with voting rights that dilute the voting power of our Class A common 
stock, the rights of holders of our Class A common stock or the price of our Class A common stock could be adversely affected.  
   
Our business is seasonal, and events occurring during seasons in which revenues are typically higher may disproportionately affect our results of 
operations and financial condition.  
 
Historically, our sales have been lower during the first and fourth quarters of each year due to consumer purchasing patterns during the holiday season, 
inclement weather in certain of our markets and the reduced number of business days during the holiday season. If conditions occur during the second or 
third quarters that weaken automotive sales, such as severe weather in the geographic areas in which our dealerships operate, war, high fuel costs, 
depressed economic conditions including unemployment or weakened consumer confidence or similar adverse conditions, our revenues for the year may 
be disproportionately adversely affected.  
 
Item 1B .   Unresolved Staff Comments  
 
None.  
   

  

  ●  reports by industry analysts;  
  ●  changes in financial estimates by securities analysts or us, or our inability to meet or exceed securities analysts’,  investors’ or our own estimates 

or expectations;  
  ●  actual or anticipated sales of common stock by existing shareholders;  
  ●  capital commitments;  
  ●  additions or departures of key personnel;  
  ●  developments in our business or in our industry;  
  ●  a prolonged downturn in our industry;  
  ●  general market conditions, such as interest or foreign exchange rates, commodity and equity prices, availability of credit, asset valuations and 

volatility;  
  ●  changes in global financial and economic markets;  
  ●  armed conflict, war or terrorism;  
  ●  regulatory changes affecting our industry generally or our business and operations in particular;  
  ●  changes in market valuations of other companies in our industry;  
  ●  the operating and securities price performance of companies that investors consider to be comparable to us; and  
  ●  announcements of strategic developments, acquisitions and other material events by us, our competitors or our suppliers.  
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Item 2 .   Properties  
 
Our stores and other facilities consist primarily of automobile showrooms, display lots, service facilities, collision repair and paint shops, supply facilities, 
automobile storage lots, parking lots and offices located in the states listed under the caption Overview in Item 1. We believe our facilities are currently 
adequate for our needs and are in good repair. Some of our facilities do not currently meet manufacturer image or size requirements and we are actively 
working to find a mutually acceptable outcome in terms of timing and overall cost. We own certain properties, but also lease certain properties, providing 
future flexibility to relocate our retail stores as demographics, economics, traffic patterns or sales methods change. Most leases provide us the option to 
renew the lease for one or more lease extension periods. We also hold certain vacant dealerships and undeveloped land for future expansion.  
 
Item 3.    Legal Proceedings  
 
We are party to numerous legal proceedings arising in the normal course of our business. While we cannot predict with certainty the outcomes of these 
matters, we do not anticipate that the resolution of legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business or the proceedings described below will have 
a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, or cash flows.  
 
Alaska Consumer Protection Act Claims  
In December 2006, a suit was filed against us (Jackie Neese, et al vs. Lithia Chrysler Jeep of Anchorage, Inc, et al, Case No. 3AN-06-13341 CI, and in 
April, 2007, a second case (Jackie Neese, et al vs. Lithia Chrysler Jeep of Anchorage, Inc, et al, Case No. 3AN-06-4815 CI) (now consolidated)), in the 
Superior Court for the State of Alaska, Third Judicial District at Anchorage. In the suits, plaintiffs alleged that we, through our Alaska dealerships, 
engaged in three practices that purportedly violate Alaska consumer protection laws: (i) charging customers dealer fees and costs (including document 
preparation fees) not disclosed in the advertised price, (ii) failing to disclose the acquisition, mechanical and accident history of used vehicles or whether 
the vehicles were originally manufactured for sale in a foreign country, and (iii) engaging in deception, misrepresentation and fraud by providing to 
customers financing from third parties without disclosing that we receive a fee or discount for placing that loan (a “dealer reserve”). The suit seeks 
statutory damages of $500 for each violation (or three times plaintiff’s actual damages, whichever is greater), and attorney fees and costs and the plaintiffs 
sought class action certification.  Before and during the pendency of these suits, we engaged in settlement discussions with the State of Alaska through its 
Office of Attorney General with respect to the first two practices enumerated above. As a result of those discussions, we entered into a Consent Judgment 
subject to court approval and permitted potential class members to “opt-out” of the proposed settlement. Counsel for the plaintiffs attempted to intervene 
and, after various motions, hearings and an appeal to the state Court of Appeals, the Consent Judgment became final.  
   
Plaintiffs then filed a motion in November 2010 seeking certification of a class (i) for the 339 customers who “opted-out” of the state settlement, (ii) for 
those customers who did not qualify for recovery under the Consent Judgment but were allegedly eligible for recovery under the plaintiffs’ broader 
interpretation of the applicable statutes, and (iii) arguing that since the State’s suit against our dealerships did not address the loan fee/discount (dealer 
reserve) claim, for those customers who arranged their vehicle financing through us. On June 14, 2011, the Trial Court granted plaintiffs’ motion to certify 
a class without addressing either the merits of the claims or the size of the classes. Discovery in this case is ongoing. We intend to defend the claims 
vigorously and do not believe the novel “dealer reserve” claim has merit.  
 
The ultimate resolution of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, and an unfavorable resolution of any of the matters could have a material 
adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.  
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Item 4.    Mine Safety Disclosure  
 
Not applicable.  
 

PART II  
   

Item 5.    Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities  
 
Stock Prices and Dividends  
Our Class A common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol LAD.   The following table presents the high and low sale prices 
for our Class A common stock, as reported on the New York Stock Exchange Composite Tape for each of the quarters in 2011 and 2012:  
 

   
The number of shareholders of record and approximate number of beneficial holders of Class A common stock as of February 22, 2013 was 861 and 
14,072, respectively. All shares of Lithia’s Class B common stock are held by Lithia Holding Company, LLC.  
 
Dividends declared on our Class A and Class B common stock during 2010, 2011 and 2012 were as follows:  
 

 

   

  

2011    High      Low    
First quarter    $ 16.07     $ 13.28   
Second quarter      20.31       14.12   
Third quarter      23.84       13.80   
Fourth quarter      24.85       13.57   
                  
2012                  
First quarter    $ 27.51     $ 20.62   
Second quarter      27.99       21.45   
Third quarter     34.00       22.08   
Fourth quarter     37.80       31.60   

Quarter declared:    

Dividend  
amount per  

share      

Total amount of  
dividend (in  
thousands)    

2010              
First quarter    $ -    $ -  
Second quarter      0.05       1,300   
Third quarter      0.05       1,307   
Fourth quarter      0.05       1,312   
2011                  
First quarter    $ 0.05     $ 1,316   
Second quarter      0.07       1,851   
Third quarter      0.07       1,838   
Fourth quarter      0.07       1,817   
2012                  
First quarter    $ 0.07     $ 1,815   
Second quarter      0.10       2,583   
Third quarter      0.10       2,545   
Fourth quarter (1)      0.20       5,123   

(1)   In November 2012, we paid dividends of $2.5 million that had been declared in October 2012. An additional dividend payment of $2.6 million was 
declared and paid in December 2012 in lieu of the dividend typically declared and paid in March of the following year.  
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Repurchases of Class A Common Stock  
We repurchased the following shares of our Class A common stock during the fourth quarter of 2012:  
 

   

   
Equity Compensation Plan Information  
Information regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans is included in Item 12.  
 
Stock Performance Graph  
The following line-graph shows the annual percentage change in the cumulative total returns for the past five years on an assumed $100 initial investment 
and reinvestment of dividends, on (a) Lithia Motors, Inc.’s Class A common stock; (b) the Russell 2000; and (c) an auto peer group index composed of 
Penske Automotive Group, AutoNation, Sonic Automotive, Group 1 Automotive and Asbury Automotive Group, the only other comparable publicly 
traded automobile dealerships in the United States as of December 31, 2012. The peer group index utilizes the same methods of presentation and 
assumptions for the total return calculation as does Lithia Motors and the Russell 2000. All companies in the peer group index are weighted in accordance 
with their market capitalizations.  
   

  

    

Total number 
of shares 

purchased      
Average price 
paid per share     

Total number 
of shares 

purchased as 
part of 
publicly 

announced 
plans or 

programs (1)      

Maximum 
number of 
shares that 
may yet be 
purchased 
under the 
plans or 

programs (1)    
October 1 to October 31      -    $ -      -      1,879,853   
November 1 to November 30      70,819       34.28       25,000       1,854,853   
December 1 to December 31      6,695       36.64       -      1,854,853   

Total      77,514 (2)     34.48       25,000       1,854,853   

(1)   In August 2011, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 2,000,000 shares of our Class A common stock. On July 20, 2012, our 
Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of 1,000,000 additional shares of our Class A common stock. Through December 31, 2012, we had 
purchased 1,145,147 shares under these programs at an average price of $22.33 per share. These plans do not have an expiration date and we may 
continue to repurchase shares from time to time as conditions warrant.  

(2)  Includes 52,514 shares repurchased in association with tax withholdings on the exercise of stock options.  
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Base  

Period      Indexed Returns for the Year Ended    
Company/Index    12/31/2007      12/31/2008      12/31/2009      12/31/2010      12/31/2011      12/31/2012    
Lithia Motors, Inc.    $ 100.00     $ 25.37     $ 63.97     $ 113.07     $ 175.43     $ 305.85   
Auto Peer Group      100.00       48.43       100.20       139.53       172.62       214.74   
Russell 2000      100.00       66.20       84.20       106.81       102.33       119.05   
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Item 6.    Selected Financial Data  
 
You should read the Selected Financial Data in conjunction with Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations,” our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto and other financial information contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 
10-K. The results of operations for stores classified as discontinued operations have been presented on a comparable basis for all periods presented.  
 

 
 

 

   

  

(In thousands, except per share amounts)    Year Ended December 31,    
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:    2012      2011      2010      2009      2008    
Revenues:                                

New vehicle    $ 1,847,603     $ 1,391,375     $ 1,020,883     $ 844,294     $ 1,113,477   
Used vehicle retail      833,484       678,571       558,105       455,633       443,825   
Used vehicle wholesale      139,237       128,329       103,817       69,845       91,263   
Finance and insurance      112,234       84,130       64,217       53,898       74,173   
Service, body and parts      347,703       315,958       277,945       271,726       283,751   
Fleet and other      36,226       34,383       11,655       2,457       4,829   

Total revenues    $ 3,316,487     $ 2,632,746     $ 2,036,622     $ 1,697,853     $ 2,011,318   
                                          
Gross Profit:                                          

New vehicle    $ 134,447     $ 107,150     $ 83,646     $ 70,971     $ 87,646   
Used vehicle retail      121,721       98,214       78,795       64,167       51,138   
Used vehicle wholesale      1,414       597       703       507       (2,961 ) 
Finance and insurance      112,234       84,130       64,217       53,898       74,173   
Service, body and parts      168,070       152,220       133,942       129,242       135,487   
Fleet and other      1,414       2,973       1,643       1,232       1,534   

Total gross profit    $ 539,300     $ 445,284     $ 362,946     $ 320,017     $ 347,017   
                                          
Operating income (loss) (1)    $ 148,369     $ 110,818     $ 46,470     $ 34,517     $ (291,415 ) 
                                          
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income 

taxes (1)    $ 128,457     $ 88,270     $ 22,212     $ 11,578     $ (322,182 ) 
                                          
Income (loss) from continuing operations (1)    $ 79,395     $ 55,210     $ 13,587     $ 6,606     $ (218,420 ) 
                                          
Basic income (loss) per share from continuing operations    $ 3.09     $ 2.10     $ 0.52     $ 0.30     $ (10.82 ) 
Basic income (loss) per share from discontinued operations      0.04       0.14       0.01       0.12       (1.69 ) 
Basic net income (loss) per share    $ 3.13     $ 2.24     $ 0.53     $ 0.42     $ (12.51 ) 

Shares used in basic per share      25,696       26,230       26,062       22,037       20,195   
                                          
Diluted income (loss) per share from continuing operations    $ 3.03     $ 2.07     $ 0.52     $ 0.30     $ (10.82 ) 
Diluted income (loss) per share from discontinued operations     0.04       0.14       0.00       0.11       (1.69 ) 
Diluted net income (loss) per share    $ 3.07     $ 2.21     $ 0.52     $ 0.41     $ (12.51 ) 

Shares used in diluted per share      26,170       26,664       26,729       22,176       20,195   
                                          
Cash dividends declared per common share    $ 0.47     $ 0.26     $ 0.15     $ -    $ 0.47   

(In thousands)    As of December 31,    
Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:    2012      2011      2010      2009      2008    
Working capital    $ 211,905     $ 191,607     $ 162,675     $ 96,886     $ 99,524   
Inventories      723,326       506,484       415,228       333,628       428,032   
Total assets      1,492,702       1,146,133       971,676       895,100       1,133,459   
Floor plan notes payable      581,584       343,940       251,257       216,082       343,290   
Long-term debt, including current maturities      295,058       286,874       280,774       265,773       338,229   
Total stockholders’ equity      428,101       367,121       320,217       307,038       248,343   

(1)   Includes $0.1 million, $1.4 million, $15.3 million, $7.9 million and $330.3 million of non-cash charges related to asset impairments and terminated 
construction projects for the years ended 2012, 2011, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. See Notes 1 and 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements for additional information.  
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  
 
You should read the following discussion in conjunction with Item 1. “Business,” Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and our Consolidated Financial Statements and 
Notes thereto.  
 
Overview  
As discussed in Overview in Item 1, “Business” above, we are a leading operator of automotive franchises and retailer of new and used vehicles and 
services. As of February 22, 2013, we offered 27 brands of new vehicles and all brands of used vehicles in 87 stores in the United States and online at 
Lithia.com . We sell new and used cars and trucks and replacement parts; provide vehicle maintenance, warranty, paint and repair services; and arrange 
related financing, service contracts, protection products and credit insurance.  
 
We continue to believe that the fragmented nature of the automotive dealership sector provides us with the opportunity to achieve growth through 
consolidation. We seek exclusive franchises for acquisition and target mid-sized and regional markets for domestic and import franchises and 
metropolitan markets for luxury franchises. We have completed over 100 acquisitions since our initial public offering in 1996. Our acquisition strategy 
has been to acquire dealerships at prices that meet our internal investment targets and, through the application of our centralized operating structure, 
leverage costs and improve store profitability. We believe the current economic environment provides us with attractive acquisition opportunities.  
 
We also believe that we can continue to improve operations at our existing stores. By promoting entrepreneurial leadership within our general managers 
and department managers, we strive for continual improvement to drive sales and capture market share in our local markets. Our goal is to retail an 
average of 75 used vehicles per store per month and we believe we can make additional improvements in our used vehicle sales performance by offering 
lower-priced value vehicles and selling brands other than the new vehicle franchise at each location. Our service, body and parts operations provide 
important repeat business for our stores. We continue to grow this business through increased marketing efforts, competitive pricing on routine 
maintenance items and diverse commodity product offerings. In 2012, we continued to experience organic growth through increasing market share and 
maintaining a lean cost structure.  
 
We believe our cost structure is aligned with current industry sales levels and positioned to be leveraged if vehicle sales levels continue to improve. We 
target selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expense as a percentage of gross profit in the high 60% range as vehicle sales improve. As we focus 
on maintaining discipline in controlling costs, we continue to target retaining, on a same store pre-tax basis, 50% of each incremental gross profit dollar 
after deducting SG&A expense.  
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires us to make certain estimates, judgments 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses at the date of the financial statements. Certain accounting policies require us to make difficult and subjective judgments on matters 
that are inherently uncertain. The following accounting policies involve critical accounting estimates because they are particularly dependent on 
assumptions made by management. While we have made our best estimates based on facts and circumstances available to us at the time, different 
estimates could have been used in the current period. Changes in the accounting estimates we used are reasonably likely to occur from period to period, 
which may have a material impact on the presentation of our financial condition and results of operations.  
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Our most critical accounting estimates include those related to goodwill and franchise value, long-lived assets, deferred tax assets, service contracts and 
other insurance contracts, and lifetime oil change and self-insurance programs. We also have other key accounting policies for valuation of accounts 
receivable, expense accruals and revenue recognition. However, these policies either do not meet the definition of critical accounting estimates described 
above or are not currently material items in our financial statements. We review our estimates, judgments and assumptions periodically and reflect the 
effects of revisions in the period that they are deemed to be necessary. We believe that these estimates are reasonable. However, actual results could differ 
materially from these estimates.  
 
Goodwill and Franchise Value  
We are required to test our goodwill and franchise value for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if conditions indicate that an impairment 
may have occurred. We have determined that we operate as one reporting unit for evaluating goodwill. We have the option to qualitatively or 
quantitatively assess goodwill for impairment and, in 2012, evaluated our goodwill using a quantitative assessment process. We test goodwill for 
impairment using the Adjusted Present Value method (“APV”) to estimate the fair value of our reporting unit. Under the APV method, future cash flows 
are based on recently prepared budget forecasts and business plans and are used to estimate the future economic benefits that the reporting unit will 
generate. An estimate of the appropriate discount rate is utilized to convert the future economic benefits to their present value equivalent.  
 
The quantitative goodwill impairment test is a two-step process. The first step identifies potential impairments by comparing the calculated fair value of a 
reporting unit with its book value. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying amount, goodwill is not impaired and the second step is not 
necessary. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, the second step includes determining the implied fair value through further market research. The 
implied fair value of goodwill is then compared with the carrying amount to determine if an impairment loss should be recorded.  
 
As of December 31, 2012, we had $32.0 million of goodwill on our balance sheet. The first step of our annual goodwill impairment analysis, which we 
perform as of October 1 of each year, did not result in an indication of impairment in 2012, 2011 or 2010. The fair value of the reporting unit as of 
December 31, 2012, using the APV method, was 109% greater than the carrying value at December 31, 2012.  
 
We have determined the appropriate unit of accounting for testing franchise rights for impairment is on an individual store basis. We have the option to 
early adopt an amendment that allows us to qualitatively assess indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment. In 2012, we evaluated our indefinite-
lived intangible assets using a quantitative assessment process. We estimate the fair value of our franchise rights primarily using the Multi-Period Excess 
Earnings (“MPEE”) model. The forecasted cash flows used in the MPEE model contain inherent uncertainties, including significant estimates and 
assumptions related to growth rates, margins, general operating expenses, and cost of capital. We use primarily internally-developed forecasts and 
business plans to estimate the future cash flows that each franchise will generate. We have determined that only certain cash flows of the store are directly 
attributable to the franchise rights. We estimate the appropriate interest rate to discount future cash flows to their present value equivalent taking into 
consideration factors such as a risk-free rate, a peer group average beta, an equity risk premium and a small stock risk premium.  
 
We also may use a market approach to determine the fair value of our franchise rights. These market data points include our acquisition and divestiture 
experience and third-party broker estimates.  
 
As of December 31, 2012, we had $62.4 million of franchise value on our balance sheet. Our impairment testing of franchise value did not indicate any 
impairment in 2012, 2011 or 2010.  
 
We are subject to financial statement risk to the extent that our goodwill or franchise rights become impaired due to decreases in the fair value. A future 
decline in performance, decreases in projected growth rates or margin assumptions or changes in discount rates could result in a potential impairment, 
which could have a material adverse impact on our financial position and results of operations. Furthermore, in the event that a manufacturer is unable to 
remain solvent, we may be required to record a partial or total impairment on the remaining franchise value related to that manufacturer.  
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See Notes 1 and 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.  
 
Long-Lived Assets  
We estimate the depreciable lives of our property and equipment, including leasehold improvements, and review them for impairment when events or 
circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable.  
 
We determine a triggering event has occurred by reviewing store forecasted and historical financial performance. A store is evaluated for recoverability if 
it has an operating loss in the current year and two of the prior three years. Additionally, we may judgmentally evaluate a store if its financial performance 
indicates it may not support the carrying amount of the long-lived assets. If a store meets these criteria, we estimate the projected undiscounted cash flows 
for each asset group based on internally developed forecasts. If the undiscounted cash flows are lower than the carrying value of the asset group, we 
determine the fair value of the asset group based on additional market data, including recent experience in selling similar assets.  
 
We hold certain property for future development or investment purposes. If a triggering event is deemed to have occurred, we evaluate the property for 
impairment by comparing its estimated fair value based on listing price less costs to sell and other market data, including similar property that is for sale 
or has been recently sold, to the current carrying value. If the carrying value is more than the estimated fair value, an impairment is recorded.  
 
Although we believe our property and equipment and assets held and used are appropriately valued, the assumptions and estimates used may change and 
we may be required to record impairment charges to reduce the value of these assets. A future decline in store performance, decrease in projected growth 
rates or changes in other operating assumptions could result in an impairment of long-lived asset groups, which could have a material adverse impact on 
our financial position and results of operations.  
 
Due to the adverse change in the business climate and the commercial real estate market, we performed impairment testing on long-lived assets, mainly 
related to certain property held for future development or investment purposes in 2012, 2011 and 2010. As a result, we recorded impairments related to 
long-lived assets of $0.1 million, $1.4 million and $15.3 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  
 
See Notes 1 and 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.  
 
Deferred Tax Assets  
As of December 31, 2012, we had deferred tax assets of approximately $61.1 million and deferred tax liabilities of $28.5 million. The principal 
components of our deferred tax assets are related to goodwill, allowances and accruals, capital loss carryforwards, deferred revenue and cancellation 
reserves. The principal components of our deferred tax liabilities are related to depreciation on property and equipment and inventories.  
 
We consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred 
tax assets is dependent upon future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. We consider the 
scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities (including the impact of available carryback and carryforward periods), projected future taxable income, and 
tax-planning strategies in making this assessment.  
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Based upon the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, and our projections of future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets 
are deductible, we believe it is more likely than not that we will realize the benefits of the unreserved deductible differences.  
 
As of December 31, 2012, we had an $11.6 million valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets. This valuation allowance was associated with 
losses from the sale of corporate entities. As these amounts are characterized as capital losses, we evaluated the availability of projected capital gains and 
determined that it would be unlikely these amounts would be fully utilized. If we are unable to meet the projected taxable income levels utilized in our 
analysis, and depending on the availability of feasible tax planning strategies, we might record an additional valuation allowance on a portion or all of our 
deferred tax assets in the future. In the event that a manufacturer is unable to remain solvent, our operations may be impacted and we might record a 
valuation allowance on a portion or all of the deferred tax assets, which could have a material adverse impact on our financial position and results of 
operations.  
 
Service Contracts and Other Insurance Contracts  
We receive commissions from the sale of vehicle service contracts and certain other insurance contracts. The contracts are sold through unrelated third 
parties, but we may be charged back for a portion of the commissions in the event of early termination of the contracts by customers. We sell these 
contracts on a straight commission basis; in addition, we may also participate in future underwriting profit pursuant to retrospective commission 
arrangements, which are recognized as income upon receipt.  
 
We record commissions at the time of sale of the vehicles, net of an estimated liability for future charge-backs. We have established a reserve for 
estimated future charge-backs based on an analysis of historical charge-backs in conjunction with estimated lives of the applicable contracts. If future 
cancellations are different than expected, we could have additional expense related to the cancellations in future periods, which could have a material 
adverse impact on our financial position and results of operations.  
 
At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the reserve for future cancellations totaled $13.5 million and $10.4 million, respectively, and is included in accrued 
liabilities and other long-term liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. A 10% increase in expected cancellations would result in an additional 
reserve of approximately $1.3 million.  
 
Lifetime Oil Change Self-Insurance  
In March 2009, we assumed from a third party the obligation to provide future lifetime oil service for a pool of existing contracts and began to self-insure 
the majority of the lifetime oil contracts we sell.  
 
Payments we receive upon sale of the lifetime oil contracts are deferred and recognized in revenue over the expected life of the service agreement to best 
match the expected timing of the costs to be incurred to perform the service. We estimate the timing and amount of future costs for claims and 
cancellations related to our lifetime oil contracts using historical experience rates and estimated future costs.  
 
If our estimates of future costs to perform under the contracts exceed the existing deferred revenue, we record a charge in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations. We perform our loss contingency analysis separately for the pool of assumed contracts and the pool of self-insured contracts sold starting in 
March 2009. We recorded a charge of $1.0 million in both 2011 and 2010 for expected costs in excess of revenue deferred related to the pool of assumed 
contracts. We did not record an additional charge in 2012. The analysis on our self-insured sold contracts did not indicate a loss reserve was needed in 
2012, 2011 and 2010.  
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We believe the new vehicle purchase cycle has been delayed for many buyers. If the ownership cycle does not accelerate towards pre-recession levels, our 
estimate of the number of oil changes to be performed over a vehicle’s life may increase, which would adversely affect our financial position and results 
of operations. In addition, other changes in assumptions about future costs expected to be incurred to service contracts could result in the recognition of 
additional charges, which could have a material adverse impact on our financial position and results of operations.  
 
A 10% change in expected claims costs per contract for the assumed pool of contracts would result in an additional reserve of approximately $0.7 million. 
A 10% change in expected claims per contract for the self-insured sold contracts would not require any additional reserve. At December 31, 2012, the 
remaining deferred revenue related to the assumed obligation and the self-insured sold contracts was $4.0 million and $33.9 million, respectively.  
 
Self Insurance Programs  
We self-insure a portion of our property and casualty insurance, medical insurance and workers’ compensation insurance. Third-parties are engaged to 
estimate the loss exposure related to the self-retained portion of the risk associated with these insurances. Additionally, we analyze our historical loss and 
claims experience to estimate the loss exposure associated with these programs. Any changes in assumptions or claims experience could result in the 
recognition of additional charges, which could have a material adverse impact on our financial position and results of operations.  
 
At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the total reserve associated with these programs was $12.4 million and $10.4 million, respectively, and is included in 
accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. A 10% increase in claims experience would result in an additional 
reserve of approximately $4.5 million.  
 
Results of Continuing Operations  
For the year ended December 31, 2012, we reported income from continuing operations, net of tax, of $79.4 million, or $3.03 per diluted share. For the 
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, we reported income from continuing operations, net of tax, of $55.2 million, or $2.07 per diluted share, and 
$13.6 million, or $0.52 per diluted share, respectively.  
 
Discontinued Operations  
Results for sold or closed stores, qualifying for reclassification under the applicable accounting guidance, have their results presented as discontinued 
operations in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. As a result, our results from continuing operations are presented on a comparable basis for all 
periods. Within discontinued operations, we realized a gain, net of tax, of $1.0 million, $3.7 million and $0.1 million for the years ended December 31, 
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. See Notes 1 and 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.  
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Key Performance Metrics  
Certain key performance metrics for revenue and gross profit were as follows for 2012, 2011 and 2010 (dollars in thousands):  
 

 

 

 

 
Same Store Operating Data  
We believe that same store sales are a key indicator of our financial performance. Same store metrics demonstrate our ability to grow our revenue and 
profitability in our existing locations. As a result, same store sales have been integrated into the discussion below.  
 
A same store metric represents stores that were operating during 2012, and only includes the months when operations occur in both comparable periods. 
For example, a store acquired in August 2011 would be included in same store operating data beginning in September 2012, after its first full complete 
comparable month of operation. Thus, operating results for same store comparisons would include only the period of September through December of 
both comparable years.     
   

  

2012    Revenues      

Percent of  
Total 

Revenues      Gross Profit      
Gross Profit  

Margin      

Percent of 
Total  

Gross Profit    
New vehicle    $ 1,847,603       55.7 %   $ 134,447       7.3 %     24.9 % 
Used vehicle, retail      833,484       25.1       121,721       14.6       22.6   
Used vehicle, wholesale      139,237       4.2       1,414       1.0       0.3   
Finance and insurance (1)      112,234       3.4       112,234       100.0       20.8   
Service, body and parts      347,703       10.5       168,070       48.3       31.1   
Fleet and other      36,226       1.1       1,414       3.9       0.3   
    $ 3,316,487       100.0 %   $ 539,300       16.3 %     100.0 % 

2011    Revenues      

Percent of  
Total 

Revenues      Gross Profit      
Gross Profit  

Margin      

Percent of 
Total  

Gross Profit    
New vehicle    $ 1,391,375       52.8 %   $ 107,150       7.7 %     24.1 % 
Used vehicle, retail      678,571       25.8       98,214       14.5       22.1   
Used vehicle, wholesale      128,329       4.9       597       0.5       0.1   
Finance and insurance (1)      84,130       3.2       84,130       100.0       18.9   
Service, body and parts      315,958       12.0       152,220       48.2       34.2   
Fleet and other      34,383       1.3       2,973       8.6       0.6   
    $ 2,632,746       100.0 %   $ 445,284       16.9 %     100.0 % 

2010    Revenues      

Percent of  
Total 

Revenues      Gross Profit      
Gross Profit  

Margin      

Percent of 
Total  

Gross Profit    
New vehicle    $ 1,020,883       50.1 %   $ 83,646       8.2 %     23.0 % 
Used vehicle, retail      558,105       27.4       78,795       14.1       21.7   
Used vehicle, wholesale      103,817       5.1       703       0.7       0.2   
Finance and insurance (1)      64,217       3.2       64,217       100.0       17.7   
Service, body and parts      277,945       13.6       133,942       48.2       36.9   
Fleet and other      11,655       0.6       1,643       14.1       0.5   
    $ 2,036,622       100.0 %   $ 362,946       17.8 %     100.0 % 

(1)  Commissions reported net of anticipated cancellations.  
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New Vehicle Revenues  

 

   
   
New vehicle sales in 2012 improved compared to 2011 primarily due to volume growth as year-over-year same store sales volume increased 29.5% and 
25.6%, respectively, in 2012 and 2011.  
 
The number of new vehicles sold in the U.S. in 2012, defined as the seasonally adjusted annual rate, grew approximately 13.4% over 2011. In addition to 
the overall market recovery, we have increased our share of vehicle sales in several of our markets. Growth in our domestic and import brand sales have 
outpaced the growth experienced nationally. Our domestic brand same store sales grew 27.2% in 2012 compared to 2011. Same store sales for import 
brands grew 38.3% in 2012 compared to 2011. Certain of our markets have seen an increase in local market sales volumes exceeding the national average. 
We remain focused on increasing our share of overall new vehicle sales within our markets.  
 
New vehicle sales improved throughout 2011 compared to 2010 due to a recovery in the U.S. economy and our efforts to increase our share of the new 
vehicles sold within each local market. Credit availability continued to improve throughout 2011, although, within the sub-prime market, lending 
remained constrained.  
   

  

    
Year Ended  

December 31,            %    
(Dollars in thousands)    2012      2011      Increase      Increase    
Reported                          
Revenue    $ 1,847,603     $ 1,391,375     $ 456,228       32.8 % 
Retail units sold      55,666       42,139       13,527       32.1   
Average selling price per retail unit    $ 33,191     $ 33,019     $ 172       0.5   
                                  
Same store                                  
Revenue    $ 1,776,896     $ 1,367,176     $ 409,720       30.0 % 
Retail units sold      53,590       41,391       12,199       29.5   
Average selling price per retail unit    $ 33,157     $ 33,031     $ 126       0.4   

    
Year Ended  

December 31,            %    
(Dollars in thousands)    2011      2010      Increase      Increase    
Reported                          
Revenue    $ 1,391,375     $ 1,020,883     $ 370,492       36.3 % 
Retail units sold      42,139       31,945       10,194       31.9   
Average selling price per retail unit    $ 33,019     $ 31,958     $ 1,061       3.3   
                                  
Same Store                                  
Revenue    $ 1,295,001     $ 1,005,721     $ 289,280       28.8 % 
Retail units sold      39,506       31,464       8,042       25.6   
Average selling price per retail unit    $ 32,780     $ 31,964     $ 816       2.6   
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Used Vehicle Retail Revenues  

 

 
Used vehicle retail sales continue to be a strategic focus as we strive for organic growth. Our strategy is to offer three categories of used vehicles: 
manufacturer certified pre-owned used vehicles; late model, lower-mileage vehicles; and value autos, vehicles with over 80,000 miles.  
 
In 2012, sales increased in all three categories of used vehicles compared to 2011.  

 
Our retail used to new vehicle sales ratio was 0.9:1 for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to 0.9:1 in 2011 and 1.0:1 in 2010. On average, each 
of our stores currently sells 46 retail used vehicle units per month and we target increasing sales to 75 units per month.  
 
Used vehicle retail unit sales increased in 2011 compared to 2010 as consumers elected to purchase used vehicles instead of new vehicles, and as we 
increased the number of lower-price, higher-margin, older used vehicles we sell. We also increased the sale of brands other than the store’s new vehicle 
franchise. We focused our store personnel on maximizing retail used vehicle sales and reducing the number of used vehicles we wholesale after acquiring 
them via trade-in.  
   

  

    
Year Ended  

December 31,            %    
(Dollars in thousands)    2012      2011      Increase      Increase    
Reported                          
Retail revenue    $ 833,484     $ 678,571     $ 154,913       22.8 % 
Retail units sold      47,965       39,436       8,529       21.6   
Average selling price per retail unit    $ 17,377     $ 17,207     $ 170       1.0   
                                  
Same store                                  
Retail revenue    $ 802,169     $ 664,292     $ 137,877       20.8 % 
Retail units sold      46,179       38,628       7,551       19.5   
Average selling price per retail unit    $ 17,371     $ 17,197     $ 174       1.0   

    
Year Ended  

December 31,            %    
(Dollars in thousands)    2011      2010      Increase      Increase    
Reported                          
Retail revenue    $ 678,571     $ 558,105     $ 120,466       21.6 % 
Retail units sold      39,436       33,241       6,195       18.6   
Average selling price per retail unit    $ 17,207     $ 16,790     $ 417       2.5   
                                  
Same store                                  
Retail revenue    $ 633,912     $ 543,106     $ 90,806       16.7 % 
Retail units sold      37,168       32,325       4,843       15.0   
Average selling price per retail unit    $ 17,055     $ 16,801     $ 254       1.5   

  ●  Same store unit sales for manufacturer certified pre-owned used vehicles increased 22.9%. This category has higher average sale prices and 
experiences a lower gross margin than the other categories.  

  ●  Same store unit sales for the late model, lower mileage vehicle category increased 11.3%. Our performance in this category is still below 
management’s expectation and we continue to focus on improving our results.  

  ●  Same store unit sales for the value auto category increased 36.9%. Value auto vehicles have lower average selling prices and experience a higher 
gross margin than our other used vehicle categories. Additionally, value autos provide an organic opportunity to convert vehicles acquired via 
trade-in to retail used vehicle sales.  
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Used Vehicle Wholesale Revenues  

 

 
Wholesale transactions are vehicles we have purchased from customers or vehicles we have attempted to sell via retail that we elect to dispose of due to 
inventory age or other factors. Wholesale vehicles are typically sold at or near inventory cost and do not comprise a meaningful component of our gross 
profit. We generated wholesale gross profit of $1.4 million, $0.6 million and $0.7 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  
 
Finance and Insurance  

   

  

    
Year Ended  

December 31,      Increase      
%  

Increase    
(Dollars in thousands)    2012      2011      (Decrease)      (Decrease)    
Reported                          
Wholesale revenue    $ 139,237     $ 128,329     $ 10,908       8.5 % 
Wholesale units sold      19,144       16,085       3,059       19.0   
Average selling price per wholesale unit    $ 7,273     $ 7,978     $ (705 )     (8.8 ) 
                                  
Same store                                  
Wholesale revenue    $ 132,722     $ 123,046     $ 9,676       7.9 % 
Wholesale units sold      18,383       15,613       2,770       17.7   
Average selling price per wholesale unit    $ 7,220     $ 7,881     $ (661 )     (8.4 ) 

    
Year Ended  

December 31,            %    
(Dollars in thousands)    2011      2010      Increase      Increase    
Reported                          
Wholesale revenue    $ 128,329     $ 103,817     $ 24,512       23.6 % 
Wholesale units sold      16,085       13,594       2,491       18.3   
Average selling price per wholesale unit    $ 7,978     $ 7,637     $ 341       4.5   
                                  
Same store                                  
Wholesale revenue    $ 118,591     $ 100,770     $ 17,821       17.7 % 
Wholesale units sold      15,171       13,239       1,932       14.6   
Average selling price per wholesale unit    $ 7,817     $ 7,612     $ 205       2.7   

    
Year Ended  

December 31,            %    
(Dollars in thousands)    2012      2011      Increase      Increase    
Reported                          
Revenue    $ 112,234     $ 84,130     $ 28,104       33.4 % 
                                  
Same store                                  
Revenue    $ 107,376     $ 81,055     $ 26,321       32.5 % 
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The increases in finance and insurance sales in 2012 compared to 2011 and 2011 compared to 2010 were driven by increased vehicle sales volume. The 
availability of consumer credit has expanded since 2010 with lenders increasing the loan-to-value amount available to most customers. Additionally, 
competition continued to increase among lenders and we saw an increase in finance reserves.  As a result, we experienced annual improvement in the 
average amount of revenue per unit. These shifts afforded us the opportunity to sell additional or more comprehensive products, while remaining within a 
loan-to-value framework acceptable to our retail customer lenders.  
 
Penetration rates for certain products were as follows:  
 

 
Service, Body and Parts Revenue  

   

  

    
Year Ended  

December 31,      Increase      
%  

Increase    
(Dollars in thousands)    2011      2010      (Decrease)      (Decrease)    
Reported                          
Revenue    $ 84,130     $ 64,217     $ 19,913       31.0 % 
                                  
Same store                                  
Revenue    $ 78,619     $ 60,440     $ 18,179       30.1 % 

    2012      2011      2010    
Finance and insurance      76 %     72 %     68 % 
Service contracts      41       41       41   
Lifetime oil change and filter      35       36       34   

    
Year Ended  

December 31,      Increase      
%  

Increase    
(Dollars in thousands)    2012      2011      (Decrease)      (Decrease)    
Reported                          
Customer pay    $ 196,077     $ 176,879     $ 19,198       10.9 % 
Warranty      52,713       52,041       672       1.3   
Wholesale parts      64,139       56,826       7,313       12.9   
Body shop      34,774       30,212       4,562       15.1   
Total service, body and parts    $ 347,703     $ 315,958     $ 31,745       10.0 % 

                                  
Same store                                  
Customer pay    $ 185,047     $ 173,074     $ 11,973       6.9 % 
Warranty      49,056       50,408       (1,352 )     (2.7 ) 
Wholesale parts      60,931       56,111       4,820       8.6   
Body shop      34,769       30,212       4,557       15.1   
Total service, body and parts    $ 329,803     $ 309,805     $ 19,998       6.5 % 
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Our service, body and parts business improved in 2012 compared to 2011 and in 2011 compared to 2010. Our customer pay business has increased as we 
maintained our focus on retaining customers through competitively-priced routine maintenance offerings and increased marketing efforts. The same store 
customer pay service and parts business represented 56.1% and 55.9% of the total same store service, body and parts business in 2012 and 2011, 
respectively. As a result of our increased focus and marketing efforts, same store customer pay business increased 6.9% in 2012 compared to 2011 and 
3.9% in 2011 compared to 2010.  
 
Warranty work accounted for approximately 14.9% of our same store service, body and parts sales in 2012 compared to 16.3% in 2011. In 2012 compared 
to 2011, same store warranty sales decreased 2.7%. Domestic brand warranty work decreased by 3.7%, while import/luxury warranty work decreased by 
1.8% in 2012 compared to 2011. Same store warranty work declined 4.2% in 2011 compared to 2010. Warranty work continues to be impacted by 
declining units in operation from 2008, 2009 and 2010 and increased vehicle reliability, particularly in domestic brands.  
 
We continued to grow our wholesale parts and body shop sales in 2012, which represented 29.0% of our same store service, body and parts revenue mix 
in 2012 and grew 10.9% on a same store basis in 2012 compared to 2011. These categories allow for incremental organic growth. Because both wholesale 
parts and body shop margins are lower than service work, we expect gross margins may modestly decline as these areas of the business comprise a larger 
portion of the total.  
 
Gross Profit  
Gross profit increased $94.0 million in 2012 compared to 2011 and increased $82.3 million in 2011 compared to 2010. The increases in 2012 and 2011 
were primarily due to increased revenues, partially offset by declines in our overall gross profit margin.  
 
Our gross profit margins by business line were as follows:  
 

   

  

    
Year Ended  

December 31,      Increase      
%  

Increase    
(Dollars in thousands)    2011      2010      (Decrease)      (Decrease)    
Reported                          
Customer pay    $ 176,879     $ 155,569     $ 21,310       13.7 % 
Warranty      52,041       48,633       3,408       7.0   
Wholesale parts      56,826       47,670       9,156       19.2   
Body shop      30,212       26,073       4,139       15.9   
Total service, body and parts    $ 315,958     $ 277,945     $ 38,013       13.7 % 

                                  
Same store                                  
Customer pay    $ 158,451     $ 152,451     $ 6,000       3.9 % 
Warranty      45,411       47,397       (1,986 )     (4.2 ) 
Wholesale parts      51,894       47,072       4,822       10.2   
Body shop      29,689       26,040       3,649       14.0   
Total service, body and parts    $ 285,445     $ 272,960     $ 12,485       4.6 % 

          Basis    

    Year Ended December 31,      
Point 

Change*    
    2012      2011          
New vehicle      7.3 %     7.7 %     (40 )bp 
Retail used vehicle      14.6       14.5       10   
Wholesale used vehicle      1.0       0.5       50   
Finance and insurance      100.0       100.0       -  
Service, body and parts      48.3       48.2       10   
Fleet and other      3.9       8.6       (470 ) 
Overall      16.3 %     16.9 %     (60 ) 
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  * A basis point is equal to 1/100 th of one percent.  
 
Our overall gross profit margin decreased 60 basis points in 2012 compared to 2011. New vehicle margins decreased compared to 2011. This decrease 
was due to higher gross margins in 2011 as new vehicle supply had been limited due to the earthquake and tsunami in Japan. Additionally, in 2012, to 
gain market share in certain markets, we priced vehicles lower, negatively impacting margins. Used vehicle margins and service, body and parts margins 
were relatively unchanged in 2012 compared to 2011. Our overall gross profit margin decreased primarily due to a mix shift as we sold a greater number 
of new vehicles, which have lower margins than our other businesses.  
 
Asset Impairment Charges  
Asset impairments recorded as a component of continuing operations consist of the following (in thousands):  
 

 
During 2012 and 2011, we recorded impairment charges associated with certain properties. As the expected future use of these facilities changed, the 
long-lived assets were tested for recoverability. As a result, we determined the carrying value exceeded the fair value of these properties and asset 
impairment charges were recorded.  
 
During 2010, we believed events and circumstances indicated the carrying amount of our non-operational long-lived assets may no longer be recoverable, 
triggering interim impairment tests. We determined a triggering event had occurred based on the following factors:  

 
Based on the results of those tests, we recorded asset impairment charges associated with certain properties during 2010.  
 
See Notes 1 and 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.  
   

  

          Basis    

    Year Ended December 31,      
Point 

Change*    
    2011      2010          
New vehicle      7.7 %     8.2 %     (50 )bp 
Retail used vehicle      14.5       14.1       40   
Wholesale used vehicle      0.5       0.7       (20 ) 
Finance and insurance      100.0       100.0       -  
Service, body and parts      48.2       48.2       -  
Fleet and other      8.6       14.1       (550 ) 
Overall      16.9 %     17.8 %     (90 ) 

Year Ended December 31,    2012      2011      2010    
Asset Impairments                    

Long-lived assets    $ 115     $ 1,376     $ 15,301   

  ●  slower industry recovery for retail vehicle sales than originally projected at the end of 2009;  
  ●  oversupply of vacant dealership properties due to the economic downturn and bankruptcy proceedings for Chrysler and GM; and  
  ●  the broader economic recovery, including the availability of credit, remained gradual, limiting the potential buyers of these types of properties.  
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Selling, General and Administrative Expense (“SG&A”)  
SG&A includes salaries and related personnel expenses, advertising (net of manufacturer cooperative advertising credits), rent, facility costs, and other 
general corporate expenses.  
 

 

 

 

 
SG&A expense increased $57.0 million in 2012 compared to 2011, and $32.5 million in 2011 compared to 2010. These increases were primarily driven 
by increased variable costs associated with improved sales and an increase in advertising as we focused on gaining market share. These increases in costs 
were offset by a continued focus to reduce or maintain fixed costs and effectively manage variable costs. In 2011, a $6.3 million gain on the sale of 
property in California was recorded as a component of facility costs.  
 
SG&A as a percentage of gross profit was 69.3% in 2012 compared to 71.1% in 2011 and 78.3% in 2010. Adjusting for the gain on the sale of property in 
California and other pro forma items, our adjusted SG&A expense as a percentage of gross profit was 69.3% in 2012 compared to 72.5% in 2011 and 
77.8% in 2010. See Non-GAAP Reconciliations in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for 
additional information regarding pro forma SG&A expense. As sales volume increases and we gain leverage in our cost structure, we anticipate achieving 
metrics of SG&A as a percentage of gross profit in the high 60% range with improved sales volumes.  
   

  

    
Year Ended  

December 31,            %    
(Dollars in thousands)    2012      2011      Increase      Increase    
Personnel    $ 243,249     $ 210,996     $ 32,253       15.3 % 
Advertising      31,913       23,875       8,038       33.7   
Rent      15,162       13,256       1,906       14.4   
Facility costs      24,172       17,260       6,912       40.0   
Other      59,192       51,276       7,916       15.4   
Total SG&A    $ 373,688     $ 316,663     $ 57,025       18.0   

    
Year Ended  

December 31,      Increase    
As a % of gross profit    2012      2011      (Decrease)    
Personnel      45.1 %     47.4 %   (230 )bps 
Advertising      5.9       5.4       50   
Rent      2.8       3.0       (20 ) 
Facility costs      4.5       3.8       70   
Other      11.0       11.5       (50 ) 
Total SG&A      69.3 %     71.1 %   (180 )bps 

    
Year Ended  

December 31,      Increase      
%  

Increase    
(Dollars in thousands)    2011      2010      (Decrease)      (Decrease)    
Personnel    $ 210,996     $ 176,938     $ 34,058       19.2 % 
Advertising      23,875       25,398       (1,523 )     (6.0 ) 
Rent      13,256       12,569       687       5.5   
Facility costs      17,260       22,335       (5,075 )     (22.7 ) 
Other      51,276       46,923       4,353       9.3   
Total SG&A    $ 316,663     $ 284,163     $ 32,500       11.4   

    
Year Ended  

December 31,      Increase   
As a % of gross profit    2011      2010      (Decrease)   
Personnel      47.4 %     48.8 %     (140 )bps 
Advertising      5.4       7.0       (160 ) 
Rent      3.0       3.5       (50 ) 
Facility costs      3.8       6.1       (230 ) 
Other      11.5       12.9       (140 ) 
Total SG&A      71.1 %     78.3 %     (720 )bps 
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We also measure the leverage of our cost structure by evaluating throughput, which is the incremental percentage of gross profit retained after deducting 
SG&A expense.  
 

   

 
Throughput contributions for newly opened or acquired stores are on a ”first dollar” basis for the first twelve months of operations. We acquired four 
stores and opened two new stores in 2012 and, adjusting for these locations, our throughput contribution on a same store basis was 51.2% for the year 
ended December 31, 2012 compared to 2011. Our throughput contribution on a same store basis for 2011 compared to 2010 was 59.9%. We continue to 
target a same store throughput contribution of approximately 50%.  
 
Depreciation and Amortization  
Depreciation and amortization is comprised of depreciation expense related to buildings, significant remodels or betterments, furniture, tools, equipment 
and signage and amortization of certain intangible assets, including customer lists and non-compete agreements.  
 

   

 
Depreciation and amortization increased $0.7 million in 2012 compared to 2011 due to increased capital expenditures of $32.9 million in 2012. These 
expenditures were for the improvement of store facilities, purchases of new store locations, replacement of equipment and construction of a new 
headquarters building.  
 
Depreciation and amortization decreased $0.6 million in 2011 compared to 2010. The decrease in 2011 compared to 2010 was due primarily to the sale of 
facilities in the second half of 2010 and early 2011.  
 
Operating Income  
Operating income was 4.5%, 4.2% and 2.3% of revenue, respectively, in 2012, 2011 and 2010. The increases in 2012 compared to 2011, and 2011 
compared to 2010 were primarily due to improved sales and continued cost control.  
 
Floor Plan Interest Expense and Floor Plan Assistance  
Floor plan interest expense increased $2.5 million in 2012 compared to 2011. This increase is due to higher inventory levels compared to the prior year. 
Floor plan interest expense increased $0.2 million in 2011 compared to 2010.  
   

  

    
Year Ended  

December 31,            
% of  

Change in    
(Dollars in thousands)    2012      2011      Change      Gross Profit    
Gross profit    $ 539,300     $ 445,284     $ 94,016       100.0 % 
SG&A expense      (373,688 )     (316,663 )     (57,025 )     (60.7 ) 
Throughput contribution                    $ 36,991       39.3 % 

    
Year Ended  

December 31,              
% of Change 

in    
(Dollars in thousands)      2011     2010     Change      Gross Profit    
Gross profit    $ 445,284     $ 362,946     $ 82,338       100.0 % 
SG&A expense      (316,663 )     (284,163 )     (32,500 )     (39.5 ) 
Throughput contribution                    $ 49,838       60.5 % 

    
Year Ended  

December 31,            %    
(Dollars in thousands)    2012      2011      Increase      Increase    
Depreciation and amortization    $ 17,128     $ 16,427     $ 701       4.3 % 

    
Year Ended  

December 31,            %    
(Dollars in thousands)    2011      2010      Decrease      Decrease    
Depreciation and amortization    $ 16,427     $ 17,012     $ (585 )     (3.4 )% 
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Floor plan assistance is provided by manufacturers to support store financing of new vehicle inventory. Under accounting standards, floor plan assistance 
is recorded as a component of new vehicle gross profit when the specific vehicle is sold. However, because manufacturers provide this assistance to offset 
inventory carrying costs, we believe a comparison of floor plan interest expense to floor plan assistance is a useful measure of the efficiency of our new 
vehicle sales relative to stocking levels.  
 
The following tables detail the carrying costs for new vehicles and include new vehicle floor plan interest net of floor plan assistance earned.  
 

   

 
Other Interest Expense  
Other interest expense includes interest on debt incurred related to acquisitions, real estate mortgages and our working capital, acquisition and used 
vehicle credit facility.  
 

 

 
For 2012 compared to 2011, other interest decreased $3.3 million primarily due to the retirement of approximately $36.4 million in mortgages mainly in 
the first half of 2012. We also refinanced mortgages resulting in reduced interest rates. We had $42.3 million in mortgage issuances, mainly occurring in 
the fourth quarter of 2012, which had minimal impact on interest expense for the full year. This decrease related to mortgage interest was offset by higher 
volumes of borrowing on our credit facility.  
 
Other interest expense decreased $1.6 million in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily due to decreases in outstanding real estate mortgage debt, partially 
offset by an increase in interest on our working capital, acquisition and used vehicle credit facility due to a higher volume of borrowing compared to 
2010.  Additionally, we recorded $0.2 million in capitalized interest in 2011 associated with construction projects, further reducing our overall interest 
expense.  
   

  

    
Year Ended  

December 31,            %    
(Dollars in thousands)    2012      2011      Increase      Increase    
Floor plan interest expense (new vehicles)    $ 12,816     $ 10,364     $ 2,452       23.7 % 
Floor plan assistance (included as an offset to cost of sales)      (16,633 )     (12,582 )     4,051       32.2   
Net new vehicle carrying costs (benefit)    $ (3,817 )   $ (2,218 )   $ 1,599       72.1 % 

    
Year Ended  

December 31,            %    
(Dollars in thousands)    2011      2010      Increase      Increase    
Floor plan interest expense (new vehicles)    $ 10,364     $ 10,155     $ 209       2.1 % 
Floor plan assistance (included as an offset to cost of sales)      (12,582 )     (9,362 )     3,220       34.4   
Net new vehicle carrying costs (benefit)    $ (2,218 )   $ 793     $ 3,011       379.7 % 

    
Year Ended  

December 31,      Increase      
%  

Increase    
(Dollars in thousands)    2012      2011      (Decrease)      (Decrease)    
Mortgage interest    $ 8,148     $ 11,395     $ (3,247 )     (28.5 )% 
Other interest      1,767       1,646       121       7.4   
Capitalized interest      (294 )     (163 )     131       80.4   
Total other interest expense    $ 9,621     $ 12,878     $ (3,257 )     (25.3 )% 

    
Year Ended  

December 31,      Increase      
%  

Increase    
(Dollars in thousands)    2011      2010      (Decrease)      (Decrease)    
Mortgage interest    $ 11,395     $ 13,593     $ (2,198 )     (16.2 )% 
Other interest      1,646       930       716       77.0   
Capitalized interest      (163 )     -      (163 )     -  
Total other interest expense    $ 12,878     $ 14,523     $ (1,645 )     (11.3 )% 
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Other Income, net  
Other income, net primarily includes interest income and, beginning in 2012, the gains related to an equity investment. Other income, net was $2.5 
million, $0.7 million and $0.4 million for 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  
   
Income Tax Expense  
Our effective income tax rate was 38.2% in 2012, 37.5% in 2011 and 38.8% in 2010. Our federal income tax rate is 35.0% and our state income tax rate is 
currently 3.4%, which varies with the mix of states where our stores are located. We also have certain non-deductible expenses and other adjustments that 
impact our effective rate.  
 
Non-GAAP Reconciliations  
We believe each of the non-GAAP financial measures below improves the transparency of our disclosures, provides a meaningful presentation of our 
results from the core business operations excluding adjustments for items not related to our ongoing core business operations or other non-cash 
adjustments, and improves the period-to-period comparability of our results from the core business operations. Our management uses these measures in 
conjunction with GAAP financial measures as part of our assessment of our business, including our compliance with covenants in our credit facility and in 
communications with our board of directors concerning financial performance. These measures should not be considered an alternative to GAAP 
measures.  
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The following tables reconcile certain non-GAAP measures to the most comparable GAAP measure from our Consolidated Statements of Operations 
(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts):  
 
 

   

  

    Year Ended December 31, 2012    

    As reported      

Asset 
impairment 
and disposal 

gain      
Equity 

investment      Tax attribute     Adjusted    
Asset impairments    $ 115     $ (115 )   $ -    $ -    $ -  
Selling, general and administrative    $ 373,688     $ 739     $ -    $ -    $ 374,427   
                                          
Income from operations    $ 148,369     $ (624 )   $ -    $ -    $ 147,745   
                                          
Other income, net    $ 2,525     $ -    $ (244 )   $ -    $ 2,281   
                                          
Income from continuing operations before income taxes    $ 128,457     $ (624 )   $ (244 )   $ -    $ 127,589   
Income tax provision      (49,062 )     249       97       (1,447 )     (50,163 ) 
Income from continuing operations, net of income tax    $ 79,395     $ (375 )   $ (147 )   $ (1,447 )   $ 77,426   
Income from discontinued operations, net of income tax    $ 967     $ (172 )   $ -    $ -    $ 795   
Net income    $ 80,362     $ (547 )   $ (147 )   $ (1447 )   $ 78,221   

                                          
Diluted income (loss) per share from continuing operations    $ 3.03     $ (0.01 )   $ (0.01 )   $ (0.05 )   $ 2.96   
Diluted income (loss) per share from discontinued operations   $ 0.04     $ (0.01 )   $ -    $ -    $ 0.03   
Diluted net income per share    $ 3.07     $ (0.02 )   $ (0.01 )   $ (0.05 )   $ 2.99   

                                          
Diluted share count      26,170                                   
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    Year Ended December 31, 2011   

    As reported      

Asset 
impairment 
and disposal 

gain      
Reserve 

adjustments      Adjusted    
Cost of Sales – service, body and parts    $ 163,738     $ -    $ (950 )   $ 162,788   
Gross Profit    $ 445,284     $ -    $ 950     $ 446,234   
                                  
Asset impairments    $ 1,376     $ (1,376 )   $ -    $ -  
                                  
Selling, general and administrative    $ 316,663     $ 6,881     $ -    $ 323,544   
Income from operations    $ 110,818     $ (5,505 )   $ 950     $ 106,263   
                                  
Income from continuing operations before income taxes    $ 88,270     $ (5,505 )   $ 950     $ 83,715   
Income tax provision      (33,060 )     1,724       (360 )     (31,696 ) 
Income from continuing operations, net of income tax    $ 55,210     (3,781 )   $ 590     $ 52,019   
Income from discontinued operations, net of income tax    $ 3,650     $ (2,616 )   $ -    $ 1,034   
Net income    $ 58,860     (6,397 )   $ 590     $ 53,053   

                                  
Diluted income per share from continuing operations    $ 2.07     $ (0.14 )   $ 0.02     $ 1.95   
Diluted income per share from discontinued operations    $ 0.14     $ (0.10 )   $ -    $ 0.04   
Diluted net income per share    $ 2.21     $ (0.24 )   $ 0.02     $ 1.99   

Diluted share count      26,664                           

    Year Ended December 31, 2010    

    As reported      

Asset  
impairment  
and disposal  

 gain      
Reserve  

 adjustment      Adjusted    
Gross Profit    $ 362,946     $ -    $ 1,040     $ 363,986   
Asset impairments    $ 15,301     $ (15,301 )   $ -    $ -  
Selling, general and administrative    $ 284,163     $ 419     $ (1,238 )   $ 283,344   
                                  
Income from operations    $ 46,470     $ 14,882     $ 2,278     $ 63,630   
                                  
Income from continuing operations before income taxes    $ 22,212     $ 14,882     $ 2,278     $ 39,372   
Income tax provision      (8,625 )     (5,716 )     (782 )     (15,123 ) 
Income from continuing operations, net of income tax    $ 13,587     $ 9,166     $ 1,496     $ 24,249   
Income from discontinued operations, net of income tax    $ 132     $ 181     $ -    $ 313   
Income from continuing operations, net of income tax    $ 13,719     $ 9,347     $ 1,496     $ 24,562   

                                  
Diluted income (loss) per share from continuing operations    $ 0.52     $ 0.35     $ 0.05     0.92    
Diluted income (loss) per share from discontinued operations    $ -    $ 0.01     $ -    $ 0.01   
Diluted net income per share    $ 0.52     $ 0.36     $ 0.05     $ 0.93   

Diluted share count      26,279                           
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Liquidity and Capital Resources  
We manage our liquidity and capital resources to be able to fund future capital expenditures, working capital requirements and contractual obligations. 
Additionally, we use capital resources to fund cash dividend payments, share repurchases and acquisitions.  
 
Available Sources  
We have relied primarily on cash flows from operations, borrowings under our credit agreements, financing of real estate and the proceeds from equity 
and debt offerings to finance operations and expansion. Based on these factors and our normal operational cash flow, we believe we have sufficient 
availability to accommodate both our short- and long-term capital needs.  
 
Below is a summary and discussion of our available funds (in thousands):  
 

 
Historically, we have raised capital through the sale of assets, sale of stores, issuance of stock and the issuance of debt. We may strategically use 
excess cash to reduce the amount of debt outstanding when appropriate. During 2012, 2011 and 2010, we raised $14.2 million, $23.5 million and 
$18.3 million, respectively, through the sale of assets and stores and the issuance of long-term debt (primarily related to the financing of certain real 
estate), net of debt repayments in excess of scheduled amounts.  
 
We have the ability to raise funds through the financing of owned real estate. As of December 31, 2012, we had a book value of $102.1 million in 
unfinanced owned real estate. Assuming we can obtain financing on 75% of this value, we estimate we could obtain additional funds of 
approximately $76.6 million; however, no assurances can be provided that this capital source will be available in sufficient amounts or with terms 
acceptable to us.  
 
While we have no immediate plans to access such funds, we have an effective shelf registration statement with the SEC that allows us to offer for 
sale, from time to time and as the capital markets permit, up to $100 million in various forms of debt or equity securities.  
 
In addition to the above sources of liquidity, potential sources include the placement of subordinated debentures or loans, additional store sales or 
additional other asset sales. We will evaluate all of these options and may select one or more of them depending on overall capital needs and the 
availability and cost of capital, although no assurances can be provided that these capital sources will be available in sufficient amounts or with terms 
acceptable to us.  
   

  

    As of December 31,      Increase      
%  

Increase    
    2012      2011      (Decrease)      (Decrease)    
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 42,839     $ 20,851     $ 21,988       105.5 % 
Available credit on the Credit Facility      120,536       10,449       110,087        1,053.6   
Unfinanced new vehicles      -      65,857       (65,857 )     (100.0 ) 
Total available funds    $ 163,375     $ 97,157     $ 66,218       68.2 % 
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Summary of Outstanding Balances on Credit Facilities and Long-term Debt  
Below is a summary of our outstanding balances on credit facilities and long-term debt (in thousands):  
 

 

 
Credit Facility  
On April 17, 2012, we executed a new five-year $650 million credit facility with a syndicate of 10 financial institutions, including four manufacturer-
affiliated finance companies. On December 19, 2012 we entered into an amendment to the loan agreement that expanded the available loan commitment 
to $800 million. The amendment to loan agreement amended the allocation of the financing commitment to $575 million in new vehicle inventory floor 
plan financing, $80 million in used vehicle inventory floor plan financing and $145 million in a revolving line of credit for general corporate purposes, 
including acquisitions and working capital. All borrowings from, and repayments to, our syndicated lending group are presented in the Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows as financing activities.  
 
The interest rate on the credit facility varies based on the type of debt with the rate ranging from the one-month LIBOR plus 1.50% to the one-month 
LIBOR plus 2.0%. The interest rates on the credit facility at December 31, 2012 ranged from 1.7% to 2.2%. Our financial covenants related to this credit 
facility include maintaining a current ratio of not less than 1.20x, a fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.20x and a leverage ratio of not more than 
5.0x.  
 
New Vehicle Lines  
We finance substantially all of our new vehicles through the new vehicle floor plan commitment component of our credit facility. We also have additional 
floor plan agreements with manufacturer-affiliated finance companies for vehicles that are designated for use as service loaners. Borrowings from, and 
repayments to, manufacturer-affiliated finance companies are classified as operating activities on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.  
 
Real Estate Mortgages and Other Debt  
We have mortgages associated with our owned real estate and leasehold improvements. Interest rates related to this debt ranged from 1.8% to 5.9% at 
December 31, 2012. The mortgages are payable in various installments through May 2031. As of December 31, 2012, we had fixed interest rates on 66% 
of our outstanding mortgages.  
   
Our other debt includes various notes, capital leases and obligations assumed as a result of acquisitions and other agreements and had interest rates that 
ranged from 2.0% to 9.0% at December 31, 2012. This debt, which totaled $2.8 million at December 31, 2012, is due in various installments through May 
2019 .  
   

  

    
Outstanding as of 
December 31, 2012     

Remaining 
Available as of 

December 31, 2012     
New vehicle floor plan commitment    $ 568,130     $ -  (1),(4) 

Floor plan notes payable      13,454       -  (4) 

Used vehicle inventory financing facility      78,309       -  (3) 

Revolving line of credit      21,045       120,536              (2),(3) 

Real estate mortgages      192,928       -    
Other debt      2,776       -    
Liabilities related to assets held for sale      8,347       -  (4) 

Total debt    $ 884,989     $ 120,536     

(1)   We have a $575 million new vehicle floor plan commitment as part of our credit facility.  
(2)   Available credit is based on the borrowing base amount effective as of December 31, 2012. This amount is reduced by $3.4 million for outstanding 

letters of credit.  
(3)   The amount available on the credit facility is limited based on a borrowing base calculation and fluctuates monthly.  
(4)   At December 31, 2012, an additional $6.9 million of floor plan notes payable outstanding on our new vehicle floor plan commitment and $1.4 million 

of floor plan notes payable on vehicles designated as service loaners are recorded as liabilities related to assets held for sale.  
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Debt Covenants  
Under the terms of our credit facility and other debt agreements, we are subject to financial covenants and restrictive covenants that limit or restrict our 
incurring additional indebtedness, making investments, selling or acquiring assets and granting security interests in our assets.  
 
Under our credit facility, we are required to maintain the ratios detailed in the following table:  
 

 
We expect to remain in compliance with the financial and restrictive covenants in our credit facility and other debt agreements. However, no assurances 
can be provided that we will continue to remain in compliance with the financial and restrictive covenants.  
 
If we do not meet the financial and restrictive covenants and are unable to remediate or cure the condition or obtain a waiver from our lenders, a breach 
would give rise to remedies under the agreement, the most severe of which is the termination of the agreement and acceleration of the amounts owed. We 
also would trigger cross-defaults under other debt agreements.  
 
Inventories  
We calculate days supply of inventory based on current inventory levels, excluding in-transit vehicles, and a 30-day historical cost of sales level. As of 
December 31, 2012, our new vehicle days supply was 76, or 14 days higher than our days supply as of December 31, 2011. The increase in our 2012 new 
vehicle inventory levels is partly related to the building of certain truck models prior to manufacturer planned platform changes, when production is halted 
and additional vehicles will not be available for several months. Additionally, 2011 new vehicle inventory levels were lower than normal as inventory 
supply was recovering from the effects of the earthquake and tsunami in Japan in the last half of 2011. Our days supply of used vehicles was 56 days as of 
December 31, 2012, or 4 days higher than our days supply as of December 31, 2011. We have continued to focus on managing our mix and maintaining 
an appropriate level of used vehicle inventory.  
   

  

Debt Covenant Ratio  
  

Requirement      

As of December 31, 
2012  

Current ratio  
  Not less than 

1.20 to 1     1.43 to 1 

Fixed charge coverage ratio  
  Not less than 

1.20 to 1     2.35 to 1 

Liabilities to tangible net worth ratio  
  Not more than 

5.00 to 1     2.08 to 1 

Funded debt restriction  
  Not to exceed $375 

million     $195.7 million 
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Contractual Payment Obligations  
A summary of our contractual commitments and obligations as of December 31, 2012,   was as follows (in thousands):  
 

 

 
Capital Expenditures  
Capital expenditures were $64.6 million, $31.7 million and $7.6 million for 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The increase in capital expenditures in 
2012 compared to 2011 was mainly related to the building of facilities for an awarded open point, the purchase of previously leased facilities, image 
improvements and the construction of, and relocation to, a new headquarters building. The increase in 2011 compared to 2010 was related to 
improvements at certain of our store facilities, the purchase of new store locations, replacement of equipment and construction of a new headquarters 
building.  
 
Many manufacturers provide assistance in the form of additional vehicle incentives if facilities meet image standards and requirements. We believe it is an 
attractive time to invest in certain facility upgrades and remodels that will generate additional manufacturer incentive payments. Also, recently enacted tax 
law changes that accelerate deductions for capital expenditures have accelerated project timelines to ensure completion before the law expires.  
 
In the event we undertake a significant capital commitment in the future, we expect to pay for the commitment out of existing cash balances, construction 
financing and borrowings on our credit facility. Upon completion of the projects, we would anticipate securing long-term financing and general 
borrowings from third party lenders for 70% to 90% of the amounts expended, although no assurances can be provided that these financings will be 
available to us in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us.  
   

  

    Payments Due By Period    

Contractual Obligation    Total      2013      
2014 and  

2015      
2016 and  

2017      
2018 and  
beyond    

New vehicle floor plan commitment (1)    $ 568,130     $ 568,130     $ -    $ -    $ -  
Floor plan notes payable (1)      13,454       13,454       -      -      -  
Used vehicle inventory  financing facility      78,309       -      -      78,309       -  
Revolving line of credit      21,045       -      -      21,045       -  
Liabilities related to  assets held for sale      8,347       8,347       -      -      -  
Real estate debt,  including interest      230,854       14,463       28,902       52,207       135,282   
Other debt, including capital leases and interest        3,871         258         503         409         2,701   
Charge-backs on various contracts      13,504       7,540       5,345       609       10   
Operating leases (2)      139,965       16,930       29,562       23,205       70,268   
Fixed rate payments on interest rate swaps      5,511       2,085       2,832       594       -  
    $ 1,082,990     $ 631,207     $ 67,144     $ 176,378     $ 208,261   

  (1)  Amounts for floor plan notes payable, the used vehicle inventory financing facility and the revolving line of credit do not include estimated 
interest payments. See Notes 1 and 6 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

  (2)  Amounts for operating lease commitments do not include sublease income, and certain operating expenses such as maintenance, insurance and 
real estate taxes.  See Note 7 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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Dividends  
Our Board of Directors paid dividends on our Class A and Class B common stock in 2012 as follows:  
   

 
Management evaluates performance and makes a recommendation to the Board of Directors on dividend payments on a quarterly basis. An additional 
dividend payment was paid in December 2012 in lieu of the dividend typically declared and paid in March of the following year.  
 
Share Repurchase Program  
In June 2000, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 1,000,000 shares of our Class A common stock. As of December 31, 2011, we 
had purchased all available shares under this program, 419,376 of which were purchased during 2011 at an average price of $17.92 per share.  
 
In August 2011, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 2,000,000 shares of our Class A common stock. On July 20, 2012, our Board of 
Directors authorized the repurchase of 1,000,000 additional shares of our Class A common stock.   Through December 31, 2012, we had purchased 
1,145,147 shares under these programs at an average price of $22.33 per share.  
 
As of December 31, 2012, 1,854,853 shares remained available for repurchase. These plans do not have an expiration date and we may continue to 
repurchase shares from time to time as conditions warrant.  
   

  

Dividend paid:    

Dividend  
amount per  

share      

Total amount of  
dividend  

(in thousands)    
March 2012    $ 0.07     $ 1,815   
May 2012      0.10       2,583   
August 2012      0.10       2,545   
November 2012      0.10       2,556   
December 2012      0.10       2,567   
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Selected Consolidated Quarterly Financial Data  
The following tables set forth our unaudited quarterly financial data (1) (2) .  
 

   

  

2012 (in thousands, except per share data )    Three Months Ended,    
     March 31      June 30      September 30     December 31    

Revenues:        
New vehicle    $ 392,946     $ 455,939     $ 491,847     $ 506,871   
Used vehicle retail      190,619       207,341       227,157       208,367   
Used vehicle wholesale      33,357       35,106       35,006       35,768   
Finance and insurance      24,877       27,183       30,930       29,244   
Service, body and parts      83,544       85,456       89,038       89,665   
Fleet and other      12,903       11,317       4,548       7,458   

Total revenues      738,246       822,342       878,526       877,373   
Cost of sales      613,912       688,246       736,016       739,013   
Gross profit      124,334       134,096       142,510       138,360   
Asset impairments      115       -      -      -  
Selling, general and administrative      88,440       92,990       95,132       97,126   
Depreciation and amortization      4,138       4,198       4,351       4,441   
Operating income      31,641       36,908       43,027       36,793   
Floor plan interest expense      (2,902 )     (3,054 )     (3,370 )     (3,490 ) 
Other interest expense      (2,726 )     (2,531 )     (2,125 )     (2,239 ) 
Other, net      498       820       453       754   
                                  
Income from continuing operations before income taxes      26,511       32,143       37,985       31,818   
Income tax provision      (9,877 )     (12,138 )     (14,893 )     (12,154 ) 
Income before discontinued operations      16,634       20,005       23,092       19,664   
Discontinued operations, net of tax      162       486       150       169   
Net income    $ 16,796     $ 20,491     $ 23,242     $ 19,833   

                                  
Basic income per share from continuing operations    $ 0.64     $ 0.78     $ 0.91     $ 0.77   
Basic income per share from discontinued operations      0.01       0.02       -      -  
Basic net income per share    $ 0.65     $ 0.80     $ 0.91     $ 0.77   

                                  
Diluted income per share from continuing operations    $ 0.63     $ 0.76     $ 0.90     $ 0.76   
Diluted income per share from discontinued operations      -      0.02       -      -  
Diluted net income per share    $ 0.63     $ 0.78     $ 0.90     $ 0.76   

  
52 



   

   

 
Seasonality and Quarterly Fluctuations  
Historically, our sales have been lower in the first and fourth quarters of each year due to consumer purchasing patterns during the holiday season, 
inclement weather in certain of our markets and the reduced number of business days during the holiday season. As a result, financial performance is 
expected to be lower during the first and fourth quarters than during the second and third quarters of each fiscal year. We believe that interest rates, levels 
of consumer debt, consumer confidence and manufacturer sales incentives, as well as general economic conditions, also contribute to fluctuations in sales 
and operating results.  
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect on our financial condition, 
changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.  
 
Inflation  
The effects of inflation were insignificant in the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.  
   

  

2011 (in thousands, except per share data)      T hree Months Ended,   

    March 31       June 30      September 30     December 31   
Revenues:                                 

New vehicle    $ 295,533     $ 339,378     $ 374,460     $ 382,004   
Used vehicle retail      153,803       172,283       182,432       170,053   
Used vehicle wholesale      29,327       28,852       35,288       34,862   
Finance and insurance      18,939       20,492       22,302       22,397   
Service, body and parts      72,199       78,410       83,296       82,053   
Fleet and other      3,128       17,168       10,108       3,979   

Total revenues      572,929       656,583       707,886       695,348   
Cost of sales      473,270       542,607       589,089       582,496   
Gross profit      99,659       113,976       118,797       112,852   
Asset impairments      383       489       -      504   
Selling, general and administrative      75,294       79,903       83,135       78,331   
Depreciation and amortization      4,059       4,170       4,103       4,095   
Operating income      19,923       29,414       31,559       29,922   
Floor plan interest expense      (2,423 )     (3,281 )     (1,954 )     (2,706 ) 
Other interest expense      (3,284 )     (2,999 )     (3,063 )     (3,532 ) 
Other, net      76       171       214       233   
Income from continuing operations before income taxes      14,292       23,305       26,756       23,917   
Income tax provision      (5,914 )     (8,716 )     (10,534 )     (7,896 ) 
Income before discontinued operations      8,378       14,589       16,222       16,021   
Discontinued operations, net of tax      327       237       341       2,745   
Net income    $ 8,705     $ 14,826     $ 16,563     $ 18,766   

                                  
Basic income per share from continuing operations    $ 0.32     $ 0.55     $ 0.62     $ 0.62   
Basic income per share from discontinued operations      0.01       0.01       0.01       0.10   
Basic net income per share    $ 0.33     $ 0.56     $ 0.63     $ 0.72   

                                  
Diluted income per share from continuing operations    $ 0.31     $ 0.54     $ 0.61     $ 0.61   
Diluted income per share from discontinued operations      0.02       0.01       0.01       0.10   
Diluted net income per share    $ 0.33     $ 0.55     $ 0.62     $ 0.71   

(1)  Quarterly data may not add to yearly totals due to rounding.  
(2)  Certain reclassifications of amounts previously reported have been made to the quarterly financial data to maintain consistency and comparability 

between periods presented.  
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Item 7A.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk  
 
Variable Rate Debt  
Our credit facility, other floor plan notes payable and certain real estate mortgages are structured as variable rate debt. The interest rates on our variable 
rate debt are tied to either the one- or three-month LIBOR or the prime rate. These debt obligations, therefore, expose us to variability in interest payments 
due to changes in these rates. Certain floor plan debt is based on open-ended lines of credit tied to each individual store from the various manufacturer 
finance companies.  
 
Our variable-rate floor plan notes payable, variable rate mortgage notes payable and other credit line borrowings subject us to market risk exposure. At 
December 31, 2012, we had $746.2 million outstanding under such agreements at a weighted average interest rate of 1.9% per annum. A 10% increase in 
interest rates would increase annual interest expense by approximately $1.4 million, net of tax, based on amounts outstanding at December 31, 2012.  
 
Fixed Rate Debt  
The fair value of our long-term fixed interest rate debt is subject to interest rate risk. Generally, the fair value of fixed interest rate debt will increase as 
interest rates fall because we would expect to be able to refinance for a lower rate. Conversely, the fair value of fixed interest rate debt will decrease as 
interest rates rise. The interest rate changes affect the fair value but do not impact earnings or cash flows.  
 
At December 31, 2012, we had $130.5 million of long-term fixed interest rate debt outstanding and recorded on the balance sheet, with maturity dates 
between November 2016 and May 2031. Based on discounted cash flows using current interest rates for comparable debt, we have determined that the fair 
value of this long-term fixed interest rate debt was approximately $134.7 million at December 31, 2012.  
 
Hedging Strategies  
We believe it is prudent to limit the variability of a portion of our interest payments. Accordingly, we have entered into interest rate swaps to manage the 
variability of our interest rate exposure, thus leveling a portion of our interest expense in a rising or falling rate environment.  
 
We have effectively changed the variable-rate cash flow exposure on a portion of our floor plan debt to fixed-rate cash flows by entering into receive-
variable, pay-fixed interest rate swaps. Under the interest rate swaps, we receive variable interest rate payments and make fixed interest rate payments, 
thereby creating fixed rate floor plan debt.  
 
We do not enter into derivative instruments for any purpose other than to manage interest rate exposure. That is, we do not engage in interest rate 
speculation using derivative instruments. Typically, we designate all interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges.  
 
As of December 31, 2012, we had outstanding the following interest rate swaps with U.S. Bank Dealer Commercial Services:  

   

  

  ●  $25 million interest rate swap at a fixed rate of 4.495% per annum, variable rate adjusted on the 26 th of each month, matures January 25, 2013; 
  ●  $25 million interest rate swap at a fixed rate of 3.495% per annum, variable rate adjusted on the 1 st and 16 th of each month, matures April 30, 

2013;  
  ●  $25 million interest rate swap at a fixed rate of 3.495% per annum, variable rate adjusted on the 1 st and   16 th of each month, matures April 30, 

2013 and  
  ●  $25 million interest rate swap at a fixed rate of 5.587% per annum, variable rate adjusted on the 1 st and 16 th of each month, matures June 15, 

2016.  
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We receive interest on all of the interest rate swaps at the one-month LIBOR rate. The one-month LIBOR rate at December 31, 2012 was 0.21% per 
annum, as reported in the Wall Street Journal.  
 
The fair value of our interest rate swap agreements represents the estimated receipts or payments that would be made to terminate the agreements. These 
amounts related to our cash flow hedges are recorded as deferred gains or losses in our Consolidated Balance Sheets with the offset recorded in 
accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax. Changes to the fair value of discontinued cash flow hedges are recognized into earnings as a 
component of floor plan interest expense. At December 31, 2012, the fair value of all of our agreements was a liability of $4.7 million. The estimated 
amount expected to be reclassified into earnings within the next twelve months was $1.9 million at December 31, 2012.  
 
Risk Management Policies  
We assess interest rate cash flow risk by continually identifying and monitoring changes in interest rate exposures that may adversely impact expected 
future cash flows and by evaluating hedging opportunities. Our policy is to manage this risk through a mix of fixed rate and variable rate debt structures 
and interest rate swaps.  
 
We maintain risk management control systems to monitor interest rate cash flow attributable to both our outstanding and forecasted debt obligations, as 
well as our offsetting hedge positions. The risk management control systems involve the use of analytical techniques, including cash flow sensitivity 
analysis, to estimate the expected impact of changes in interest rates on our future cash flows.  
 
Item 8.    Financial Statements and Supplementary Financial Data  
 
The financial statements and notes thereto required by this item begin on page F-1 as listed in Item 15 of Part IV of this document. Quarterly financial 
data   for each of the eight quarters in the two-year period ended December 31, 2012 is included in Item 7.  
   
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure  
 
None.  
 
Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures  
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  
Our management evaluated, with the participation and under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness 
of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on this evaluation, our Chief 
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information we are 
required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is accumulated and communicated to our management, 
including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and that 
such information is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and 
forms.  
 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that has materially affected or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting .  
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.  
 
Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012. In making this assessment, we used 
the criteria set forth in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 
Based on our assessment using those criteria, our management concluded that, as of December 31, 2012, our internal control over financial reporting was 
effective.  
 
KPMG LLP, our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2012, which is included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.  
 
Item 9B.    Other Information  
 
None.  
 

PART III  
 
Item 10.    Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance  
 
Information required by this item will be included under the captions Election of Directors, Committees of the Board of Directors , Audit Committee 
Independence and Financial Expert , Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, Named Executive Officers and Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting 
Compliance in our Proxy Statement for our 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and, upon filing, is incorporated herein by reference.  
 
Item 11.    Executive Compensation  
 
The information required by this item will be included under the captions Compensation of Directors, Compensation Committee Report, Compensation 
Discussion and Analysis, Executive Compensation, Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change-in-Control, Company Compensation Policies and 
Practices, Risk Analysis and Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation in our Proxy Statement for our 2013 Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders and, upon filing, is incorporated herein by reference.  
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Item 12.    Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management  
 
Equity Compensation Plan Information  
   
The following table summarizes equity securities authorized for issuance as of December 31, 2012.  
   

 

 
The additional information required by this item will be included under the caption Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management in 
our Proxy Statement for our 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and, upon filing, is incorporated herein by reference.  
 
Item 13.    Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence  
 
The information required by this item will be included under the captions Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence in 
our Proxy Statement for our 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and, upon filing, is incorporated herein by reference.  
 
Item 14.    Principal Accountant Fees and Services  
 
Information required by this item will be included under the caption Fees Paid to KPMG LLP Related to Fiscal 2012 and 2011 and Pre-Approval Policies 
in our Proxy Statement for our 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and, upon filing, is incorporated herein by reference.  
   

  

Plan Category    

Number of 
securities to be 

issued upon 
exercise of 

outstanding 
options, warrants 

and rights (a)      

Weighted average 
exercise price of 

outstanding 
options, warrants 

and rights (b)      

Number of 
securities 
remaining 

available for 
future issuance 
under equity 
compensation 

plans (excluding 
securities reflected 
in column (a)) (c) 

(2)    
Equity compensation plans approved by shareholders                  1,349,152   

Options      253,499     $ 6.26           
Restricted stock u nits      583,463     NA (1)            

                          
Equity compensation plans not approved by shareholders      -      -      -  

Total      836,962     $ 6.26 (1)     1,349,152   

(1)   There is no exercise price associated with our restricted stock units. The total weighted average exercise price is shown with respect to options only.  
(2)   Includes 667,859 shares available pursuant to our 2003 Stock Incentive Plan and 681,293 shares available pursuant to our Employee Stock Purchase 

Plan.  
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PART IV  

 
Item 15.    Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules  
 
Financial Statements and Schedules  
The Consolidated Financial Statements, together with the report thereon of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, are included on 
the pages indicated below:  
 

 
There are no schedules required to be filed herewith.  
 
Exhibits  
The following exhibits are filed herewith and this list is intended to constitute the exhibit index. An asterisk (*) beside the exhibit number indicates the 
exhibits containing a management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement, which are required to be identified in this report.  
 

   

  

  Page  

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  F-1, F-2  
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2012 and 2011  F-3  
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010  F-4  
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010  F-5  
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010  F-6  
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010  F-7  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  F-8  

Exhibit  Description  

3.1  Restated Articles of Incorporation of Lithia Motors, Inc., as amended May 13, 1999 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1 to the 
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999)  

    
3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Lithia Motors, Inc. (Corrected) (incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Form 10-K 

for the year ended December 31, 2008)  
    
10.1*  2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2009 annual 

meeting of shareholders filed on March 20, 2009)  
    
10.2*  Lithia Motors, Inc. 2001 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2001 

annual meeting of shareholders filed on May 8, 2001)  
    
10.2.1*  Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement for 2001 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.6.1 to the Company’s 

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001)  
    
10.2.2*  Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for 2001 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.6.2 to the 

Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001)  
    
10.3  Lithia Motors, Inc. Amended and Restated 2003 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 

10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2011)  
    
10.3.1  RSU Deferral Plan (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.3.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011)  
    
10.4*  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Senior Executives (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 10-K 

for the year ended December 31, 2010)  
    
10.4.1* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Non-Executive Officers (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.4.1 to the Company’s Form 

10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010)  
    
10.4.2* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Non-Executive Directors (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.4.2  to the Company’s 

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010)  
    
10.5*  Written description of Discretionary Support Services Variable Performance Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference from the 

Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting under the caption Compensation Discussion and Analysis - Elements of 
Compensation Program )  

    
10.6  Chrysler Corporation Sales and Service Agreement Additional Terms and Provisions (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.3.2 to the 

Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration Statement No. 333-14031, as declared effective by the Securities Exchange 
Commission on December 18, 1996)  
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Exhibit  Description  

10.6.1  Chrysler Corporation Chrysler Sales and Service Agreement, dated September 28, 1999, between Chrysler Corporation and Lithia 
Chrysler Plymouth Jeep Eagle, Inc. (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.15.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 1999 (Additional Terms and Provisions to the Sales and Service Agreements are in Exhibit 10.9) (1))  

    
10.7  Mercury Sales and Service Agreement General Provisions (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.6.5 to the Company’s Registration 

Statement on Form S-1, Reg. No. 333-14031)  
    
10.7.1  Supplemental Terms and Conditions agreement between Ford Motor Company and Lithia Motors, Inc. dated June 12, 1997 (incorporated 

by reference to exhibit 10.7.2 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997)  
    
10.7.2  Mercury Sales and Service Agreement, dated June 1, 1997, between Ford Motor Company and Lithia TLM, LLC dba Lithia Lincoln 

Mercury (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.7.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997) (general 
provisions are in Exhibit 10.10) (2)  

    
10.8  Volkswagen Dealer Agreement Standard Provisions (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.16.2 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the 

year ended December 31, 1997)  
    
10.8.1  Volkswagen Dealer Agreement dated September 17, 1998, between Volkswagen of America, Inc. and Lithia HPI, Inc. dba Lithia 

Volkswagen (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.17.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 (standard 
provisions are in Exhibit 10.11) (3)  

    
10.9  General Motors Dealer Sales and Service Agreement Standard Provisions (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.7.2 to the Company’s 

Registration Statement on Form S-1, Reg. No. 333-14031)  
    
10.9.1  Supplemental Agreement to General Motors Corporation Dealer Sales and Service Agreement dated January 16, 1998 (incorporated by 

reference to exhibit 10.18.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999)  
    
10.9.2  Chevrolet Dealer Sales and Service Agreement dated October 13, 1998 between General Motors Corporation, Chevrolet Motor Division 

and Camp Automotive, Inc. (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.31 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
1998) (4)  

    
10.10  Toyota Dealer Agreement Standard Provisions (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.10.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on 

Form S-1, Reg. No. 333-14031)  
    
10.10.1  Toyota Dealer Agreement, between Toyota Motor Sales, USA, Inc. and Lithia Motors, Inc., dba Lithia Toyota, dated February 15, 1996 

(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.20.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999) (5)  
    
10.11  Nissan Standard Provisions (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.15.2 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 

1997)  
    
10.11.1  Nissan Public Ownership Addendum dated August 30, 1999 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.22.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K 

for the year ended December 31, 1999) (6)  

10.11.2  Nissan Dealer Term Sales and Service Agreement between Lithia Motors, Inc., Lithia NF, Inc., and the Nissan Division of Nissan Motor 
Corporation In USA dated January 2, 1998 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.15.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 1997) (standard provisions are in Exhibit 10.14) (7)  

    
10.12  Lease Agreement between CAR LIT, LLC and Lithia Real Estate, Inc. relating to properties in Medford, Oregon (incorporated by 

reference to exhibit 10.36 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999) (8)  
    
10.13*  Non Employee Director Compensation Plan 2010/2011 Service Year (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Form 

10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011)  
    
10.13.1* Non Employee Director Compensation Plan 2012/2013 Service Year  
    
10.14*  Form of Outside Director Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Agreement (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s 

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005)  
    
10.15  Option Agreement between the Company and M. L. Dick Heimann dated December 31, 2009 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 99.1 to 

the Company’s Form 8-K filed January 5, 2010)  
    
10.15.1*  Executive Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Agreement between the Company and M. L. Dick Heimann dated December 31, 2009 

(incorporated by reference to exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed January 5, 2010)  
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Exhibit  Description  

10.16  
   
   

Loan Agreement dated as of April 17, 2012 between Lithia Motors, Inc., and U.S. Bank National Association, as agent for the lenders, and 
U.S. Bank National Association, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Mercedes-Benz Financial Services USA LLC, Toyota Motor Credit 
Corporation, BMW Financial Services N.A., LLC, Nissan Motor Acceptance Corporation, Bank of America, N.A., Wells Fargo Bank, 
N.A., Bank of the West and Key Bank National Association, as lenders (incorporated by reference to exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Form 
8-K filed April 20, 2012)  

    
10.16.1  Amendment to Loan Agreement dated December 19, 2012 with U.S. Bank National Association as agent for the lenders, and U.S. Bank 

National Association, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Mercedes-Benz Financial Services USA LLC, Toyota Motor Credit Corporation, 
BMW Financial Services N.A., LLC, Nissan Motor Acceptance Corporation, Bank of America, N.A., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., Bank of 
the West and KeyBank National Association, as lenders (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed 
December 24, 2012)  

10.17*  Amended and Restated Split-Dollar Agreement  
    
10.18*  Terms of Amended Employment and Change in Control Agreement between Lithia Motors, Inc. and Sidney B. DeBoer dated January 15, 

2009 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008) (9)  
    
10.19*  Form of Indemnity Agreement for each Named Executive Officer (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K 

filed May 29, 2009)  
    
10.20*  Form of Indemnity Agreement for each non-management Director (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K 

filed May 29, 2009)  
    
10.21*  Executive Management Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation and Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.22 

to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010)  
    
10.21.1*  Form of Executive Management Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation and Long-Term Incentive Plan – Notice of Discretionary 

Contribution Award for Sidney DeBoer (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.22.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2010)  

    
10.21.2*  Form of Executive Management Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation and Long-Term Incentive Plan – Notice of Discretionary 

Contribution Award (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.22.2 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010)  
    
10.22  Acquisition and Option Termination Agreement with M.L. Dick Heimann dated December 16, 2011 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 

99.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed December 22, 2011)  
    
10.22.1*  Form of Membership Purchase Agreement with M.L. Dick Heimann (incorporated by reference to exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Form 8-

K filed December 22, 2011)  
    
10.23*  Employment Agreement with Executive Vice President Brad Gray dated March 1, 2012 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 to the 

Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012)  
    
10.24* Form of Amended Employment and Change in Control Agreement dated February 22, 2013 between the Company and each of Scott 

Hillier, Bryan B. DeBoer, John F. North III and Chris Holzshu  
    
12  Ratio of Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges  
    
21  Subsidiaries of Lithia Motors, Inc.  

23  Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
    
31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  
    
31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  
    
32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 

U.S.C. Section 1350.  
    
32.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 

U.S.C. Section 1350.  
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Exhibit  Description  
101.INS  XBRL Instance Document.  
101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.  
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.  
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.  
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.  
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.  

(1)   Substantially identical agreements exist between DaimlerChrysler Motor Company, LLC and those other subsidiaries operating Dodge, Chrysler, 
Plymouth or Jeep dealerships.  

(2)   Substantially identical agreements exist for its Ford and Lincoln-Mercury lines between Ford Motor Company and those other subsidiaries operating 
Ford or Lincoln-Mercury dealerships.  

(3)   Substantially identical agreements exist between Volkswagen of America, Inc. and those subsidiaries operating Volkswagen dealerships.  
(4)   Substantially identical agreements exist between Chevrolet Motor Division, GM Corporation and those other subsidiaries operating General Motors 

dealerships.  
(5)   Substantially identical agreements exist (except the terms are all 2 years) between Toyota Motor Sales, USA, Inc. and those other subsidiaries 

operating Toyota dealerships.  
(6)   Substantially identical documents exist with each Nissan store.  
(7)   Substantially identical agreements exist between Nissan Motor Corporation and those other subsidiaries operating Nissan dealerships.  
(8)   Lithia Real Estate, Inc. leases all the property in Medford, Oregon sold to CAR LIT, LLC under substantially identical leases covering six separate 

blocks of property.  
(9)   Substantially similar agreements exist between Lithia Motors, Inc. and each of M.L. Dick Heimann, Bryan B. DeBoer, Christopher S. Holzshu and 

John F. North III.  
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SIGNATURES  
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  
   

   
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
Registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 22, 2013:  
   

   

  

Date:  February 22, 2013       LITHIA MOTORS, INC.   
        
        
  By: /s/Bryan B. DeBoer   
  Bryan B. DeBoer   
  Director, President and   
  Chief Executive Officer   

Signature    Title  
      
/s/ Bryan B. DeBoer    Director, President and Chief Executive Officer  
Bryan B. DeBoer   (Principal Executive Officer)  
      
/s/ Christopher S. 
Holzshu  

  Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer  

Christopher S. Holzshu   and Secretary (Principal Financial Officer)  
      
/s/John F. North III    Vice President and Corporate Controller  
John F. North III   (Principal Accounting Officer)  
      
/s/Thomas Becker    Director  
Thomas Becker     
      
/s/Susan O. Cain    Director  
Susan O. Cain     
       
/s/Sidney B. DeBoer    Director  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

   
   
The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Lithia Motors, Inc.:  
   
We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets of Lithia Motors, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the 
related Consolidated Statements of Operations, Comprehensive Income, Changes in Stockholders’ Equity, and Cash Flows for each of the years in the 
three-year period ended December 31, 2012. These Consolidated Financial Statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these Consolidated Financial Statements based on our audits.  
   
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe 
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
   
In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial Statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Lithia Motors, Inc. 
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period 
ended December 31, 2012, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  
   
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Lithia Motors, Inc.’s internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated February 22, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  
   
/s/ KPMG LLP  
   
Portland, Oregon  
February 22, 2013  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

   
   
The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Lithia Motors, Inc.:  
   
We have audited Lithia Motors, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control 
– Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Lithia Motors, Inc.’s management 
is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.  
   
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing 
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
   
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately 
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as 
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of 
the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.  
   
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation 
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  
   
In our opinion, Lithia Motors, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based 
on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  
   
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets of Lithia Motors, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related Consolidated Statements of Operations, Comprehensive 
Income, Changes in Stockholders’ Equity, and Cash Flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2012, and our report dated 
February 22, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion on those Consolidated Financial Statements.  
   
   
   
/s/ KPMG LLP  
   
Portland, Oregon  
February 22, 2013  
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LITHIA MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

Consolidated Balance Sheets  
(In thousands)  

   

  
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  

   

  

    December 31,   

    2012      2011    
Assets              

Current Assets:              
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 42,839     $ 20,851   
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $336 and $261      133,149       99,407   
Inventories, net      723,326       506,484   
Deferred income taxes      3,832       4,730   
Other current assets      17,484       16,719   
Assets held for sale      12,579       -  

Total Current Assets      933,209       648,191   
                  
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $97,883 and $99,115      425,086       373,779   
Goodwill      32,047       18,958   
Franchise value      62,429       59,095   
Deferred income taxes      17,123       29,270   
Other non-current assets      22,808       16,840   

Total Assets    $ 1,492,702     $ 1,146,133   

                  
                   
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity                  
Current Liabilities:                  

Floor plan notes payable    $ 13,454     $ 114,760   
Floor plan notes payable: non-trade      568,130       229,180   
Current maturities of long-term debt      8,182       8,221   
Trade payables      41,589       31,712   
Accrued liabilities      81,602       72,711   
Liabilities related to assets held for sale      8,347       -  

Total Current Liabilities      721,304       456,584   
                  
Long-term debt, less current maturities      286,876       278,653   
Deferred revenue      33,589       25,146   
Other long-term liabilities      22,832       18,629   

Total Liabilities      1,064,601       779,012   
                  
Stockholders' Equity:                  

Preferred stock - no par value; authorized 15,000 shares; none outstanding      -      -  
Class A common stock - no par value; authorized 100,000 shares; issued and outstanding 22,916 and 

22,195      268,801       279,366   
Class B common stock - no par value; authorized 25,000 shares; issued and outstanding 2,762 and 3,762      343       468   
Additional paid-in capital      12,399       10,918   
Accumulated other comprehensive loss      (2,615 )     (4,508 ) 
Retained earnings      149,173       80,877   

Total Stockholders' Equity      428,101       367,121   
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity    $ 1,492,702     $ 1,146,133   
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LITHIA MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

Consolidated Statements of Operations  
(In thousands, except per share amounts)  

  

   
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  

   

  

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2012      2011      2010    
Revenues:                    

New vehicle    $ 1,847,603     $ 1,391,375     $ 1,020,883   
Used vehicle retail      833,484       678,571       558,105   
Used vehicle wholesale      139,237       128,329       103,817   
Finance and insurance      112,234       84,130       64,217   
Service, body and parts      347,703       315,958       277,945   
Fleet and other      36,226       34,383       11,655   

Total revenues      3,316,487       2,632,746       2,036,622   
Cost of sales:                          

New vehicle      1,713,156       1,284,225       937,237   
Used vehicle retail      711,763       580,357       479,310   
Used vehicle wholesale      137,823       127,732       103,114   
Service, body and parts      179,633       163,738       144,003   
Fleet and other      34,812       31,410       10,012   

Total cost of sales      2,777,187       2,187,462       1,673,676   
Gross profit      539,300       445,284       362,946   
Asset impairments      115       1,376       15,301   
Selling, general and administrative      373,688       316,663       284,163   
Depreciation and amortization      17,128       16,427       17,012   

Operating income      148,369       110,818       46,470   
Floor plan interest expense      (12,816 )     (10,364 )     (10,155 ) 
Other interest expense      (9,621 )     (12,878 )     (14,523 ) 
Other income, net      2,525       694       420   

Income from continuing operations before income taxes      128,457       88,270       22,212   
Income tax provision      (49,062 )     (33,060 )     (8,625 ) 
Income from continuing operations, net of income tax      79,395       55,210       13,587   
Income from discontinued operations, net of income tax      967       3,650       132   
Net income    $ 80,362     $ 58,860     $ 13,719   

                          
Basic income per share from continuing operations    $ 3.09     $ 2.10     $ 0.52   
Basic income per share from discontinued operations      0.04       0.14       0.01   
Basic net income per share    $ 3.13     $ 2.24     $ 0.53   

                          
Shares used in basic per share calculations      25,696       26,230       26,062   

                          
Diluted income per share from continuing operations    $ 3.03     $ 2.07     $ 0.52   
Diluted income per share from discontinued operations      0.04       0.14       -  
Diluted net income per share    $ 3.07     $ 2.21     $ 0.52   

                          
Shares used in diluted per share calculations      26,170       26,664       26,279   
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LITHIA MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income  
(In thousands)  

   

   
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  

   

  

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2012      2011      2010    
Net income    $ 80,362     $ 58,860     $ 13,719   
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:                          

Gain (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax expense (benefit) of $1,175, $195 and $(626)      1,893       361       (1,019 ) 
Comprehensive income    $ 82,255     $ 59,221     $ 12,700   
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LITHIA MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity  
(In thousands)  

   

   
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  

   

  

    Common Stock     Additional     

Accumulated 
Other  

Compre-  
hensive            

Total  
Stock-    

    Class A     Class B      Paid In      Income      Retained     holders'    
    Shares      Amount      Shares      Amount      Capital      (Loss)      Earnings     Equity    
Balance at December 31, 2009      22,036     $ 280,880       3,762     $ 468     $ 10,501     $ (3,850 )   $ 19,039     $ 307,038   
Net income      -      -      -      -      -      -      13,719       13,719   
Fair value of interest rate swap 

agreements, net of tax benefit of $626      -      -      -      -      -      (1,019 )     -      (1,019 ) 
Issuance of stock in connection with 

employee stock plans      658       4,192       -      -      -      -      -      4,192   
Shares forfeited by employees      (9 )     -      -      -      -      -      -      -  
Repurchase of Class A common stock      (162 )     (1,626 )     -      -      -      -      -      (1,626 ) 
Compensation for stock and stock option 

issuances and excess tax benefits from 
option exercises      -      1,361       -      -      471       -      -      1,832   

Dividends paid      -      -      -      -      -      -      (3,919 )     (3,919 ) 
Balance at December 31, 2010      22,523       284,807       3,762       468       10,972       (4,869 )     28,839       320,217   
Net income      -      -      -      -      -      -      58,860       58,860   
Fair value of interest rate swap 

agreements, net of tax expense of $195      -      -      -      -      -      361       -      361   
Issuance of stock in connection with 

employee stock plans      438       5,654       -      -      -      -      -      5,654   
Issuance of restricted stock to employees      11       -      -      -      -      -      -      -  
Shares forfeited by employees      (5 )     -      -      -      -      -      -      -  
Repurchase of Class A common stock      (772 )     (13,568 )     -      -      -      -      -      (13,568 ) 
Compensation for stock and stock option 

issuances and excess tax benefits from 
option exercises      -      2,473       -      -      (54 )     -      -      2,419   

Dividends paid      -      -      -      -      -      -      (6,822 )     (6,822 ) 
Balance at December 31, 2011      22,195       279,366       3,762       468       10,918       (4,508 )     80,877       367,121   
Net income      -      -      -      -      -      -      80,362       80,362   
Fair value of interest rate swap 

agreements, net of tax expense of $1,175     -      -      -      -      -      1,893       -      1,893   
Issuance of stock in connection with 

employee stock plans      647       8,652       -      -      -      -      -      8,652   
Issuance of restricted stock to employees      3       -      -      -      -      -      -      -  
Repurchase of Class A common stock      (929 )     (23,279 )     -      -      -      -      -      (23,279 ) 
Class B commons stock converted to Class 

A common stock      1,000       125       (1,000 )     (125 )                             -  
Compensation for stock and stock option 

issuances and excess tax benefits from 
option exercises      -      3,937       -      -      1,481       -      -      5,418   

Dividends paid      -      -      -      -      -      -      (12,066 )     (12,066 ) 
Balance at December 31, 2012      22,916     $ 268,801       2,762     $ 343     $ 12,399     $ (2,615 )   $ 149,173     $ 428,101   

  
F-6 



LITHIA MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  

(In thousands)  
   

  

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2012      2011      2010    
Cash flows from operating activities:                    

Net income    $ 80,362     $ 58,860     $ 13,719   
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:                    

Asset impairments      115       1,376       15,301   
Depreciation and amortization      17,128       16,427       17,012   
Depreciation and amortization within discontinued operations      186       521       574   
Stock-based compensation      3,116       2,001       2,419   
Gain on disposal of other assets      (747 )     (6,495 )     (107 ) 
(Gain) loss from disposal activities within discontinued operations      621       (4,396 )     301   
Deferred income taxes      14,172       8,093       (2,131 ) 
Excess tax benefit from share-based payment arrangements      (2,802 )     (525 )     (264 ) 
(Increase) decrease (net of acquisitions and dispositions):                          

Trade receivables, net      (33,704 )     (22,503 )     (22,881 ) 
Inventories      (230,442 )     (78,202 )     (68,305 ) 
Other current assets      (4,194 )     (13,111 )     (1,633 ) 
Other non-current assets      (6,176 )     (1,108 )     (2,029 ) 

Increase (decrease) (net of acquisitions and dispositions):                          
Floor plan notes payable      (82,109 )     13,510       10,550   
Trade payables      8,001       5,998       4,960   
Accrued liabilities      10,538       11,605       10,029   
Other long-term liabilities and deferred revenue      13,459       7,183       1,155   

Net cash used in operating activities      (212,476 )     (766 )     (21,330 ) 
                          
Cash flows from investing activities:                          

Principal payments received on notes receivable      946       121       85   
Capital expenditures      (64,584 )     (31,673 )     (7,589 ) 
Proceeds from sales of assets      6,027       29,677       10,288   
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired      (44,716 )     (60,485 )     (23,691 ) 
Payments for life insurance policies      (3,288 )     (900 )     -  
Proceeds from sales of stores      6,618       23,838       941   

Net cash used in investing activities      (98,997 )     (39,422 )     (19,966 ) 
                          
Cash flows from financing activities:                          

Borrowings on floor plan notes payable: non-trade      348,477       63,145       24,090   
Borrowings on lines of credit      592,623       56,000       40,000   
Repayments on lines of credit      (580,269 )     (9,000 )     (24,000 ) 
Principal payments on long-term debt, scheduled      (8,347 )     (10,909 )     (8,248 ) 
Principal payments on long-term debt and capital leases, other      (40,765 )     (55,666 )     (40,146 ) 
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt      42,333       25,674       47,219   
Proceeds from issuance of common stock      8,652       5,654       4,192   
Repurchase of common stock      (23,279 )     (13,568 )     (1,626 ) 
Excess tax benefit from share-based payment arrangements      2,802       525       264   
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash      3,300       (3,300 )     -  
Dividends paid      (12,066 )     (6,822 )     (3,919 ) 

Net cash provided by financing activities      333,461       51,733       37,826   
                          
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents      21,988       11,545       (3,470 ) 
                          
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year      20,851       9,306       12,776   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year    $ 42,839     $ 20,851     $ 9,306   
                          
                          
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:                          

Cash paid during the period for interest    $ 22,976     $ 24,961     $ 25,357   
Cash paid during the period for income taxes, net      36,579       33,722       8,000   

                          
Supplemental schedule of non-cash activities:                          



   
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  

Debt issued in connection with acquisitions      2,609       -      63   
Floor plan debt acquired in connection with acquisitions      -      19,348       1,856   
Acquisition of assets with capital leases      2,609       -      77   
Floor plan debt paid in connection with store disposals      6,712       1,784       2,134   
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LITHIA MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

(1)           Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Organization and Business  
We are a leading operator of automotive franchises and a retailer of new and used vehicles and services. As of December 31, 2012, we offered 27 

brands of new vehicles and all brands of used vehicles in 87 stores in the United States and online at Lithia.com . We sell new and used cars and trucks 
and replacement parts; provide vehicle maintenance, warranty, paint and repair services; and arrange related financing, service contracts, protection 
products and credit insurance.  

Our dealerships are primarily located throughout the Western and Midwestern regions of the United States. We target mid-sized regional markets 
for domestic and import franchises and metropolitan markets for luxury franchises. We believe this strategy enables brand exclusivity with minimal 
competition from other dealerships with the same franchise in the market.  

Basis of Presentation  
The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements reflect the results of operations, the financial position and the cash flows for Lithia 

Motors, Inc. and its directly and indirectly wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
The results of operations of stores classified as discontinued operations have been presented on a comparable basis for all periods presented in the 
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.  See Note 16.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash on hand and cash in bank accounts without restrictions.  

Accounts Receivable  
Accounts receivable include amounts due from the following:  

Receivables are recorded at invoice and do not bear interest until such time as they are 60 days past due. The allowance for doubtful accounts is 
estimated based on our historical write-off experience and is reviewed on a monthly basis. Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all 
appropriate means of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote. The annual activity for charges and subsequent 
recoveries are immaterial. See Note 2.  

Inventories  
Inventories are valued at the lower of market value or cost, using a pooled approach for vehicles and the specific identification method for parts. 

The cost of new and used vehicle inventories includes the cost of any equipment added, reconditioning and transportation.  

Manufacturers reimburse us for holdbacks, floor plan interest assistance and advertising assistance, which are reflected as a reduction in the 
carrying value of each vehicle purchased. We recognize advertising assistance, floor plan interest assistance, holdbacks, cash incentives and other rebates 
received from manufacturers that are tied to specific vehicles as a reduction to cost of sales as the related vehicles are sold.  

Parts purchase discounts that we receive from the manufacturer are reflected as a reduction in the carrying value of the parts purchased from the 
manufacturer and are recognized as a reduction to cost of goods sold as the related inventory is sold. See Note 3.  

   

  

  •  various lenders for the financing of vehicles sold;  
  •  customers for vehicles sold and service and parts sales;  
  •  manufacturers for factory rebates, dealer incentives and warranty reimbursement; and  
  •  insurance companies, finance companies, and other miscellaneous receivables.  
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Property and Equipment  
Property and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on the straight-line basis. Leasehold improvements 

made at the inception of the lease or during the term of the lease are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the life of the improvement or 
the remaining term of the lease.  
   

The range of estimated useful lives is as follows:  
   

The cost for maintenance, repairs and minor renewals is expensed as incurred, while significant remodels and betterments are capitalized. In 
addition, interest on borrowings for major capital projects, significant remodels and betterments are capitalized. Capitalized interest becomes a part of the 
cost of the depreciable asset and is depreciated according to the estimated useful lives as previously stated. For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 
2011, we recorded capitalized interest of $0.3 million and $0.2   million, respectively. We recorded no capitalized interest in 2010.  

When an asset is retired or otherwise disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any gain or 
loss is credited or charged to income from continuing operations.  

Leased property meeting certain criteria is capitalized and the present value of the related lease payments is recorded as a liability. Amortization 
of capitalized leased assets is computed on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, unless the lease transfers title or it contains a bargain purchase 
option, in which case, it is amortized over the asset’s useful life, and is included in depreciation expense.  

Long-lived assets held and used by us are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of assets 
may not be recoverable. We consider several factors when evaluating whether there are indications of potential impairment related to our long-lived 
assets, including store profitability, overall macroeconomic factors and impact of our strategic management decisions. If recoverability testing is 
performed, we evaluate assets to be held and used by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to future net undiscounted cash flows associated with the 
asset, including its disposition. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value 
of the assets is recognized as a charge to income from continuing operations.  See Note 4.  

Goodwill  
Goodwill represents the excess purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired which is not allocable to separately identifiable intangible 

assets. Other identifiable intangible assets, such as franchise rights, are separately recognized if the intangible asset is obtained through contractual or 
other legal right or if the intangible asset can be sold, transferred, licensed or exchanged.  

Goodwill is not amortized but tested for impairment at least annually, and more frequently if events or circumstances indicate the carrying value 
of the reporting unit more likely than not exceeds fair value. We have the option to qualitatively or quantitatively assess goodwill for impairment and in 
2012 evaluated our goodwill using a quantitative assessment process. We have determined that we operate as one reporting unit for the goodwill 
impairment test.  

We test our goodwill for impairment on October 1 of each year.  We used an Adjusted Present Value (“APV”) method, a fair-value based test, to 
indicate the fair value of our reporting unit. Under the APV method, future cash flows based on recently prepared operating forecasts and business plans 
are used to estimate the future economic benefits generated by the reporting unit. Operating forecasts and cash flows include estimated revenue growth 
rates based on management’s forecasted sales projections and on U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics for historical consumer price index 
data. A discount rate is utilized to convert the forecasted cash flows to their present value equivalent representing the indicated fair value of our reporting 
unit. The discount rate applied to the future cash flows factors an equity market risk premium, small stock risk premium, an average peer group beta and a 
risk-free interest rate. We compare the indicated fair value of our reporting unit to our market capitalization, including consideration of a control premium. 
The control premium represents the estimated amount an investor would pay to obtain a controlling interest. We believe this reconciliation is consistent 
with a market participant perspective.  

   

  

Buildings and improvements (years)  5 to 40 
Service equipment (years)  5 to 15 
Furniture, office equipment, signs and fixtures (years)  3 to 10 
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The quantitative impairment test of goodwill is a two step process. The first step identifies potential impairment by comparing the estimated fair 
value of a reporting unit with its book value. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying amount, goodwill is not impaired and the second 
step is not necessary. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, the second step includes determining the implied fair value in the same manner as the 
amount of goodwill recognized in a business combination is determined. The implied fair value of goodwill is then compared with the carrying amount of 
goodwill to determine if an impairment loss is necessary.  See Note 5.  

Franchise Value  
We enter into agreements (“Franchise Agreements”) with the manufacturers. Franchise value represents a right received under Franchise 

Agreements with manufacturers and is identified on an individual store basis.  

We evaluated the useful lives of our Franchise Agreements based on the following factors:  

Accordingly, we have determined that our Franchise Agreements will continue to contribute to our cash flows indefinitely and, therefore, have 
indefinite lives.  

As an indefinite-lived intangible asset, franchise value is tested for impairment at least annually, and more frequently if events or circumstances 
indicate the carrying value may exceed fair value. The impairment test for indefinite-lived intangible assets requires the comparison of estimated fair 
value to carrying value. An impairment charge is recorded to the extent the fair value is less than the carrying value. We have the option to early adopt an 
accounting amendment that allows us to qualitatively assess indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment. In 2012 we evaluated our indefinite-lived 
intangible assets using a quantitative assessment process. We have determined the appropriate unit of accounting for testing franchise value for 
impairment is on an individual store basis.  

We test our franchise value for impairment on October 1 of each year. The quantitative assessment uses a multi-period excess earnings 
(“MPEE”) model to estimate the fair value of our franchises. We have determined that only certain cash flows of the store are directly attributable to 
franchise rights. Future cash flows are based on recently prepared operating forecasts and business plans to estimate the future economic benefits that the 
store will generate. Operating forecasts and cash flows include estimated revenue growth rates that are calculated based on management’s forecasted sales 
projections and on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics for historical consumer price index data. Additionally, we use a contributory 
asset charge to represent working capital, personal property and assembled workforce costs. A discount rate is utilized to convert the forecasted cash flows 
to their present value equivalent. The discount rate applied to the future cash flows factors an equity market risk premium, small stock risk premium, an 
average peer group beta and a risk-free interest rate. See Note 5.  

   

  

  ●  certain of our Franchise Agreements continue indefinitely by their terms;  
  ●  certain of our Franchise Agreements have limited terms, but are routinely renewed without substantial cost to us;  
  ●  other than franchise terminations related to the unprecedented reorganizations of Chrysler and General Motors, and allowed by bankruptcy 

law, we are not aware of manufacturers terminating Franchise Agreements against the wishes of the franchise owners under the ordinary 
course of business. A manufacturer may pressure a franchise owner to sell a franchise when the owner is in breach of the franchise 
agreement over an extended period of time;  

  ●  state dealership franchise laws typically limit the rights of the manufacturer to terminate or not renew a franchise;  
  ●  we are not aware of any legislation or other factors that would materially change the retail automotive franchise system; and  
  ●  as evidenced by our acquisition and disposition history, there is an active market for most automotive dealership franchises within the United 

States. We attribute value to the Franchise Agreements acquired with the dealerships we purchase based on the understanding and industry 
practice that the Franchise Agreements will be renewed indefinitely by the manufacturer.  
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Advertising  
We expense production and other costs of advertising as incurred as a component of selling, general and administrative expense. Additionally, 

manufacturer cooperative advertising credits for qualifying, specifically-identified advertising expenditures are recognized as a reduction of advertising 
expense.  

Advertising expense, net of manufacturer cooperative advertising credits, was $31.9 million, $23.9 million and $25.4 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Manufacturer cooperative advertising credits were $9.6 million in 2012, $7.8 million in 2011 and $2.5 
million in 2010.  

Income and Other Taxes  
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax 

consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases 
and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable 
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a 
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance, if needed, reduces deferred tax assets 
when it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.  

When there are situations with uncertainty as to the timing of the deduction, the amount of the deduction, or the validity of the deduction, we 
adjust our financial statements to reflect only those tax positions that are more-likely-than-not to be sustained. Positions that meet this criterion are 
measured using the largest benefit that is more than 50% likely to be realized. Interest and penalties are recorded in the period incurred or accrued when 
related to an uncertain tax position. See Note 14.  

   
We account for all taxes assessed by a governmental authority that are directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction (i.e., sales, use, 

value-added) on a net (excluded from revenues) basis.  

Concentration of Risk and Uncertainties  
We purchase substantially all of our new vehicles and inventory from various manufacturers at the prevailing prices charged by auto makers to 

all franchised dealers. Our overall sales could be impacted by the auto manufacturers’ inability or unwillingness to supply the dealership with an adequate 
supply of popular models.  

We depend on our manufacturers to provide a supply of vehicles which supports expected sales levels. In the event that manufacturers are unable 
to supply the needed level of vehicles, our financial performance may be adversely impacted.  

We depend on our manufacturers to deliver high-quality, defect-free vehicles. In the event that manufacturers experience future quality issues, 
our financial performance may be adversely impacted.  

We are subject to a concentration of risk in the event of financial distress, including potential reorganization or bankruptcy, of a major vehicle 
manufacturer. Our sales volume could be materially adversely impacted by the manufacturers’ or distributors’ inability to supply the stores with an 
adequate supply of vehicles. We also receive incentives and rebates from our manufacturers, including cash allowances, financing programs, discounts, 
holdbacks and other incentives. These incentives are recorded as receivables on our Consolidated Balance Sheets until payment is received. Our financial 
condition could be materially adversely impacted by the manufacturers’ or distributors’ inability to continue to offer these incentives and rebates at 
substantially similar terms, or to pay our outstanding receivables.  
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We enter into Franchise Agreements with the manufacturers. The Franchise Agreements generally limit the location of the dealership and 
provide the auto manufacturer approval rights over changes in dealership management and ownership. The auto manufacturers are also entitled to 
terminate the Franchise Agreement if the dealership is in material breach of the terms. Our ability to expand operations depends, in part, on obtaining 
consents of the manufacturers for the acquisition of additional dealerships. See also “Goodwill” and “Franchise Value” above.  

We have a credit facility with a syndicate of 10 financial institutions, including four manufacturer-affiliated finance companies. Several of these 
financial institutions also provide mortgage financing. This credit facility is the primary source of floor plan financing for our new vehicle inventory and 
also provides used vehicle financing and a revolving line of credit. The term of the facility extends through April 2017, which provides a financing 
commitment for the next four years. At maturity our financial condition could be materially adversely impacted if lenders are unable to provide credit that 
has typically been extended to us or with terms unacceptable to us.  

Our financial condition could be materially adversely impacted if these providers incur losses in the future or undergo funding limitations. 
Additionally, we exercised an option to increase the size of the credit facility within the first eight months of the agreement. We anticipate continued 
organic growth and growth through acquisitions. This growth will require additional credit which may be unavailable or with terms unacceptable to us. If 
these events were to occur, we may not be able to borrow sufficient funds to facilitate our growth.  

Financial Instruments, Fair Value and Market Risks  
The carrying amounts of cash equivalents, accounts receivables, trade payables, accrued liabilities and short-term borrowings approximate fair 

value because of the short-term nature and current market rates of these instruments.  

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant market information about the financial instrument. These estimates are 
subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment and, therefore, cannot be determined with precision. Changes in 
assumptions could significantly affect the estimates. See Note 13.  

We have variable rate floor plan notes payable, mortgages and other credit line borrowings that subject us to market risk exposure. At December 
31, 2012, we had $746.2 million outstanding in variable rate debt. These borrowings had interest rates ranging from 1.7% to 3.2% per annum. An increase 
or decrease in the interest rates would affect interest expense for the period accordingly.  

The fair value of long-term, fixed interest rate debt is subject to interest rate risk. Generally, the fair value of fixed interest rate debt will increase 
as interest rates fall because we could refinance for a lower rate. Conversely, the fair value of fixed interest rate debt will decrease as interest rates rise. 
The interest rate changes affect the fair value, but do not impact earnings or cash flows. We monitor our fixed interest rate debt regularly, refinancing debt 
that is materially above market rates if permitted. See Note 13.  

We are also subject to credit risk and market risk by entering into interest rate swaps. See below and Note 12. We are generally exposed to credit 
or repayment risk based on our relationship with the counterparty to the transaction. We minimize the credit or repayment risk on our derivative 
instruments by entering into transactions with institutions whose credit rating is Aa or higher.  

Derivative Financial Instruments  
We enter into interest rate swap agreements to reduce our exposure to market risks from changing interest rates on our new vehicle floor plan 

lines of credit. All derivative instruments are recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as an asset or liability at fair value. The related gains and losses 
on these instruments are deferred as a component of stockholders’ equity, provided specific hedge accounting criteria are met. Recognition of the deferred 
gains and losses occurs in the period the related cash flow item hedged is recognized as a component of floor plan interest expense. To the extent the 
derivative contract is determined to be ineffective, the ineffective portion is immediately recognized in earnings. See Note 12.  
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Use of Estimates  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates 

and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes to financial statements. Changes in such 
estimates may affect amounts reported in future periods.  

Estimates are used in the calculation of certain reserves maintained for charge-backs on estimated cancellations of service contracts; life, accident 
and disability insurance policies; and finance fees from customer financing contracts. We also use estimates in the calculation of various expenses, 
accruals and reserves, including anticipated losses related to workers compensation insurance, anticipated losses related to self-insurance components of 
our property and casualty and medical insurance, self- insured lifetime lube, oil and filter service contracts, discretionary employee bonuses, warranties 
provided on certain products and services and stock-based compensation. We also make certain estimates regarding the assessment of the recoverability of 
long-lived assets, indefinite-lived intangible assets and deferred tax assets.  

Revenue Recognition  
Revenue from the sale of a vehicle is recognized when a contract is signed by the customer, financing has been arranged or collectability is 

reasonably assured and the delivery of the vehicle to the customer is made.   We do not allow the return of new or used vehicles, except where mandated 
by state law.  

Revenue from parts and service is recognized upon delivery of the parts or service to the customer. We allow for customer returns on sales of our 
parts inventory up to 30 days after the sale. Most parts returns generally occur within one to two weeks from the time of sale, and are not significant.  

Finance fees earned for notes placed with financial institutions in connection with customer vehicle financing are recognized, net of estimated 
charge-backs, as finance and insurance revenue upon acceptance of the credit by the financial institution.  

Insurance income from third party insurance companies for commissions earned on credit life, accident and disability insurance policies sold in 
connection with the sale of a vehicle are recognized, net of anticipated cancellations, as finance and insurance revenue upon execution of the insurance 
contract.  

Commissions from third party service contracts are recognized, net of anticipated cancellations, as finance and insurance revenue upon sale of 
the contracts. We also participate in future underwriting profit, pursuant to retrospective commission arrangements, which is recognized in income as 
earned.  

Revenue related to self-insured lifetime lube, oil and filter service contracts is deferred and recognized based on expected future claims for 
service. The expected future claims experience is evaluated periodically to ensure it remains appropriate given actual claims history.  

Asset Impairments  
We perform periodic impairment tests for goodwill and franchise value and recoverability tests for long-lived assets.  

As a result of these tests, we recorded asset impairments against long-lived assets totaling $0.1 million, $1.4 million and $15.3 million, 
respectively, in 2012, 2011 and 2010.  

See Notes 4 and 16.  
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Stock-Based Compensation  
Compensation costs associated with equity instruments exchanged for employee and director services are measured at the grant date, based on 

the fair value of the award, and recognized as an expense over the individual’s requisite service period (generally the vesting period of the equity 
award).  See Note 11.  

Legal Costs  
We are a party to numerous legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business. We accrue for certain legal costs, including attorney fees, 

and potential settlement claims related to various legal proceedings that are estimable and probable. See Note 7.  

Contract Origination Costs  
Contract origination commissions paid to our employees directly related to the sale of our self-insured lifetime lube, oil and filter service 

contracts are deferred and charged to expense in proportion to the associated revenue to be recognized.  

Segment Reporting  
We define an operating segment as a component of an enterprise that meets the following criteria:  

Based on this definition, we believe we operate as a single operating and reporting segment, automotive retailing. Our chief operating decision 
maker (“CODM”), defined to be our executive management group, evaluates our performance on a consolidated basis. Historical and forecasted 
operational performance is evaluated on a consolidated basis by the CODM. Additionally, allocation of future resources is evaluated on a consolidated 
basis as several of our functions are centralized.  

Warranty  
We offer a 60-day, 3,000 mile limited warranty on the sale of most retail used vehicles. We also offer a 3-year, 50,000 mile warranty on parts 

used in our service repair work and a 2-year warranty on tire purchases. The cost that may be incurred for these warranties is estimated at the time the 
related revenue is recorded. A reserve for these warranty liabilities is estimated based on current sales levels, warranty experience rates and estimated 
costs per claim. The annual activity for reserve increases and claims are immaterial. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the accrued warranty balance 
was $0.3 million and $0.5 million, respectively.  

(2)           Accounts Receivable  

Accounts receivable consisted of the following (in thousands):  

Contracts in transit are receivables from various lenders for the financing of vehicles that we have arranged on behalf of the customer and are 
typically received within five to ten days of selling a vehicle. Trade receivables are comprised of amounts due from customers, lenders for the 
commissions earned on financing and third parties for commissions earned on service contracts and insurance products. Vehicle receivables represent 
receivables for the portion of the vehicle sales price paid directly by the customer.  

   

  

  •  engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses;  
  •  operating results are regularly reviewed by the enterprise’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated 

to the segment and assess its performance; and  
  •  discrete financial information is available.  

December 31,    2012      2011    
Contracts in transit    $ 65,597     $ 47,867   
Trade receivables      20,932       16,418   
Vehicle receivables      21,298       15,930   
Manufacturer receivables      25,658       19,453   
      133,485       99,668   
Less: Allowance      (336 )     (261 ) 

Total accounts receivables, net    $ 133,149     $ 99,407   
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Manufacturer receivables represent amounts due from manufacturers including holdbacks, rebates, incentives and warranty claims.  

(3)           Inventories  

Inventories consisted of the following (in thousands):  

The new vehicle inventory cost is generally reduced by manufacturer holdbacks and incentives, while the related floor plan notes payable are 
reflective of the gross cost of the vehicle. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the carrying value of inventory had been reduced by $4.8 million and $3.2 
million, respectively, for assistance received from manufacturers as discussed in Note 1.  

 (4)           Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):  

Long-Lived Asset Impairment Charges  
In 2012 and 2011, triggering events were determined to have occurred related to certain properties due to changes in the expected future use. In 

2010, we changed our strategy related to real estate held for future development to focus on more immediate disposition to a broader market of potential 
buyers and allowing for the redeployment of the invested capital to higher-growth potential opportunities within our business. With this change, we 
received offers at prices significantly lower than the value of these properties from a long-term income approach at their highest and best use. However, 
given the prospect of accepting these offers and effecting a quick sale or alternatively continuing the capital investment in these non-operational 
properties, we decided to accept certain offers and redeploy the capital elsewhere.  

As a result of these events, we tested certain long-lived assets for recovery. Based on these tests, we recorded asset impairment charges of $0.1 
million, $1.4 million and $15.3 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively, on our Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

   

  

December 31,    2012      2011    
New vehicles    $ 563,275     $ 372,838   
Used vehicles      130,529       106,622   
Parts and accessories      29,522       27,024   

Total inventories    $ 723,326     $ 506,484   

December 31,    2012      2011    
Land    $ 128,653     $ 120,092   
Building and improvements      279,084       232,478   
Service equipment      39,374       36,895   
Furniture, office equipment, signs and fixtures      70,082       71,313   
      517,193       460,778   
Less accumulated depreciation      (97,883 )     (99,115 ) 
      419,310       361,663   
Construction in progress      5,776       12,116   
    $ 425,086     $ 373,779   
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 (5)           Goodwill and Franchise Value  

  
The following is a roll-forward of goodwill (in thousands):  

The following is a roll-forward of franchise value (in thousands):  

(6)           Credit Facilities and Long-Term Debt  

Below is a summary of our outstanding balances on credit facilities and long-term debt (in thousands):  

 

Credit Facility  
On April 17, 2012, we executed a new five-year $650 million credit facility with a syndicate of 10 financial institutions, including four 

manufacturer-affiliated finance companies. On December 19, 2012, we amended the loan agreement to expand the available loan commitment to $800 
million, allocating the financing commitment to $575 million in new vehicle inventory floor plan financing, $80 million in used vehicle inventory 
financing and $145 million on a revolving line of credit for general corporate purposes, including acquisitions and working capital. All borrowings from, 
and repayments to, our syndicated lending group are presented in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as financing activities.  

   

  

    Goodwill    
Balance as of December, 31, 2010, gross    $ 305,452   
Accumulated impairment losses      (299,266 ) 
Balance as of December 31, 2010, net      6,186   
Additions through acquisitions      12,869   
Goodwill allocation to dispositions      (97 ) 
Balance as of December 31, 2011, net      18,958   
Additions through acquisitions      13,710   
Goodwill allocation to dispositions      (621 ) 
Balance as of December 31, 2012, net    $ 32,047   

    
Franchise  

Value    
Balance as of December 31, 2010    $ 45,193   
Additions through acquisitions      14,517   
Transfers to discontinued operations      (615 ) 
Balance as of December 31, 2011      59,095   
Additions through acquisitions      5,174   
Transfers to discontinued operations      (1,840 ) 
Balance as of December 31, 2012    $ 62,429   

December 31,    2012      2011    
              
New vehicle floor plan commitment (1) (2)    $ 568,130     $ 229,180   
Floor plan notes payable (2)      13,454       114,760   
Total floor plan debt      581,584       343,940   
                  
Used vehicle inventory financing facility      78,309       -  
Revolving line of credit      21,045       87,000   
Real estate mortgages      192,928       194,404   
Other debt      2,776       5,470   
Total debt    $ 876,642     $ 630,814   

(1)   We have a $575 million new vehicle floor plan commitment as part of our credit facility.  
(2)   At December 31, 2012, an additional $6.9 million of floor plan notes payable outstanding on our new vehicle floor plan commitment and $1.4 million 

of floor plan notes payable on vehicles designated as service loaners are recorded as liabilities related to assets held for sale.  
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The new vehicle floor plan financing commitment is collateralized by our new vehicle inventory. Our used vehicle inventory financing facility is 
collateralized by our used vehicle inventory that is less than 180 days old. Our revolving line of credit is collateralized by our outstanding contracts in 
transit, other eligible receivables, parts and accessories and equipment. If the outstanding principal balance on our new vehicle inventory floor plan 
facility, plus requests on any day, exceeds 95% of the loan commitment, a portion of the revolving loan commitment must be reserved. The reserve 
amount is equal to the lesser of $15.0 million or the maximum revolving loan commitment less the outstanding balance on the loan less outstanding letters 
of credit. The reserve amount will decrease the revolving loan availability and may be used to repay the new vehicle floor plan balance.  

The interest rate on the credit facility varies based on the type of debt with the rate ranging from the one-month LIBOR plus 1.5% to the one-
month LIBOR plus 2.0%. Our financial covenants related to this credit facility include maintaining a current ratio of not less than 1.20x, a fixed charge 
coverage ratio of not less than 1.20x and a leverage ratio of not more than 5.0x.  

The interest rate associated with our new vehicle floor plan commitment, excluding the effects of our interest rate swaps, was 1.7% at December 
31, 2012.  

New Vehicle Floor Plan Lines  
We have additional floor plan agreements with manufacturer-affiliated finance companies for vehicles that are designated for use as service 

loaners. At December 31, 2012, $13.5 million was outstanding on these agreements. Borrowings from, and repayments to, manufacturer-affiliated finance 
companies are classified as operating activities on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.  
   

Real Estate Mortgages and Other Debt  
We have mortgages associated with our owned real estate. Interest rates related to this debt ranged from 1.8% to 5.9% at December 31, 2012 

with fixed interest rates on 66% of our outstanding mortgages. The mortgages are payable in various installments through May 2031.  

Our other debt includes various notes, capital leases and obligations assumed as a result of acquisitions and other agreements and had interest 
rates that ranged from 2.0% to 9.0% at December 31, 2012. This debt, which totaled $2.8 million at December 31, 2012, is due in various installments 
through May 2019.  

Future Principal Payments  
The schedule of future principal payments on long-term debt as of December 31, 2012 was as follows (in thousands):  

(7)           Commitments and Contingencies  

Leases  
We lease certain facilities under non-cancelable operating and capital leases. These leases expire at various dates through 2066. Certain lease 

commitments contain fixed payment increases at predetermined intervals over the life of the lease, while other lease commitments are subject to escalation 
clauses of an amount equal to the increase in the cost of living based on the “Consumer Price Index - U.S. Cities Average - All Items for all Urban 
Consumers” published by the U.S. Department of Labor, or a substantially equivalent regional index. Lease expense related to operating leases is 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease.  

   

  

Year Ending December 31,        
2013    $ 8,182   
2014      8,459   
2015      8,713   
2016      32,885   
2017      109,216   
Thereafter      127,603   
Total principal payments    $ 295,058   
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The minimum lease payments under our operating and capital leases after December 31, 2012 are as follows (in thousands):  

Rent expense, net of sublease income, for all operating leases was $15.2 million, $13.3 million and $12.6 million for the years ended December 
31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. These amounts are included as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses in our Consolidated 
Statements of Operations.  

In connection with dispositions of dealerships, we occasionally assign or sublet our interests in any real property leases associated with such 
dealerships to the purchaser. We often retain responsibility for the performance of certain obligations under such leases to the extent that the assignee or 
sublessee does not perform. Additionally, we may remain subject to the terms of any guarantees and have correlating indemnification rights against the 
assignee or sublessee in the event of non-performance, as well as certain other defenses. We may also be called upon to perform other obligations under 
these leases, such as environmental remediation of the premises or repairs upon termination of the lease. We currently have no reason to believe that we 
will be called upon to perform any such services; however, there can be no assurance that any future performance required by us under these leases will 
not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.  

Certain of our facilities where a lease obligation still exists have been vacated for business reasons. In these instances, we make efforts to find 
qualified tenants to sublease the facilities and assume financial responsibility. However, due to the specific nature and size of the facilities used in our 
dealerships, tenants are not always available. Liabilities have been accrued to reflect our estimate of future lease obligations. These amounts were not 
material to our Consolidated Statements of Operations during 2012, 2011 and 2010 and the amounts accrued at December 31, 2012 and 2011 were not 
material.  

Capital Expenditures  
Capital expenditures were $64.6 million, $31.7 million and $7.6 million for 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The increase in capital 

expenditures in 2012 compared to 2011 and 2011 compared to 2010 was related to improvements at certain of our store facilities, the purchase of 
previously leased facilities, the purchase of new store locations, replacement of equipment and construction of, and relocation to, a new headquarters 
building.  

Many manufacturers provide assistance in the form of additional vehicle incentives if facilities meet image standards and requirements. We 
believe it is an attractive time to invest in certain internal initiatives that will generate additional manufacturer incentive payments, particularly from our 
domestic partners. Also, recently enacted tax law changes that accelerate deductions for capital expenditures have accelerated project timelines to ensure 
completion before the law expires.  
   

In the event we undertake a significant capital commitment in the future, we expect to pay for the commitment out of existing cash balances, 
construction financing and borrowings on our credit facility. Upon completion of the projects, we would anticipate securing long-term financing and 
general borrowings from third party lenders for 70% to 90% of the amounts expended, although no assurances can be provided that these financings will 
be available to us in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us.  

   

  

Year Ending December 31,        
2013    $ 17,188   
2014      15,749   
2015      14,317   
2016      12,948   
2017      10,666   
Thereafter      72,968   
Total minimum lease payments      143,836   
Less: sublease rentals      (7,785 ) 
    $ 136,051   
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Charge-Backs for Various Contracts  
We have recorded a liability of $13.5 million as of December 31, 2012 for our estimated contractual obligations related to potential charge-backs 

for vehicle service contracts, lifetime oil change contracts and other various insurance contracts that are terminated early by the customer. We estimate 
that the charge-backs will be paid out as follows (in thousands):  

Lifetime Lube, Oil and Filter Contracts  
In March 2009, we entered into a transaction related to existing lifetime lube, oil and filter contracts, in which we assumed the obligation to 

provide future services under the purchased contracts. As of December 31, 2012, we had a remaining balance of $4.0 million. We estimate the deferred 
revenue associated with this assumed obligation will be recognized as follows (in thousands):  

We periodically evaluate the estimated future costs of these contracts and record a charge if future expected claim and cancellation costs exceed 
the deferred revenue to be recognized. In 2011 and 2010, our analysis indicated expected costs had increased as experience rates changed due to 
customers retaining their cars for longer periods of time compared to our historical experience. We recorded a charge of $1.0 million in both 2011 and 
2010, as a component of cost of sales in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of December 31, 2012, we had a reserve balance of $4.0 million 
recorded as a component of accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities on our Consolidates Balance Sheet.  

We retain the obligation for lifetime lube, oil and filter service contracts sold to our customers and record deferred revenues related to these 
contracts. At the time of sale, we defer the full sale price and recognize the revenue based on the rate we expect future costs to be incurred. As of 
December 31, 2012, we had a deferred revenue balance of $33.9 million associated with these contracts and estimate the deferred revenue will be 
recognized as follows (in thousands):  

Self-insurance Programs  
We self-insure a portion of our property and casualty insurance, medical insurance and workers’ compensation insurance. A third-party is 

engaged to assist in estimating the loss exposure related to the self-retained portion of the risk associated with these insurances. Additionally, we analyze 
our historical loss and claims experience to estimate the loss exposure associated with these programs. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had 
liabilities associated with these programs of $12.4 million and $10.4 million, respectively, recorded as a component of accrued liabilities and other long-
term liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

   

  

Year Ending December 31,        
2013    $ 7,540   
2014      3,792   
2015      1,553   
2016      491   
2017      118   
Thereafter      10   
Total    $ 13,504   

Year Ending December 31,        
2013    $ 1,090   
2014      850   
2015      654   
2016      488   
2017      349   
Thereafter      559   
Total    $ 3,990   

Year Ending December 31,        
2013    $ 8,448   
2014      5,839   
2015      4,541   
2016      3,547   
2017      2,827   
Thereafter      8,721   
Total    $ 33,923   
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Regulatory Compliance  
We are subject to numerous state and federal regulations common in the automotive sector that cover retail transactions with customers and 

employment and trade practices. We do not anticipate that compliance with these regulations will have an adverse effect on our business, consolidated 
results of operations, financial condition or cash flows, although such outcome is possible given the nature of our operations and the legal and regulatory 
environment affecting our business.  
   

Litigation  
   

We are party to numerous legal proceedings arising in the normal course of our business. Although we do not anticipate that the resolution of 
legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business or the proceedings described below will have a material adverse effect on our business, results 
of operations, financial condition, or cash flows, we cannot predict this with certainty.  

  Alaska Consumer Protection Act Claims  

In December 2006, a suit was filed against us (Jackie Neese, et al vs. Lithia Chrysler Jeep of Anchorage, Inc, et al, Case No. 3AN-06-13341 CI, 
and in April, 2007, a second case (Jackie Neese, et al vs. Lithia Chrysler Jeep of Anchorage, Inc, et al, Case No. 3AN-06-4815 CI) (now consolidated)), in 
the Superior Court for the State of Alaska, Third Judicial District at Anchorage. In the suits, plaintiffs alleged that we, through our Alaska dealerships, 
engaged in three practices that purportedly violate Alaska consumer protection laws: (i) charging customers dealer fees and costs (including document 
preparation fees) not disclosed in the advertised price, (ii) failing to disclose the acquisition, mechanical and accident history of used vehicles or whether 
the vehicles were originally manufactured for sale in a foreign country, and (iii) engaging in deception, misrepresentation and fraud by providing to 
customers financing from third parties without disclosing that we receive a fee or discount for placing that loan (a “dealer reserve”). The suit seeks 
statutory damages of $500 for each violation (or three times plaintiff’s actual damages, whichever is greater), and attorney fees and costs and the plaintiffs 
sought class action certification.  Before and during the pendency of these suits, we engaged in settlement discussions with the State of Alaska through its 
Office of Attorney General with respect to the first two practices enumerated above. As a result of those discussions, we entered into a Consent Judgment 
subject to court approval and permitted potential class members to “opt-out” of the proposed settlement. Counsel for the plaintiffs attempted to intervene 
and, after various motions, hearings and an appeal to the state Court of Appeals, the Consent Judgment became final.     

Plaintiffs then filed a motion in November 2010 seeking certification of a class (i) for the 339 customers who “opted-out” of the state settlement, 
(ii) for those customers who did not qualify for recovery under the Consent Judgment but were allegedly eligible for recovery under the plaintiffs’ broader 
interpretation of the applicable statutes, and (iii) arguing that since the State’s suit against our dealerships did not address the loan fee/discount (dealer 
reserve) claim, for those customers who arranged their vehicle financing through us. On June 14, 2011, the Trial Court granted plaintiffs’ motion to certify 
a class without addressing either the merits of the claims or the size of the classes. Discovery in this case is ongoing. We intend to defend the claims 
vigorously and do not believe the novel “dealer reserve” claim has merit.  

The ultimate resolution of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, and an unfavorable resolution of any of the matters could have a 
material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.  

 (8)           Stockholders’ Equity  

Class A and Class B Common Stock  
The shares of Class A common stock are not convertible into any other series or class of our securities. Each share of Class B common stock, 

however, is freely convertible into one share of Class A common stock at the option of the holder of the Class B common stock. All shares of Class B 
common stock shall automatically convert to shares of Class A common stock (on a share-for-share basis, subject to adjustment) on the earliest record 
date for an annual meeting of our stockholders on which the number of shares of Class B common stock outstanding is less than 1% of the total number of 
shares of common stock outstanding. Shares of Class B common stock may not be transferred to third parties, except for transfers to certain family 
members and in other limited circumstances.  

   

  

  

F-20 



Holders of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record and holders of Class B common stock are entitled to ten 
votes for each share held of record. The Class A common stock and Class B common stock vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to a 
vote of stockholders.  

Repurchases of Class A Common Stock  
In June 2000, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 1,000,000 shares of our Class A common stock. As of December 31, 

2011, we had purchased all available shares under this program.  

In August 2011, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 2,000,000 shares of our Class A common stock and, on July 20, 2012, 
our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of 1,000,000 additional shares of our Class A common stock. Through December 31, 2012, we had 
purchased 1,145,147 shares under these programs at an average price of $22.33 per share. As of December 31, 2012, 1,854,853 shares remained available 
for purchase pursuant to these programs . These plans do not have an expiration date and we may continue to repurchase shares from time to time as 
conditions warrant.  

The following is a summary of our repurchases in the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.  

   

Dividends  
For the period January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2012, we declared and paid dividends on our Class A and Class B Common Stock as 

follows:  

   

  

    Year Ended December 31,    
    2012      2011      2010    
Shares repurchased (1)      848,092       716,431       100,893   
Total purchase price (in thousands)    $ 20,698     $ 12,389     $ 795   
Average purchase price per share    $ 24.41     $ 17.29     $ 7.88   

(1)  Includes only shares repurchased under repurchase plans. An additional 80,687, 56,012 and 61,153 shares were repurchased in association with tax 
withholdings on the exercise of stock options in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  

   
   
   
Quarter declared    

Dividend 
amount per 
Class A and 

Class B share      

Total amount of 
dividend  

(in thousands)    
2010              
First quarter    $ -    $ -  
Second quarter      0.05       1,300   
Third quarter      0.05       1,307   
Fourth quarter      0.05       1,312   
2011                  
First quarter    $ 0.05     $ 1,316   
Second quarter      0.07       1,851   
Third quarter      0.07       1,838   
Fourth quarter      0.07       1,817   
2012                  
First quarter    $ 0.07     $ 1,815   
Second quarter      0.10       2,583   
Third quarter      0.10       2,545   
Fourth quarter      0.20       5,123 (1) 

(1)  In November 2012, we paid dividends of $2.5 million that had been declared in October 2012. An additional dividend payment of $2.6 million was 
declared and paid in December 2012 in lieu of the dividend typically declared and paid in March of the following year.  
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(9)           Net Income Per Share of Class A and Class B Common Stock  

We compute net income per share of Class A and Class B common stock using the two-class method. Under this method, basic net income per 
share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period excluding unvested common shares subject to 
repurchase or cancellation. Diluted net income per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares and, if dilutive, potential 
common shares outstanding during the period. Potential common shares consist of the incremental common shares issuable upon the exercise of stock 
options and unvested restricted shares subject to repurchase or cancellation. The dilutive effect of outstanding stock options and other grants is reflected in 
diluted earnings per share by application of the treasury stock method. The computation of the diluted net income per share of Class A common stock 
assumes the conversion of Class B common stock, while the diluted net income per share of Class B common stock does not assume the conversion of 
those shares.  
 

Except with respect to voting and transfer rights, the rights of the holders of our Class A and Class B common stock are identical. Our Restated 
Articles of Incorporation require that the Class A and Class B common stock must share equally in any dividends, liquidation proceeds or other 
distribution with respect to our common stock and the Articles of Incorporation can only be amended by a vote of the stockholders. Additionally, Oregon 
law provides that amendments to our Articles of Incorporation, which would have the effect of adversely altering the rights, powers or preferences of a 
given class of stock, must be approved by the class of stock adversely affected by the proposed amendment. As a result, the undistributed earnings for 
each year are allocated based on the contractual participation rights of the Class A and Class B common shares as if the earnings for the year had been 
distributed. Because the liquidation and dividend rights are identical, the undistributed earnings are allocated on a proportionate basis.  
 

Following is a reconciliation of the income from continuing operations and weighted average shares used for our basic earnings per share 
(“EPS”) and diluted EPS for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands, except per share amounts):  

  

   

  

Year Ended December 31,    2012      2011      2010    
Basic EPS    Class A      Class B      Class A      Class B      Class A      Class B    
Numerator:                                      
Income from continuing operations applicable to common 
stockholders    $ 69,069     $ 10,326     $ 47,292     $ 7,918     $ 11,626     $ 1,961   
Distributed income applicable to common stockholders      (10,497 )     (1,569 )     (5,844 )     (978 )     (3,353 )     (566 ) 
Basic undistributed income from continuing operations 
applicable to common stockholders    $ 58,572     $ 8,757     $ 41,448     $ 6,940     $ 8,273     $ 1,395   

Denominator:                                                  
Weighted average number of shares out-standing used to 
calculate basic income per share      22,354       3,342       22,468       3,762       22,300       3,762   

Basic income from continuing operations per share 
applicable to common stockholders    $ 3.09     $ 3.09     $ 2.10     $ 2.10     $ 0.52     $ 0.52   
Basic distributed income per share applicable to common 
stockholders      (0.47 )     (0.47 )     (0.26 )     (0.26 )     (0.15 )     (0.15 ) 
Basic undistributed income from continuing operations per 
share applicable to common stockholders    $ 2.62     $ 2.62     $ 1.84     $ 1.84     $ 0.37     $ 0.37   
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Year Ended December 31,    2012      2011      2010    
Diluted EPS    Class A      Class B      Class A      Class B      Class A      Class B    
Numerator:                                      
Distributed income applicable to common stockholders    $ 10,497     $ 1,569     $ 5,844     $ 978     $ 3,353     $ 566   
Reallocation of distributed income as a result of conversion 
of dilutive stock options      28       (28 )     15       (15 )     5       (5 ) 
Reallocation of distributed income due to conversion of Class 
B to Class A      1,541       -      963       -      561       -  
Diluted distributed income applicable to common 
stockholders    $ 12,066     $ 1,541     $ 6,822     $ 963     $ 3,919     $ 561   

Undistributed income from continuing operations applicable 
to common stockholders    $ 58,572     $ 8,757     $ 41,448     $ 6,940     $ 8,273     $ 1,395   
Reallocation of undistributed income as a result of 
conversion of dilutive stock options      159       (159 )     113       (113 )     11       (11 ) 
Reallocation of undistributed income due to conversion of 
Class B to Class A      8,598       -      6,827       -      1,384       -  
Diluted undistributed income from continuing operations 
applicable to common stockholders    $ 67,329     $ 8,598     $ 48,388     $ 6,827     $ 9,668     $ 1,384   

                                                  
Denominator:                                                  
Weighted average number of shares outstanding used to 
calculate basic income per share      22,354       3,342       22,468       3,762       22,300       3,762   
Weighted average number of shares from stock options      474       -      434       -      217       -  
Conversion of Class B to Class A      3,342       -      3,762       -      3,762       -  
Weighted average number of shares outstanding used to 
calculate diluted income per share      26,170       3,342       26,664       3,762       26,279       3,762   

Year Ended December 31,    2012      2011      2010    
Diluted EPS    Class A      Class B      Class A      Class B      Class A      Class B    
Diluted income from continuing operations per share 
available to common stockholders    $ 3.03     $ 3.03     $ 2.07     $ 2.07     $ 0.52     $ 0.52   
Diluted distributed income from continuing operations per 
share applicable to common stockholders      (0.47 )     (0.47 )     (0.26 )     (0.26 )     (0.15 )     (0.15 ) 
Diluted undistributed income from continuing operations per 
share applicable to common stockholders    $ 2.56     $ 2.56     $ 1.81     $ 1.81     $ 0.37     $ 0.37   

Antidilutive Securities:                                                  
Shares issuable pursuant to stock options not included since 
they were antidilutive      45       -      280       -      661       -  
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(10)         401(k) Profit Sharing, Deferred Compensation and Long-term Incentive Plans  

We have a defined contribution 401(k) plan and trust covering substantially all full-time employees. The annual contribution to the plan is at the 
discretion of our Board of Directors. Contributions of $1.9 million, $1.7 million and $0.6 million were recognized for the years ended December 31, 2012, 
2011 and 2010, respectively. Employees may contribute to the plan if they meet certain eligibility requirements.  

We offer a deferred compensation and long-term incentive plan (the “Plan”) to provide certain employees the ability to accumulate assets for 
retirement on a tax deferred basis. We may make discretionary contributions to the Plan. Discretionary contributions vest between one and seven years 
based on the employee’s age and position. Additionally, participants may defer a portion of their compensation and are fully vested in their respective 
deferrals.  

We made a discretionary contribution of $1.9 million and $1.3 million in 2012 and 2011, respectively, to the Plan. No discretionary contribution 
was made in 2010. Participants received a guaranteed return of 5.9% in 2012 and 6.0% in 2011. We recognized compensation expense related to the Plan 
of $1.2 million and $0.9 million in 2012 and 2011, respectively. We did not recognize any compensation expense in 2010 associated with the Plan. As of 
December 31, 2012, the balance due to participants was $3.6 million and was included as a component of other long-term liabilities in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets.  

(11)         Stock Based Compensation  

2003 Stock Incentive Plan  
Our 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, (the “2003 Plan”) allows for the granting of up to a total of 2.8 million nonqualified stock options 

and shares of restricted stock to our officers, key employees, directors and consultants. Our plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the 
Board of Directors and permit accelerated vesting of outstanding awards upon the occurrence of certain changes in control. Options become exercisable 
over a period of up to five years from the date of grant with expiration dates up to ten years from the date of grant and at exercise prices of not less than 
market value, as determined by the Board of Directors. Restricted stock grants vest over a period up to five years from the date of grant. Beginning in 
2004, the expiration date of options granted was reduced to six years.  

At December 31, 2012, 667,859 shares of Class A common stock were available for future grants.  

Activity under our stock incentive plans was as follows:  

   

  

    

Shares 
subject  

to options      

Weighted 
average  

exercise price      

Aggregate 
intrinsic value  
(in millions)      

Weighted 
average  

remaining 
contractual 

term  
(in years)    

Balance, December 31, 2011      811,176     $ 12.69                 
Granted      -      -                
Forfeited      (59,793 )     9.12                 
Expired      (90,000 )     31.67                 
Exercised      (407,884 )     13.02                 
Balance, December 31, 2012      253,499     $ 6.26     $ 7.9     1.6   

Exercisable, December 31, 2012      253,499     $ 6.26     $ 7.9     1.6   
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We estimate the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes valuation model. This valuation model takes into account the exercise price 
of the award, as well as a variety of significant assumptions. We believe that the valuation technique and the approach utilized to develop the underlying 
assumptions are appropriate in calculating the fair values of our stock options. Estimates of fair value are not intended to predict actual future events or the 
value ultimately realized by persons who receive equity awards.  

Compensation expense related to stock options granted in 2010 is based on values calculated using the Black-Scholes valuation model. No stock 
options were granted in 2011 or 2012. Below are the significant assumptions used in the Black-Scholes valuation model:  

 

Compensation expense related to non-vested stock is based on the intrinsic value on the date of grant as if the stock is vested.  

We amortize stock-based compensation on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the individual award with estimated forfeitures 
considered. Shares to be issued upon the exercise of stock options will come from newly issued shares.  

As of December 31, 2012, unrecognized stock-based compensation related to outstanding, but unvested stock options and stock awards was $5.1 
million, which will be recognized over the remaining weighted average vesting period of 2.0 years.  

2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan  
The 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2009 ESPP”) allows for the issuance of 1,500,000 shares of our Class A common stock. The 2009 

ESPP replaced the 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which was terminated. The 2009 ESPP is intended to qualify as an “Employee Stock Purchase 
Plan” under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of 
Directors.  

Eligible employees are entitled to defer up to 10% of their base pay for the purchase of stock, up to $25,000 of fair market value of our Class A 
common stock annually. The purchase price is equal to 85% of the fair market value at the end of the purchase period. During 2012, a total of 143,071 
shares were purchased under the 2009 ESPP at a weighted average price of $24.28 per share, which represented a weighted average discount from the fair 
market value of $4.29 per share. As of December 31, 2012, 681,293 shares remained available for purchase under the 2009 ESPP.  

   

  

    
Non-vested  
stock grants      

Weighted average  
grant date fair 

value    
Balance, December 31, 2011      590,550     $ 8.72   
Granted      225,664       23.82   
Vested      (144,591 )     11.19   
Forfeited      (19,680 )     10.25   
Balance, December 31, 2012      651,943     $ 13.35   

Year Ended December 31,    2010    
Risk-free interest rate (1)      2.53 % 
Dividend yield (2)      2.54 % 
Expected term (3) (in years)    4.2   
Volatility (4)      81.22 % 
Discount for post-vesting restrictions      0.0 % 

(1)   The risk-free interest rate for each grant is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for a period equal to the expected term 
of the stock option.  

(2)   The dividend yield is calculated as a ratio of annualized expected dividends per share to the market value of our common stock on the date of grant.  
(3)   The expected term is calculated based on the observed and expected time to post-vesting exercise behavior of identifiable employee groups.  
(4)   The expected volatility is estimated based on a weighted average of historical volatility of our common stock.  
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Compensation expense related to our 2009 ESPP is calculated based on the 15% discount from the per share market price on the date of grant.  

RSU Grants  
In the first quarter of 2012, we granted 168,000 restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to certain employees, of which grants to executives and other key 

employees are subject to performance measures discussed below. Each grant entitles the holder to receive shares of our Class A common stock upon 
vesting. A quarter of the RSUs vest on each of the second and third anniversaries of the grant date and the remaining RSUs vest on the fourth anniversary 
of the grant date.  
   

Our executives and other key employees received 89,000 of the 168,000 RSUs granted based on attaining a target level of earnings per share for 
2012. The RSUs are subject to forfeiture, in whole or in part, based upon 2012 minimum performance measures and continuation of employment. If 
minimum performance measures were met, the number of RSUs received under these grants was subject to attainment of specific earnings per share 
thresholds. Each earnings per share threshold specified an attainment level ranging from 75% to 150% of the base number of units identified in the grant.  
Failure to achieve the minimum performance threshold in 2012 would have resulted in forfeiture of the entire grant. The final attainment was calculated at 
150% using the 2012 adjusted net income per share from continuing operations for a total award of 133,500 RSUs. After final attainment, these RSUs vest 
over four years. We initially estimated compensation expense, based on a fair value methodology and a 133% attainment level, of $4.2 million related to 
the RSUs. We increased the estimated compensation expense to $4.6 million based on the final attainment level of 150%. Total compensation expense is 
being recognized over the vesting period. Of this amount, $1.0 million was recognized in 2012.  

In the second quarter of 2012, we granted RSUs covering 12,870 shares of our Class A common stock to members of our Board of 
Directors. These awards vest 25% on the first day of each month following our quarterly board meetings. We estimated compensation expense, based on a 
fair value methodology, of $0.4 million related to these RSUs, which is being recognized over the vesting period. Of this amount, $0.3 million was 
recognized in 2012.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

Certain information regarding our stock-based compensation was as follows:  

(12)         Derivative Financial Instruments  

We enter into interest rate swaps to manage the variability of our interest rate exposure, thus fixing a portion of our interest expense in a rising or 
falling rate environment. We do not enter into derivative instruments for any purpose other than to manage interest rate exposure of the one-month LIBOR 
benchmark. That is, we do not engage in interest rate speculation using derivative instruments.  

   

  

Year Ended December 31,    2012      2011      2010    
Weighted average grant-date fair value per share of stock options granted    $ -    $ -    $ 4.19   
Per share intrinsic value of non-vested stock granted      23.82       13.58       6.02   
Weighted average per share discount for compensation expense recognized under 

the 2009 ESPP      4.29       2.56       1.11   
Total intrinsic value of stock options exercised (in millions)    7.2     1.5     1.1   
Fair value of non-vested stock that vested during the period (in millions)    3.5     0.7     0.4   
Stock-based compensation recognized in results of operations, as a component of 

selling, general and administrative expense - excludes compensation expense 
related to an option granted to one of our executives.  See Note 18. (in millions)    3.1     2.3     1.8   

Tax benefit recognized in Consolidated Statements of Operations (in millions)    1.0     0.7     0.5   
Cash received from options exercised and shares purchased under all share-based 

arrangements (in millions)    8.8     5.8     4.2   
Tax deduction realized related to stock options exercised (in millions)    4.1     0.9     0.5   
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Typically, we designate all interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges and, accordingly, we record the change in fair value for the effective portion 
of these interest rate swaps in comprehensive income rather than net income until the underlying hedged transaction affects net income. If a swap is no 
longer accounted for as a cash flow hedge and the forecasted transaction remains probable or reasonably possible of occurring, the gain or loss recorded in 
accumulated other comprehensive loss is recognized in income as the forecasted transaction occurs. If the forecasted transaction is probable of not 
occurring, the gain or loss recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss is recognized in income immediately.   See Note 13 .  

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the net fair value of all of our agreements totaled a loss of $4.7 million and $7.5 million, respectively, which 
was recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets as a component of accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities. The estimated amount expected to 
be reclassified into earnings within the next twelve months was $1.9 million at December 31, 2012.  

As of December 31, 2012, we had outstanding the following interest rate swaps with U.S. Bank Dealer Commercial Services:  

We receive interest on all of the interest rate swaps at the one-month LIBOR rate. The one-month LIBOR rate at December 31, 2012 was 0.21% 
per annum, as reported in the Wall Street Journal.  

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the fair value of our derivative instruments was included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows (in 
thousands):  

   

   

  

  ●  $25 million interest rate swap at a fixed rate of 4.495% per annum, variable rate adjusted on the 26 th of each month, matures January 25, 
2013;  

  ●  $25 million interest rate swap at a fixed rate of 3.495% per annum, variable rate adjusted on the 1 st and 16 th of each month, matures April 
30, 2013;  

  ●  $25 million interest rate swap at a fixed rate of 3.495% per annum, variable rate adjusted on the 1 st and   16 th of each month, matures April 
30, 2013 and  

  ●  $25 million interest rate swap at a fixed rate of 5.587% per annum, variable rate adjusted on the 1 st and 16 th of each month, matures June 
15, 2016.  

Balance Sheet Information (in thousands)    Fair Value of Liability Derivatives    

    
   

Location in Balance Sheet    
December 31, 

2012    
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments            
Interest rate swap contracts    Accrued liabilities    $ 1,839   
    Other long-term liabilities      2,840   
        $ 4,679   

Balance Sheet Information (in thousands)    Fair Value of Liability Derivatives    

    
   

Location in Balance Sheet    
December 31, 

2011    
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments              
Interest rate swap contracts    Accrued liabilities    $ 3,522   
    Other long-term liabilities      4,008   
        $ 7,530   
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The effect of derivative instruments on our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was 

as follows (in thousands):  

   
   
  (13)        Fair Value Measurements  

  
Factors used in determining the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities are summarized into three broad categories:  

The inputs or methodology used for valuing financial assets and liabilities are not necessarily an indication of the risk associated with investing 
in them.  

We use the income approach to determine the fair value of our interest rate swaps using observable Level 2 market expectations at each 
measurement date and an income approach to convert estimated future cash flows to a single present value amount (discounted) assuming that participants 
are motivated, but not compelled, to transact. Level 2 inputs for the swap valuations are limited to quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active 
markets (specifically futures contracts on LIBOR for the first two years) and inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability 
(specifically LIBOR cash and swap rates and credit risk at commonly quoted intervals). Mid-market pricing is used as a practical expedient for fair value 
measurements. Key inputs, including the cash rates for very short term borrowings, futures rates for up to two years and LIBOR swap rates beyond the 
derivative maturity, are used to predict future reset rates to discount those future cash flows to present value at the measurement date.  
   

Inputs are collected from Bloomberg on the last market day of the period. The same methodology is used to determine the rate used to discount 
the future cash flows. The valuation of the interest rate swaps also takes into consideration our own, as well as the counterparty’s, risk of non-performance 
under the contract.  

   

  

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging 

Relationships    

   
Amount of 
gain (loss) 

recognized in 
Accumulated 
OCI (effective 

portion)      

   
   

Location of loss 
reclassified from 

accumulated OCI into 
Income (effective portion)    

Amount of 
loss 

reclassified 
from 

Accumulated 
OCI into 
Income 

(effective 
portion)      

Location of gain (loss) 
recognized in Income on 

derivative (ineffective 
portion and amount 

excluded from 
effectiveness testing)    

Amount of 
gain (loss) 

recognized in 
Income on 
derivative 
(ineffective 
portion and 

amount 
excluded 

from 
effectiveness 

testing)    
                            
For the Year Ended December 31, 

2012                            

Interest rate swap contracts    $ 1,655     
Floor plan  

Interest expense    $ (1,413 )   
Floor plan  

Interest expense    $ (2,900 ) 
                                  
For the Year Ended December 31, 

2011                                  

Interest rate swap contracts    $ (1,343 )   
Floor plan  

Interest expense    $ (1,899 )   
Floor plan  

Interest expense    $ (1,587 ) 
                                  
For the Year Ended December 31, 

2010                                  

Interest rate swap contracts    $ (4,459 )   
Floor plan  

Interest expense    $ (2,814 )   
Floor plan  

Interest expense    $ (1,483 ) 

  ●  Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical securities;  
  ●  Level 2 – other significant observable inputs, including quoted prices for similar securities, interest rates, prepayment spreads, credit risk; and  
  ●  Level 3 – significant unobservable inputs, including our own assumptions in determining fair value.  
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We estimate the fair value of our assets held for sale based on a market valuation approach, which uses prices and other relevant information 
generated primarily by recent market transactions involving similar or comparable assets or liabilities, as well as our historical experience in divestitures, 
acquisitions and real estate transactions. When available, we use inputs from independent valuation experts, such as brokers and real estate appraisers, to 
corroborate our internal estimates. Because these valuations contain unobservable inputs, we classified the assets held for sale and liabilities related to 
assets held for sale as Level 3.  

We estimate the value of long-lived assets that are recorded at fair value based on a market valuation approach. We use prices and other relevant 
information generated primarily by recent market transactions involving similar or comparable assets, as well as our historical experience in divestitures, 
acquisitions and real estate transactions. Additionally, we may use a cost valuation approach to value long-lived assets when a market valuation approach 
is unavailable. Under this approach, we determine the cost to replace the service capacity of an asset, adjusted for physical and economic obsolescence. 
When available, we use valuation inputs from independent valuation experts, such as real estate appraisers and brokers, to corroborate our estimates of 
fair value. Real estate appraisers’ and brokers’ valuations are typically developed using one or more valuation techniques including market, income and 
replacement cost approaches. As these valuations contain unobservable inputs, we classified the measurement of fair value of long-lived assets as Level 3. 

There were no changes to our valuation techniques during the year ended December 31, 2012.  

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value  
Following are the disclosures related to our assets and (liabilities) that are measured at fair value (in thousands):  

   

  
   

See Note 12 for more details regarding our derivative contracts.  

Fair Value Disclosures for Financial Assets and Liabilities  
We have fixed rate debt and calculate the estimated fair value of our fixed rate debt using a discounted cash flow methodology. Using estimated 

current interest rates based on a similar risk profile and duration (Level 2), the fixed cash flows are discounted and summed to compute the fair value of 
the debt. As of December 31, 2012, this debt had maturity dates between November 2016 and May 2031. A summary of the aggregate carrying values and 
fair values of our long-term fixed interest rate debt is as follows (in thousands):  

   

We believe the carrying value of our variable rate debt approximates fair value.  
   

  

Fair Value at December 31, 2012    Level 1      Level 2      Level 3    
Measured on a recurring basis:                    

Derivative contracts, net    $ -    $ (4,679 )   $ -  

Fair Value at December 31, 2011    Level 1      Level 2      Level 3    
Measured on a recurring basis:                    

Derivative contracts, net    $ -    $ (7,530 )   $ -  
                          
Measured on a non-recurring basis:                          
Long-lived assets held and used:                          

Certain buildings and improvements    $ -    $ -    $ 2,500   

    
December 31,  

2012      
December 31, 

2011    
Carrying value    $ 130,469     $ 64,463   
Fair value      134,688       73,551   
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  (14)        Income Taxes  

Income tax provision (benefit) from continuing operations was as follows (in thousands):  

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had income taxes receivable of $7.3 million and $6.2 million, respectively, included as a component of 
other current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

Individually significant components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented below (in thousands):  

  

We consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of 
deferred tax assets is dependent upon future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. We consider the 
scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities (including the impact of available carryback and carryforward periods), projected future taxable income and 
tax-planning strategies in making this assessment.  

The change in our valuation allowance was $1.2 million in 2012. At December 31, 2012, we had an $11.6 million valuation allowance recorded 
associated with our deferred tax assets. We recorded this allowance in association with losses from the sale of corporate entities. As these amounts are 
characterized as capital losses, we evaluated the availability of projected capital gains and determined that it would be unlikely these amounts would be 
fully utilized. We will continue to evaluate if it is more likely than not that we will realize the benefits of these deductible differences. However, 
additional valuation allowance amounts could be recorded in the future if estimates of taxable income during the carryforward period are reduced.  

At December 31, 2012, we had a number of state tax carryforward amounts totaling approximately $0.3 million, tax affected, with expiration 
dates through 2029.  

   

  

Year Ended December 31,    2012      2011      2010    
Current:                    

Federal    $ 31,438     $ 21,779     $ 9,093   
State      3,626       3,561       1,619   

      35,064       25,340       10,712   
Deferred:                          

Federal      10,888       7,046       (1,670 ) 
State      3,110       674       (417 ) 

      13,998       7,720       (2,087 ) 
Total    $ 49,062     $ 33,060     $ 8,625   

December 31,    2012      2011    
Deferred tax assets:              

Deferred revenue and cancellation reserves    $ 7,597     $ 6,369   
Allowances and accruals, including state tax carryforward amounts      21,340       20,234   
Interest on derivatives      1,796       2,889   
Goodwill      18,139       26,817   
Capital loss carryforward      12,248       12,841   

Total deferred tax assets      61,120       69,150   
                  
Deferred tax liabilities:                  

Inventories      (4,684 )     (4,351 ) 
Property and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation      (22,484 )     (16,418 ) 
Prepaids and property taxes      (1,356 )     (1,540 ) 

Total deferred tax liabilities      (28,524 )     (22,309 ) 
                  

Valuation allowance      (11,641 )     (12,841 ) 
Total    $ 20,955     $ 34,000   
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The reconciliation between amounts computed using the federal income tax rate of 35% and our income tax provision from continuing operations 
for 2012, 2011 and 2010 is shown in the following tabulation (in thousands):  

We did not have any activity during 2012 or  2011 related to unrecognized tax benefits and did not have any amounts of unrecognized tax 
benefits as of December 31, 2012 or 2011. No interest or penalties were included in our results of operations during 2012, 2011 or 2010, and we had no 
accrued interest or penalties at December 31, 2012 or 2011.  

Open tax years at December 31, 2012 included the following:  

(15)         Acquisitions  

   
We completed the following acquisitions in 2012:  

   

These acquisitions contributed revenues of $32.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2012.  

We completed the following acquisitions in 2011:  

We completed the following acquisitions in 2010:  

   

  

Year Ended December 31,    2012      2011      2010    
Federal tax provision at statutory rate    $ 44,723     $ 30,895     $ 7,774   
State taxes, net of federal income tax benefit      4,772       3,021       973   
Non-deductible expenses      618       208       223   
Permanent differences related to the employee  stock purchase program      52       105       164   
Release of valuation allowance      (1,200 )     (346 )     -  
Other      97       (823 )     (509 ) 
Income tax provision    $ 49,062     $ 33,060     $ 8,625   

Federal      2009-2012   
13 states      2008-2012   

  ●  On April 30, 2012, we acquired the inventory, equipment and intangible assets and assumed certain liabilities of Bellingham Chevrolet and 
Cadillac in Bellingham, Washington from Jerry Chambers Chevrolet.  

  ●  On June 12, 2012, we acquired the inventory, equipment and intangible assets and assumed certain liabilities of Fairbanks GMC Buick from 
Gene’s GMC, LLC.  

  ●  On August 27, 2012, we acquired the inventory, equipment and intangible assets and assumed certain liabilities of Killeen Chevrolet in Killeen, 
Texas from Connell Chevrolet, Inc.  

  ●  On October 23, 2012, we acquired the inventory, equipment, real estate and intangible assets of, and assumed certain liabilities related to 
Bitterroot Toyota of Missoula, Montana from Bitterroot Motors, Inc.  

  ●  In April 2011, we acquired the inventory, equipment, real estate and intangible assets of, and assumed certain liabilities related to, Mercedes-
Benz of Portland, Oregon, Mercedes Benz of Wilsonville, Oregon and Rasmussen BMW/MINI in Portland, Oregon from the Don Rasmussen 
Group.  

  ●  In October 2011 we acquired the inventory, equipment, real estate and intangible assets of Fresno Subaru from Herwaldt Automotive Group.  

  ●  In July 2010, we acquired the inventory, equipment and intangible assets and assumed certain liabilities related to Honda of Bend and agreed to 
the transfer of Chevrolet and Cadillac brands from Bob Thomas Chevrolet Cadillac, both located in Bend, Oregon.  
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The results of operations of the acquired stores are included in our Consolidated Financial Statements from the date of acquisition.  

Pro forma results of operations are not materially different than actual results of operations for the 2010 acquisitions. The following unaudited 
pro forma summary presents consolidated information as if the 2012 and 2011 acquisitions had occurred on January 1 of the prior year (in thousands, 
except for per share amounts):  

These amounts have been calculated by estimating and applying our accounting policies. The results of these stores have been adjusted to reflect 
depreciation on a straight-line basis over our expected lives for property, plant and equipment; accounting for inventory on a specific identification 
method; and recognition of interest expense for real estate financing related to stores where we purchased the facility. No nonrecurring pro forma 
adjustments directly attributable to these business combinations are included in the reported pro forma revenues and earnings.  

All acquisitions were accounted for as business combinations under the acquisition method of accounting. No portion of the purchase price was 
paid with our equity securities. The following table summarizes the consideration paid for material acquisitions and the amount of identified assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date (in thousands):  

   

   

The fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in our 2010 acquisitions are not material to our Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

In July 2011, we were awarded a Ford franchise in Klamath Falls, Oregon which was accounted for as an asset acquisition. Consideration of $5.1 
million was paid for the inventory, equipment and associated real estate.  

We account for franchise value as an indefinite-lived intangible asset. We expect the full amount of the goodwill recognized to be deductible for 
tax purposes. We did not have any material acquisition related expenses in 2012, 2011 or 2010.  

   

  

  ●  In August 2010, we acquired the inventory, equipment, real estate and intangible assets and assumed certain liabilities related to Toyota of 
Billings from Prestige Toyota, located in Billings, Montana.  

Year Ended December 31,    2012      2011      2010    
Revenue    $ 3,386,066     $ 2,789,436     $ 2,210,073   
Income from continuing operations, net of tax      80,064       56,904       14,779   
Basic income per share from continuing operations, net of tax      3.12       2.17       0.57   
Diluted income per share from continuing operations, net of 

tax      3.06       2.13       0.57   

Consideration paid for year ended December 31,    2012      2011    
Cash paid, net of cash acquired    $ 44,716     $ 55,368   
Floor plan financing assumed      -      19,348   
    $ 44 ,716     $ 74,716   

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed for year ended ended December 31,     2012       2011   
Inventories    $ 17,541     $ 29,268   
Franchise value      5,174       14,517   
Property, plant and equipment      11,097       17,351   
Real estate lease reserves      -      325   
Other assets      110       1,475   
Reserves      -      (663 ) 
Capital lease obligations      (2,609 )     -  
Other liabilities      (307 )     (426 ) 
      31,006       61,847   
Goodwill      13,710       12,869   
    $ 44,716     $ 74,716   
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(16)        Discontinued Operations  

We classify a store as discontinued operations if the location has been sold, we have ceased operations at that location or if management has 
committed to a plan to dispose of the store.  Additionally, the store must meet the criteria as required by U.S. generally accepted accounting standards:  
   

We reclassify the store’s operations to discontinued operations in our Consolidated Statements of Operations, on a comparable basis for all 
periods presented, provided we do not expect to have any significant continuing involvement in the store’s operations after its disposal.  

At December 31, 2009, two operating stores and three properties were classified as held for sale.  The two operating stores were under contract to 
sell at that time.  

Based on subsequent negotiations with the buyer in the first quarter of 2010, management concluded that it was no longer probable that the sale 
of the remaining two stores would be effected, resulting in the determination that these two operating stores no longer met all of the criteria for 
classification as held for sale at March 31, 2010. Therefore, in the first quarter of 2010, assets and related liabilities associated with two stores were 
reclassified from assets held for sale to assets held and used. Their associated results of operations were retrospectively reclassified from discontinued 
operations to continuing operations for all periods presented.  

In the second quarter of 2010, we classified the operating results of Fresno Dodge, which was sold during the quarter, as discontinued operations. 
Additionally, one of the properties classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2009 was sold. Management evaluated the remaining two properties to 
determine if classification remained appropriate. Based on new facts and circumstances previously considered unlikely, management no longer believed 
the sales were probable. As a result the properties were reclassified to assets held and used in June 2010. As of December 31, 2010, we had no stores or 
properties classified as held for sale.  

In 2011, we sold three stores:  a Chrysler Jeep Dodge store in Concord, California; a Volkswagen store in Thornton, Colorado and a GMC Buick 
and a Kia store in Cedar Rapids, Iowa. The associated results of operations for these locations are classified as discontinued operations. As of December 
31, 2011, we had no stores and no properties classified as held for sale.  

In October 2012, we sold two stores: a Chrysler Jeep Dodge store and a Hyundai store, both located in Renton, Washington. The associated 
results of operations for these locations are classified as discontinued operations. Additionally, in October 2012, we determined that one of our stores met 
the criteria for classification of the assets and related liabilities as held for sale.  

   

  

  ●  our management team, possessing the necessary authority, commits to a plan to sell the store;  
  ●  the store is available for immediate sale in its present condition;  
  ●  an active program to locate buyers and other actions that are required to sell the store are initiated;  
  ●  a market for the store exists and we believe its sale is likely to be completed within one year;  
  ●  active marketing of the store commences at a price that is reasonable in relation to the estimated fair market value; and  
  ●  our management team believes it is unlikely that changes will be made to the plan or the plan to dispose of the store will be withdrawn.  
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As of December 31, 2012, we have one store and no properties classified as held for sale. Assets held for sale included the following (in 
thousands):  

Liabilities related to assets held for sale included the following (in thousands):  

Interest expense is allocated to stores classified as discontinued operations for actual floor plan interest expense directly related to the new 
vehicles in the store. Interest expense related to our working capital, acquisition and used vehicle credit facility is allocated based on the amount of assets 
pledged towards the total borrowing base. Interest expense included as a component of discontinued operations was as follows (in thousands):  

   
   

Certain financial information related to discontinued operations was as follows (in thousands):  

The net gain (loss) on disposal activities included the following charges (in thousands):  

(17)         Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

In July 2012, the FASB issued an accounting standard update that amends the accounting guidance on testing for impairment on indefinite-lived 
intangible assets. This amendment allows an entity to assess qualitative factors to determine the likelihood of indefinite-lived intangible asset 
impairments, reducing the cost and complexity of performing an impairment test. This amendment also improves consistency in impairment testing 
guidance for long-lived asset categories. The amendments in this accounting standard update are effective for interim and annual impairment tests 
performed for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2012 and could be early adopted. In 2012, we used a quantitative assessment to test for 
impairment on indefinite-lived intangible assets. The accounting standard update is intended to simplify the assessment for indefinite-lived asset 
impairments and will not affect our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.  

   

  

December 31,    2012    
Inventories    $ 9,412   
Property, plant and equipment      1,102   
Intangible assets      2,065   
    $ 12,579   

December 31,    2012    
Floor plan notes payable    $ 8,347   

Year Ended December 31,    2012      2011      2010    
Floor plan interest    $ 217     $ 520     $ 493   
Other interest      69       108       117   

Total interest    $ 286     $ 628     $ 610   

Year Ended December 31,    2012      2011      2010    
Revenue    $ 82,150     $ 131,380     $ 100,979   

Gain from discontinued operations    $ 2,186     $ 1,516     $ 648   
Net gain (loss) on disposal activities      (621 )     4,396       (301 ) 
      1,565       5,912       347   
Income tax expense      (598 )     (2,262 )     (215 ) 
Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes    $ 967     $ 3,650     $ 132   

Goodwill and other intangible assets disposed of    $ 169     $ 712     $ -  

Cash generated from disposal activities    $ 6,618     $ 23,838     $ 941   

Floor plan debt paid in connection with disposal activities    $ 6,712     $ 1,784     $ 2,134   

Year Ended December 31,    2012      2011      2010    
Goodwill and other intangible assets    $ (169 )   $ 3,168     $ -  
Property, plant and equipment      (299 )     1,357       (217 ) 
Inventory      (82 )     (88 )     -  
Other      (71 )     (41 )     (84 ) 
    $ (621 )   $ 4,396     $ (301 ) 
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In December 2011, the FASB issued an accounting standard update that requires disclosure about offsetting and related arrangements of certain 
financial instruments and derivative instruments. These disclosures enable users to understand the effect of these arrangements on financial position. The 
amendments in this accounting standard update are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and interim periods within those 
annual periods. The accounting standard update affects disclosure requirements only and will not affect our consolidated financial position, results of 
operations, or cash flows.  
   
  (18)         Related Party Transactions  

On March 27, 2012, we completed the sale of an 80% interest in our Nissan, Volkswagen and BMW stores in Medford, Oregon to Dick 
Heimann, a director and our Vice Chairman. We received proceeds of $9.6 million, of which $2.9 million was received in cash and $6.7 million was 
received through the payoff of floor plan financing. The sale of the 80% interest in the stores resulted in a gain of $0.7 million and was recorded as a 
component of selling, general and administrative expense on our Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

The Nissan and Volkswagen stores were purchased for the book value of the inventory as defined by the original terms of an option agreement 
provided to Mr. Heimann in 2009. The price of the intangible assets of $1.2 million was based on the fair value of the intangible assets related to the 
BMW store. We corroborated the fair value of the BMW store’s intangible assets with independent third party broker opinions and financial projections 
using a fair value income approach.  

When we sold the three stores, we entered into a shared service agreement with the stores. This agreement allows the stores to lease our 
employees, use the Lithia name, utilize accounting support functions and receive consulting services. The services provided and the costs of the services 
are structured the same as the shared services provide to our wholly owned stores.  

We retained a 20% interest in the stores as of the transaction date. We determined that we are not the primary beneficiary of the stores and the 
risk and rewards associated with our investment are based on ownership percentages. As a result, the stores do not qualify for consolidation and our 20% 
interest is accounted for under the equity method. We determined we maintained significant influence over the operations. We recorded the equity 
investment at fair value of $0.8 million as of the transaction date that resulted in a gain of $0.2 million. The gain was recorded as a component of other 
income on our Consolidated Statements of Operations. We determined the fair value of our equity investment based on independent third party broker 
opinions and financial projections using a fair value income approach.  

As of December 31, 2012, the carrying value of our equity investment was $1.1 million and was recorded as a component of other non-current 
assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.  
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Exhibit 10.13.1 
NON EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION PLAN  

2012/2013 SERVICE YEAR  
   
Cash Retainer:                              $ 48,000                 ($4,000 per month paid in twelve equal installments subsequent to election by shareholders)  
   
Award of Restricted  
Share Units (RSUs)*:                   $ 80,000                   **  
   
 
 
 
   
Total Compensation                     $128,000  
   
   
   
Mid-Term Appointments  
   
The cash retainer and RSU awards will be prorated for the service year with a new director given full credit for a partial month's service. The market 
value used to calculate the number of shares to be awarded to a mid-term appointee will be the average closing price of Lithia Class A Common Stock 
over the 20 trading days prior to the date of appointment to the Board of Directors.  
   
   
   
  

   

   
 
   
   

Adopted April 27, 2012  

*  Number of shares is determined by dividing the average closing price of Lithia Class A Common Stock over the 20 trading days prior to the start 
of the service period on April 27, 2012 ($26.03), into $80,000 (3,073 shares), which RSUs shall vest 25% on the first business day of the month 
following each regularly scheduled quarterly in-person board of directors meeting, commencing with the April 27, 2012 meeting. On death, 
disability, or change in control, the RSUs will fully vest. On a termination prior to completion of the service period, the board of directors may 
waive all or any portion of the remaining service requirement to accelerate the vesting of the RSUs should the board of directors determine that 
the circumstances support such action.  

**  An award of additional RSUs is made for the Audit Committee Chair (value of $6,000, which equals 231 shares), Corporate Governance 
Committee Chair (value of $3,000, which equals 115 shares), Compensation Committee Chair (value of $3,000, which equals 115 shares) and 
Lead Independent Director (value of $3,000, which equals 115 shares).  



Exhibit 10.17 
AMENDED AND RESTATED  

SPLIT-DOLLAR AGREEMENT  
(Endorsement Method)  

   
THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED SPLIT-DOLLAR AGREEMENT (this “Amended and Restated Agreement”) by and between Lithia 

Motors, Inc. , an Oregon corporation (“Lithia”), and Sidney B. DeBoer (“Employee”), is dated effective January 1, 2013.  
   

Recitals  
   

   

 

 

 

 

   

A.  Until October 24, 2012 (the “Conversion Date”), Lithia owned life insurance Policy Number 56740061 (the “Hancock Policy”) issued by 
Manufacturers Life Insurance Company (U.S.A.) (the “Insurer”), on the life of Employee with a face amount of $37,276,000.  

B.  Lithia and Employee are parties to (i) the Split-Dollar Agreement dated effective November 7, 2006 (the “November 2006 Hancock 
Agreement”), which grants Employee the right to designate a beneficiary of the Hancock Policy in an amount equal to $7,000,000, and under 
which Employee is required to pay to Lithia pro-rata premiums in the amounts specified in the November 2006 Hancock Agreement; and (ii) the 
Split-Dollar Agreement dated effective January 28, 2009 (the “January 2009 Hancock Agreement”), which grants Employee the right to 
designate a beneficiary of the Hancock Policy in an amount equal to $6,000,000, and under which Employee is required to pay Lithia pro-rata 
premiums in the amounts specified in the January 2009 Hancock Agreement.  

C.  Lithia is the owner of life insurance Policy Number 18-103-860 issued by The Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company (the “Northwestern 
Mutual Policy”), which provides a $12,000,000 death benefit on the life of Employee, and Employee and Lithia are parties to the Spit-Dollar 
Insurance Agreement (Endorsement Method) effective December 20, 2007 (the “NWM Split-Dollar Agreement”), under which Employee has 
right to designate the beneficiary of the Northwestern Mutual Policy in an amount equal to the death benefit minus the greater of Lithia’s 
cumulative premiums paid or the policy cash value as of Employee’s death.  

D.  Effective as of the Conversion Date, the Hancock Policy was converted (the “Conversion”) into 10 new policies with a face value of $3.7276 
million each (each, a “New Policy”), and Employee no longer designated any beneficiary of the Hancock Policy.  

E.  Employee desires to swap (the “Swap”) his coverage under the Northwestern Mutual Policy with coverage under four of the New Policies, which 
have the following policy numbers (each, an “Employee Policy”): 93027940; 93027932; 93027949; and 93027971.  

F.  Employee and Lithia desire to amend and restate the November 2006 Hancock Agreement and the January 2009 Hancock Agreement and to 
terminate the NWM Split-Dollar Agreement.  

  
  



   
In consideration of the premises and of the mutual promises contained herein, the parties agree as follows:  

   
Agreement  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

  

1.  Amended and Restated Agreement . This Amended and Restated Agreement replaces each of the November 2006 Hancock Agreement and the 
January 2009 Hancock Agreement.  

2.  Termination of NWM Split-Dollar Agreement . The NWM Split-Dollar Agreement is terminated effective immediately. Employee irrevocably 
waives Employee’s right to purchase the Northwestern Mutual Policy from Lithia.  

3.  Ownership of New Policies . Lithia is the sole and absolute owner of each of the New Policies, and Lithia may exercise all ownership rights 
granted to the owner thereof by the terms of each New Policy, except as otherwise provided herein.  

4.  Employee’s Right to Designate Beneficiaries . Employee may designate the beneficiary or beneficiaries of the death benefit of each of the 
Employee Policies, minus the greater of Lithia’s cumulative premiums paid or the policy cash value as of Employee’s death, by specifying the 
beneficiary or beneficiaries in a written notice to Lithia. Upon receipt of such notice, Lithia shall execute and deliver to the Insurer the form 
necessary to designate the requested persons as the beneficiaries of the Employee Policies. Lithia shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to 
designate the beneficiary or beneficiaries of each of the six New Policies that are not Employee Policies.  

5.  Endorsements. Within a reasonable time following the Conversion, Lithia shall execute endorsements for the benefit of the Employee, endorsing 
the right to name beneficiaries of the Employee Policies death benefit as provided under this Agreement (each an “Endorsement”). Except as 
otherwise provided in this Amended and Restated Agreement, each Endorsement shall not be terminated, altered or amended by Lithia without 
the express written consent of the Employee. The parties hereto agree to take all action necessary to cause all Endorsements to conform to the 
provisions of this Agreement.  

6.  Premium Payment. Lithia shall pay the entire premium on each of the New Policies as each premium becomes due.  

7.  Limitation on Lithia’s Rights in Employee Policies . Except as otherwise provided herein, Lithia shall not sell, assign, transfer, surrender or 
cancel the Employee Policies, nor change the beneficiary designation provisions thereof, without, in any such case, the express written consent of 
the Employee.  

8.  Termination; Right to Purchase Employee Policies .  

   (a)  This Amended and Restated Agreement shall terminate upon the earlier to occur of (i) Employee’s death or (ii) 181 days after the 
Employment Termination Date. The “Employment Termination Date” is the date that Employee’s employment with Lithia is terminated 
for any reason other than Employee’s death. In addition, Employee may terminate this Amended and Restated Agreement, with or 
without the consent of Lithia, by giving notice of termination in writing to Lithia.  

  
  



   

   

   

   

   

   

   

  

   (b)  If Employee’s employment with Lithia is terminated for any reason other than Employee’s death, effective immediately Employee shall 
have the right to purchase each Employee Policy from Lithia as provided in this Section 8(b) (the “Purchase Option”). The Purchase 
Option shall remain open for 180 days after the Employment Termination Date, at which time the Purchase Option shall terminate. The 
purchase price of each Employee Policy shall be the sum of such policy’s interpolated terminal reserve and any unearned premiums, 
plus a pro-rata portion of dividends expected to be paid for that policy year, minus any policy and premium loans and any other 
indebtedness secured by the policy.  

9.  Collection of Death Proceeds . Upon the death of the Employee, Lithia shall promptly take all action necessary to obtain the death benefit 
provided under the Employee Policies. When such benefit has been collected and paid as provided herein, this Agreement shall thereupon 
terminate.  

10.  Insurer Not a Party . The Insurer shall be fully discharged from its obligations under each Employee Policy by payment of such policy’s death 
benefit to the beneficiary or beneficiaries named in the policy, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy. In no event shall the Insurer be 
considered a party to this Agreement, or any modification or amendment hereof, and none of the provisions herein shall in any way be construed 
as enlarging, changing, varying or in any other way affecting the obligations of the Insurer as expressly provided in any Employee Policy, except 
insofar as the provisions hereof are made a part of any Employee Policy by the beneficiary designation executed by Lithia and filed with the 
Insurer in connection herewith.  

11.  Assignment by Employee. Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrary, the Employee shall have the right to absolutely and irrevocably 
assign by gift all of the Employee’s right, title and interest in and to this Amended and Restated Agreement and under any Endorsement to an 
Employee Policy to an assignee. The Employee may exercise this right by executing a written document in the form used by the Insurer for 
irrevocable gifts, and delivering this form to Lithia. Upon receipt of such form, executed by the Employee and duly accepted by the assignee 
thereof, Lithia shall consent thereto in writing, and shall thereafter treat the Employee’s assignee as the sole owner of all of the Employee’s right, 
title and interest in and to this Amended and Restated Agreement and in and to any applicable Endorsement to an Employee Policy. Thereafter, 
the Employee shall have no right, title or interest in and to this Agreement or any applicable Endorsement, all such rights being vested in and 
exercisable only by such assignee.  

12.  Named Fiduciary, Claims Procedure and Administration .  

   (a)  Named Fiduciary. Lithia is hereby designated as the named fiduciary under this Amended and Restated Agreement. The named 
fiduciary shall have authority to control and manage the operation and administration of this Amended and Restated Agreement, and it 
shall be responsible for establishing and carrying out a funding policy and method consistent with the objectives of this Amended and 
Restated Agreement.  

  
  



   

   

   

   

   

  

   (b)  Claim Procedure. A person who believes that he or she is being denied a benefit to which he or she is entitled under this Amended and 
Restated Agreement (hereinafter referred to as a “Claimant”) may file a written request for such benefit with Lithia, setting forth his or 
her claim. The request must be addressed to the President, Chief Financial Officer, or Associate General Counsel of Lithia at its then 
principal place of business.  

   (c)  Claim Decision. Upon receipt of a claim, Lithia shall advise the Claimant that a reply will be forthcoming within 90 days and shall, in 
fact, deliver such reply within such period. Lithia may, however, extend the reply period for an additional 90 days for reasonable cause. 
If the claim is denied in whole or in part, Lithia shall adopt a written opinion, using language calculated to be understood by the 
Claimant, setting forth: (i) the specific reason or reasons for such denial; (ii) the specific reference to pertinent provisions of this 
Amended and Restated Agreement on which such denial is based; (iii) a description of any additional material or information necessary 
for the Claimant to perfect his or her claim and an explanation why such material or such information is necessary; (iv) appropriate 
information as to the steps to be taken if the Claimant wishes to submit the claim for review; and (v) the time limits for requesting a 
review under Section 12(d) hereof and for review under Section 12(e) hereof.  

   (d)  Request for Review. Within 60 days after the receipt by the Claimant of the written opinion described above, the Claimant may request 
in writing that the Secretary of Lithia review the determination of Lithia. Such request must be addressed to the Secretary of Lithia, at its 
then principal place of business. The Claimant or his or her duly authorized representative may, but need not, review the pertinent 
documents and submit issues and comments in writing for consideration by the Secretary. If the Claimant does not request a review of 
Lithia’s determination by the Secretary of Lithia within such 60 day period, he or she shall be barred and estopped from challenging 
Lithia’s determination.  

   (e)  Review of Decision. Within 60 days after the Secretary’s receipt of a request for review, he or she will review Lithia’s determination. 
After considering all materials presented by the Claimant, the Secretary will render a written opinion, written in a manner calculated to 
be understood by the Claimant, setting forth the specific reasons for the decision and containing specific references to the pertinent 
provisions of this Amended and Restated Agreement on which the decision is based. If special circumstances require that the 60 day 
time period be extended, the Secretary will so notify the Claimant and will render the decision as soon as possible, but no later than 
120 days after receipt of the request for review.  
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13.  Economic Benefit Tax Treatment . This Amended and Restated Agreement shall be interpreted and enforced to comply with the split dollar final 
regulations so that it is treated as an economic benefit transaction for tax purposes in which, at all times, the only economic benefit to Employee 
shall be the value of the current life insurance protection attributable to naming one or more beneficiaries under the Employee 
Policies.  Employee shall not have any current access to any Employee Policy’s cash values within the meaning of the split dollar final 
regulations or any other economic benefit other than the cost of current life insurance protection.  

14.  Amendment. This Amended and Restated Agreement may not be amended, altered or modified, except by a written instrument signed by the 
parties hereto, or their respective successors or assigns, and may not be otherwise terminated except as provided herein.  

15.  Binding Effect. This Amended and Restated Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Lithia and its successors and assigns, 
and upon the Employee, the Employee’s successors, assigns, heirs, executors, administrators and beneficiaries.  

16.  Notices. Any notice, consent or demand required or permitted to be given under the provisions of this Amended and Restated Agreement shall be 
in writing, and shall be signed by the party giving or making the same. If such notice, consent or demand is mailed to a party hereto, it shall be 
sent by United States certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed to such party’s last known address as shown on the records of Lithia. The date of 
such mailing shall be deemed the date of notice, consent or demand.  

17.  Governing Law. This Amended and Restated Agreement, and the rights of the parties hereunder, shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Oregon.  

18.  Effect of Termination; Survival . If any party terminates this Amended and Restated Agreement pursuant to Section 8 hereof, all rights and 
obligations of the parties hereunder shall terminate without any liability of any party to any other party; provided, however, that any provision 
that by its terms is intended to survive termination of this Amended and Restated Agreement, including, without limitation, Sections 2 , 14 , 15 , 
16 , 17 and 18 hereof, shall survive termination of this Amended and Restated Agreement.  

  
  



 
   
The parties have executed this Amended and Restated Agreement as of the day and year first above written.  
   
 
   

   
 
                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

                                                                                                                
                                                                                  
 

  

CORPORATION:  EMPLOYEE: 
    

Lithia Motors, Inc.  
                                                                                
    

  Sidney B. DeBoer 
By:                                                                           
Name:                                                                      
Title:                                                                        



Exhibit 10.24 
  

AMENDED EMPLOYMENT AND CHANGE IN CONTROL AGREEMENT  
 

This AMENDED EMPLOYMENT AND CHANGE IN CONTROL AGREEMENT (“ Agreement ”) between Lithia Motors, Inc., an Oregon 
corporation (“ Employer ”), and ________ (“ Executive ”), dated as of February 22, 2013, amends and replaces in its entirety the Terms of Amended 
Employment and Change in Control Agreement between Employer and Executive dated _______________.  
 

Employer and Executive agree as follows:  
 
1.              Terms of Employment .  The employment of Executive by Employer, or by Employer’s wholly owned subsidiary, is “at will” and Executive’s 
employment may be terminated at any time for any lawful reason or for no reason at all.  
 
2.              Termination Related to Change in Control .  
 

(a)            Definitions .  
 

i.      “ Cause ” for termination of employment means any one or more of the following: (A) willful misfeasance, gross negligence, or 
conduct involving dishonesty in the performance of Executive’s duties, as determined by the board of directors of Employer;  (B) conviction of a crime in 
connection with Executive’s duties, or of any felony; (C) conduct significantly harmful to Employer, as reasonably determined by the Boards of Directors, 
including but not limited to intentional violation of law or of any significant policy or procedure of Employer; (D) refusal or failure to act in accordance 
with a stipulation, requirement, or directive of the Boards of Directors (provided such directive is lawful); or (E) failure to faithfully or diligently perform 
any of the duties of Executive’s employment which are specified in this Agreement, articulated by the board of directors, or are usual and customary 
duties of Executive’s employment, if Executive has not corrected the problem or formulated a plan for its correction with the Board (if such failure is not 
susceptible to immediate correction) within 30 days after notice to Executive.  
 

ii.      A “ Change in Control ” occurs on the date: (A) Employer merges or consolidates with another entity and as a result less than 
50% of the combined voting power of the resulting entity immediately after the merger or consolidation is held by persons who were the holders of 
Employer’s voting securities immediately before the merger or consolidation; (B) any person, entity, or group of persons or entities, other than through 
merger or consolidation, acquires 50% or more of the total fair market value or total voting power of Employer’s outstanding stock (excluding 
acquisitions through transfers of Class B Common Stock to a Permitted Transferee as defined in the Company’s Restated Articles of Incorporation) or 
acquires substantially all of Employer’s assets; (C) any one person, or more than one person acting as a group acquires (or has acquired during the 12-
month period ending on the date of the most recent acquisition by such person or persons) ownership of stock of Employer possessing 50% or more of the 
total voting power of the stock of Employer (excluding acquisitions through transfers of Class B Common Stock to a Permitted Transferee as defined in 
the Company’s Restated Articles of Incorporation); or (D) a majority of Employer’s Board of Directors is removed from office by a vote of Employer’s 
shareholders over the recommendation of the Board or replaced during any 12-month period by directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed 
by a majority of Employer’s board of directors before the date of the appointment or election.  
 

iii.      “ Change in Control Benefits ” means (A) 24 months of base salary, based on Executive’s then base salary, (B) continuing health 
insurance benefits until the earlier of (1) 24 months after termination, (2) the full COBRA period required by law, or (3) when Executive becomes eligible 
for employer-sponsored health insurance from a subsequent employer and (C) the unvested portion of any bonus or award at the “target level”, if specified 
in the award, or at the highest possible award level if no target level is specified, including, but not limited, to an equity award (“ Incentive 
Compensation ”) that vests based on Executive’s continued employment at the Company or on attainment of specified performance criteria.  
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iv.      “ Good Reason ” for Executive’s resignation means (A) any one or more of the following occurs without Executive’s consent: (1) 

a material diminution of Executive’s base compensation (unless consistent with an across the board pay reduction for all senior management and not in 
excess of 20%); (2) a material change in the geographic location at which Executive must perform services for Employer; (3) a material diminution in 
Executive’s authority, duties or responsibilities, or (4) any action or inaction by Employer that constitutes a material breach of this Agreement; (B) 
Executive provides notice to Employer of the existence of the condition within 90 days of the initial existence of the condition; (C) Employer has 30 days 
following receipt of such notice to remedy the condition and fails to do so; and (D) Executive resigns within twelve months of such event occurring.  
 

(b)            Payment of Change in Control Benefits .  After shareholder approval of a Change in Control and for a period continuing for one year 
following the approved Change in Control, if Employer terminates Executive’s employment without Cause or Executive terminates his employment for 
Good Reason, Executive shall receive the Change in Control Benefit, subject to reduction in accordance with Section 3.  Subject to Section 3, any Change 
in Control Benefit payable in cash shall be paid in installments over 24 months in accordance with Employer’s standard payroll procedures and subject to 
statutory payroll deductions.  Receipt of any Change in Control Benefit is conditioned on Executive having executed the Separation Agreement in 
substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “ Separation Agreement ”) and the revocation period specified therein having expired without 
Executive having revoked the Separation Agreement.  Receipt and continued receipt of the Change in Control Benefit is further conditioned on Executive 
not being in violation of any material term of this Agreement or in violation of any material term of the Separation Agreement. Any non-cash 
compensation, including any Incentive Compensation not payable in cash, shall be paid promptly following Executive’s execution of the Separation 
Agreement and expiration of the revocation period specified in the Separation Agreement without Executive having revoked the Separation 
Agreement.  Installments of the cash portion of the Change in Control Benefits shall be paid on the first day of each month beginning on the first month 
following Executive’s execution of the Separation Agreement and expiration of the revocation period specified in the Separation Agreement without 
Executive having revoked the Separation Agreement, provided that if the period during which Executive can consider or revoke the Separation Agreement 
spans two taxable years of  Executive (i.e., two calendar years), the first installment shall be paid in the second taxable year.  
 
3.              “Excess Parachute Payment” Restrictions; Limitation on Change in Control Benefits .  If any benefit payable by Employer to Executive, 
including without limitation the Change in Control Benefits payable under Section 2, either alone or together with other payments or compensation 
benefits to which Executive is entitled to receive from Employer, would constitute an “excess parachute payment” as defined in Section 280G of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “ Code ”), those benefits shall be reduced to the largest amount that will result in no portion of the benefits being 
subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code.  Executive may select which particular benefits will be reduced to comply with this 
section.  The determination of the amount of reduction in the benefits required pursuant to the foregoing provisions shall be made by mutual agreement of 
Employer and Executive or, if no agreement is possible, by Employer’s accountants.  
 
4.              409A .  Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary:  
 

(a)            Specified employee . If, at the time of Executive’s “separation of service” with Employer, he or she is a “specified employee” as such 
terms are defined in Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code and regulations promulgated thereunder, and one or more of the payments or benefits 
received or to be received by Executive pursuant to this Agreement would constitute “deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A, no such payment 
or benefit will be provided under this Agreement until the earlier of: (i) the date that is six months following Executive’s termination of employment with 
Employer, or (ii) Executive’s death, unless the payment or distribution is exempt from the application of Section 409A.  If any of Executive’s benefits that 
are paid in installments under this Agreement are subject to the six-month delay set forth in this Section 4, the first installment payment shall be made in 
the seventh month following termination of employment and shall equal the aggregate installment payments Executive would have received during the 
first six months plus the payment Executive is otherwise entitled to receive for the seventh month.  
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(b)            Separation from Service .  To the extent that any payment or benefit provided for in this Agreement constitutes a “deferral of 

compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and such payment or benefit is payable upon Executive’s termination of employment, 
that payment or benefit shall be payable only upon Executive’s “separation from service” within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code.  
 

(c)            Separate Payment .   Each payment of a Change in Control Benefits is hereby designated as a separate payment, rather than a part of a 
larger single payment or one of a series of payments  
 

(d)            Administration .  The parties intend that this Agreement, to the extent possible, will be administered in accordance with Section 409A 
of the Code and will interpreted in a manner so that all payments hereunder do not constitute a deferral of compensation or, if so, will constitute a deferral 
for which the payment and other terms are compliant with Section 409A of the Code.  Employer may amend this Agreement, adopt policies and 
procedures, or take other actions (including amendments, policies, procedures and actions with retroactive effect) that Employer determines are necessary 
or appropriate to (i) exempt any payment or benefit under this Agreement from the application of Section 409A, or (ii) cause any payment or benefit to 
comply with the requirements of Section 409A.  
 
5.              Restrictive Covenants  
 

(a)           The restrictive covenants set forth in this Section 5(a) shall apply to Executive only if Executive receives any Change in Control 
Benefits under this Agreement.  
 

(i)            Non-Solicitation of Lithia Employees .  Except as may be consented to in writing by Employer, during the 24 month period 
following Executive’s separation of service, Executive will not, directly or indirectly, employ or offer employment to, or assist or be affiliated with any 
other person in employing, any persons employed by Employer or any of its subsidiaries in a management position (Director or higher) on or after the date 
hereof (“ Managers ”), and will not, either directly or indirectly, solicit, induce, recruit or encourage any Managers to leave their employment, attempt to 
solicit, induce, recruit or encourage any Managers to leave their employment, or cause or encourage any person to directly or indirectly solicit, induce, 
recruit or encourage Managers to leave their employment, either for him or herself or for any other person or entity, unless such person has not been 
employed by Employer or any of its subsidiaries for at least six months.  
 

For purposes of this paragraph, the terms “solicit, induce, recruit and encourage” means, direct and indirect communications of any kind and 
nature, directed specifically to an individual for the purpose of causing the person to leave their employment with Employer, but does not include general 
advertisement or notice of job opportunities within an industry. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “affiliated with” includes Executive’s ownership 
of 3% or more of the equity of any person, lending money to any person, or serving as an executive officer, director, manager or consultant to any person.  
 

(ii)            Non Competition .  Executive will not be “affiliated with” (as that term is defined in Section 5(a)(i) above) any person or 
company having a retail automotive location within 50 miles of any dealership of Employer at the time of Executive’s separation of service, for 24 months 
following Executive’s separation of service related to a Change in Control pursuant to which Executive is entitled to the severance payments provided in 
Section 2.   
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(iii)            No Disparagement .  Executive shall not take any action or make any statement that disparages Employer, its operation, 

business, or reputation, or any of its officers or directors, or their reputation, and shall not encourage or induce any third parties to disparage such persons 
(“ Disparaging Acts ”) for three years following Executive’s separation of service.  “Disparaging Acts” means any statement, communication or 
publication, oral or written, regardless of whether such statement, communication or publication is true, made about such persons or their reputation, that 
is vilifying and/or derogatory in nature and that reasonably would be expected to result in a negative perception of such person, or that otherwise may 
have a material adverse effect on such person or their reputation.  
 

(b)           The restrictive covenants set forth in this Section 5(b) shall apply to Executive regardless of whether Executive receives any Change in 
Control Benefits under this Agreement.  
 

(i)            Disclosure of Confidential Information .  During Executive’s employment with Employer, Executive will have access to and 
become familiar with certain proprietary and confidential information of Employer and its subsidiaries not known to the public generally, or by its actual 
or potential competitors (“ Confidential Information ”).  Executive acknowledges that such information constitutes valuable, special, and unique assets 
of Employer’s business, even though such information may not be of a technical nature and may not be protected under trade secret or related laws.  
 

“Confidential Information” means any company proprietary information, technical data, trade secrets or know-how, including, but not limited to 
research, strategic and marketing plans, product plans, products, services, markets, processes, policies, financial or other business information disclosed 
to, or discovered by, Executive either directly or indirectly, during Executive’s employment with Employer.  Executive further understand that 
Confidential Information does not include any of the foregoing items which has become publicly known and made generally available through no 
wrongful act or omission of his/her or of others who were under confidentiality obligations as to the item or items involved or improvements or new 
versions thereof.  
 

For three years following a separation of employment, Executive will not, without the prior written approval from an authorized officer of 
Employer, directly or indirectly (i) reveal, report, publish, disclose or transfer any Confidential Information, other than information that constitutes “trade 
secrets” under applicable state law (“ Company Trade Secrets ”), to any person, firm, corporation or entity, or (ii) use any Confidential Information for 
any purpose or for the benefit of any person, firm, corporation or entity.  Further, for so long as such information remains Company Trade Secrets under 
applicable state laws, Executive shall not, without the prior written approval from an authorized officer of Employer, directly or indirectly (i) reveal, 
report, publish, disclose or transfer any information that constitutes Company Trade Secrets to any person, firm, corporation or entity, or (ii) use any of 
the Company Trade Secrets for any purpose or for the benefit of any person, firm, corporation or entity.  
 

(ii)            Creative Work .  Executive agrees that all creative work and work product, including but not limited to all technology, 
business management tools, processes, software, patents, trademarks, and copyrights developed by Executive during employment with Employer, 
regardless of when or where such work or work product was produced, constitutes work made for hire, all rights of which are owned by 
Employer.  Executive hereby assigns to Employer all rights, title, and interest, whether by way of copyrights, trade secret, trademark, patent, or otherwise, 
in all such work or work product, regardless of whether the same is subject to protection by patent, trademark, or copyright laws.  
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(iii)            Return of Property .  If and when Executive ceases for any reason to be employed by Employer, Executive must return to 

Employer all keys, pass cards, identification cards and any other property of Employer.  At the same time, Executive also must return to Employer all 
originals and copies (whether in hard copy, electronic or other form) of any documents, drawings, notes, memoranda, designs, devices, diskettes, tapes, 
manuals, and specifications which constitute proprietary information or material of Employer.  The obligations in this paragraph include the return of 
documents and other materials that may be in Executive’s desk at work, Executive’s car or place of residence, or in any other location under Executive’s 
control.  
 

(c)            Injunctive Relief .  Executive acknowledges that it may be impossible to measure in money the damages that will accrue to Employer 
if Executive fails to observe the covenants in this Section 5 (the “ Restrictive Covenants ”); therefore, in addition to any action at law for damages, the 
Restrictive Covenants may be enforced by an injunction to prohibit the restricted activity.  Executive hereby waives the claim or defense that an adequate 
remedy at law is available to Employer.  Nothing set forth herein shall prohibit   Employer from pursuing all remedies available to it.  
 

(d)            Reasonableness .  The parties agree that this Agreement in its entirety, and in particular the Restrictive Covenants, is reasonable both 
as to time and as to area.  The parties additionally agree (i) that the Restrictive Covenants are necessary for the protection of Employer’s business and 
goodwill; (ii) that the Restrictive Covenants are not any greater than are reasonably necessary to secure Employer’s business and goodwill; and (iii) that 
the degree of injury to the public due to the loss of the service and skill of Executive or the restrictions placed upon Executive’s opportunity to make a 
living with Executive’s skills upon enforcement of said restraints, does not and will not warrant non-enforcement of said restraints.  The parties agree that 
if any portion of the Restrictive Covenants is adjudged unreasonably broad, then the parties authorize said court or arbitrator to narrow same so as to make 
it reasonable, given all relevant circumstances, and to enforce the same.  
 

(e)            Survival .   This Section 5 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.  
 
6.              Dispute Resolution.   IF A DISPUTE ARISES PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE PARTIES AGREE TO RESOLVE THE 
DISPUTES THROUGH BINDING ARBITRATION AS SET FORTH BELOW.  THE PARTIES CONFIRM THAT BY AGREEING TO THIS 
ALTERNATE DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCESS, THEY INTEND TO GIVE UP THEIR RIGHT TO HAVE ANY DISPUTE DECIDED IN COURT 
BY A JUDGE OR JURY.  
 

Any and all disputes, claims, or controversies between the parties (“parties” specifically including, but not being limited to, any assignee of a 
party) arising out of or relating to this Agreement that are not otherwise resolved by their mutual agreement shall be submitted to final and binding 
arbitration before JAMS, or its successor, at JAMS’ office in Medford, Oregon (or, if none, at JAMS’ office in the United States which is closest to 
Medford, Oregon), pursuant to the United States Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. Sec. 1, et seq.  The dispute shall be submitted to one Arbitrator, who shall have 
sole authority to determine procedural questions, such as arbitrability, standing, and real party in interest, as well as the merits of the claim.  
 

Any party may commence the arbitration process by filing a written demand for arbitration with JAMS at the designated office and concurrently 
sending a copy to the other party or parties.  The arbitration will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of JAMS’ Comprehensive Arbitration 
Rules and Procedures in effect when the demand is filed.  The parties to the dispute, claim, or controversy will cooperate with JAMS and each other in 
selecting an arbitrator from JAMS’ panel of neutrals and in scheduling the arbitration proceedings.  The costs and fees of JAMS and of the arbitrator shall 
be borne equally by the parties to the dispute, claim, or controversy.  The provisions of this paragraph are specifically enforceable by any court with 
subject matter jurisdiction sitting in Jackson County, Oregon.  The prevailing party or parties shall be entitled to an award of its reasonable attorney fees 
and costs through every stage of the proceeding and in obtaining and enforcing any judgment.  The arbitrator shall have sole discretion to determine which 
is the prevailing party or parties and the amount of reasonable attorney fees and costs.  
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7.              Notices .  Any notice to be delivered under this Agreement shall be given in writing and delivered, personally or by certified mail, postage 
prepaid, addressed to Employer or to Executive at their last known addresses.  
 
8.              Governing Law .  The validity, interpretation, construction and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Oregon.  
 
9.              Waiver/Amendment . This Agreement may not be amended, released, discharged, abandoned, changed, or modified in any manner, except by 
an instrument in writing signed by each of the parties hereto.  The failure of any party hereto to enforce at any time any of the provisions of this 
Agreement shall in no way be construed to be a waiver of any such provision, nor in any way to affect the validity of this Agreement or any part thereof or 
the right of any party thereafter to enforce each and every such provision.  No waiver or any breach of this Agreement shall be held to be a waiver of any 
other or subsequent breach.  
 
10.            Severability .  If any provision of this Agreement shall be held by a court or arbitrator to be invalid or unenforceable, the remaining provisions 
shall continue to be fully effective.  If any part of this Agreement is held to be unenforceable as written, it shall be enforced to the maximum extent 
allowed by applicable law.  
 
11.            Entire Agreement .  This Agreement represents the entire employment agreement between the parties regarding the subject matter hereof and 
together with Employer’s employee handbook and Code of Business Conduct, governs the terms of Executive’s employment.  Where there is a conflict 
between this Agreement and the employee handbook or code, the terms of this Agreement shall govern.  This Agreement supersedes any other prior oral 
or written employment agreement between the parties on the subject matter hereof.  This Agreement does not supersede any incentive compensation 
agreement (including stock option or restricted share grant agreements) entered into separately by the parties to this Agreement, except as the same may 
be impacted by the provisions of Sections 3 or 4.  
 
12.            Assignment .  Executive shall not assign or transfer any of Executive’s rights pursuant to this Agreement, wholly or partially, to any other 
person or to delegate the performance of their duties under the terms of this Agreement.  Upon Executive’s death, Executive’s rights under this agreement 
shall inure to Executive’s heirs, executors, administrators or assigns.  The rights and obligations of Employer under this Agreement shall inure to the 
benefit of and be binding in each and every respect upon the direct and indirect successors and assigns of Employer, regardless of the manner in which the 
successors or assigns succeed to the interests or assets of Employer.  This Agreement shall not be terminated by the voluntary or involuntary dissolution 
of Employer, by any merger, consolidation or acquisition where Employer is not the surviving corporation, by any transfer of all or substantially all of 
Employer’s assets or by any other change in Employer’s structure or the manner in which Employer’s business or assets are held.  Executive’s 
employment shall not be deemed terminated upon the occurrence of one of the foregoing events.  In the event of any merger, consolidation or transfer of 
assets, this Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the surviving corporation or the corporation to which the assets are 
transferred.  
 
13.            Survival .  If any benefits provided to Executive under this Agreement are still owed or claims under the Agreement are still pending, at the 
time of termination of this Agreement, this Agreement shall continue in force with respect to those obligations or claims, until such benefits are paid in 
full or claims are resolved in full.  The Restrictive Covenants and dispute resolution provisions of this Agreement shall survive after termination of this 
Agreement, and shall be enforceable regardless of any claim Executive may have against Employer.  
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14.            Advice of Counsel.  Executive acknowledges that, in executing this Agreement, Executive has had the opportunity to seek the advice of 
independent legal counsel, and has read and understood all of the terms and provisions of this Agreement.  This Agreement shall not be 
construed against any party be reason of the drafting or preparation hereof.  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed this Agreement effective on the day and year first above written.  
 
EXECUTIVE:  
 
______________________________________  
[___________]  
 
 
LITHIA MOTORS, INC.  
 
 
By: ___________________________________  
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Exhibit A  

 
EMPLOYMENT SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND RELEASE OF CLAI MS  

 
This is a confidential agreement (the “Separation Agreement”) between you, Lithia Motors, Inc. and Lithia Support Services, Inc. (collectively, 

“Employer”). This Separation Agreement is dated for reference purposes _____________, 20___ (the “Delivery Date), which is the date we delivered this 
Separation Agreement to you for your consideration.  
 

1.       Termination of Employment.   Your employment terminates [or was terminated] on _______________, 20___ (the “Separation 
Date”).  
 

2.              Payments.   In exchange for your agreeing to the release of claims and other terms in this Separation Agreement, we will pay you the 
Change in Control Benefit, as appropriate, set forth in the Terms of Employment and Change in Control Agreement between you and Employer dated 
____________, 2008 (the “Change in Control Agreement”).  Such provisions of the Change in Control Agreement are incorporated herein by 
reference.  You acknowledge that we are not obligated to make these payments to you unless you comply with the material terms of the Change in Control 
Agreement and of this Separation Agreement.  
 

3.              COBRA Continuation Coverage.   Your normal employee participation in Employer’s group health coverage will terminate on the 
Separation Date and continuation of group health coverage thereafter will be made available to you and your dependents pursuant to federal law 
(COBRA) and, except as provided under Section 2 of the Change in Control Agreement, at your expense as provided under COBRA.  
 

4.        Termination of Benefits.   Except as provided in Section 3 above, your participation in all employee benefit plans and programs 
ended on the Separation Date.  Your rights under any pension benefit or other plans in which you may have participated will be determined in accordance 
with the written plan documents governing those plans.  
 

5.       Full Payment .  You acknowledge having received full payment of all compensation of any kind (including wages, salary, vacation, 
sick leave, commissions, bonuses and incentive compensation) that you earned as a result of your employment by us.  
 

6.       No Further Compensation.   Any and all agreements to pay you bonuses or other incentive compensation are terminated.  You 
understand and agree that you have no right to receive any further payments for bonuses or other incentive compensation.  We owe no further 
compensation or benefits of any kind, except as described in Section 2 above.  
 

7.        Release of Claims.  
 

(a)            You hereby release (i) Employer and its subsidiaries, affiliates, and benefit plans, (ii) each of Employer’s past and present 
shareholders, executives, directors, agents, employees, representatives, administrators, fiduciaries and attorneys, and (iii) the predecessors, successors, 
transferees and assigns of each of the persons and entities described in this sentence, from any and all claims of any kind, known or unknown, that arose 
on or before the date you signed this Separation Agreement.  
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(b)            The claims you are releasing include, without limitation, claims of wrongful termination, claims of constructive discharge, 

claims arising out of employment agreements, representations or policies related to your employment, claims arising under federal, state or local laws or 
ordinances prohibiting discrimination or harassment or requiring accommodation on the basis of age, race, color, national origin, religion, sex, disability, 
marital status, sexual orientation or any other status, claims of failure to accommodate a disability or religious practice, claims for violation of public 
policy, claims of retaliation, claims of failure to assist you in applying for future position openings, claims of failure to hire you for future position 
openings, claims for wages or compensation of any kind (including overtime claims), claims of tortious interference with contract or expectancy, claims 
of fraud or negligent misrepresentation, claims of breach of privacy, defamation claims, claims of intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress, 
claims of unfair labor practices, claims arising out of any claimed right to stock or stock options, claims for attorneys’ fees or costs, and any other claims 
that are based on any legal obligations that arise out of or are related to your employment relationship with us.  
 

(c)           You release and forever discharge us, our subsidiaries and affiliates, all predecessors and successors for such entities, and all 
officers, directors, employees, agents, shareholders, representatives and insurers of the aforementioned (herein, collectively the “Released Parties”) from 
any and all liability, damages or causes of action, claims, charges, judgments, or obligations of whatever kind or character you have or may have against 
the Released Parties, and you covenant that you shall not assist, participate or be represented in, nor institute, submit or file, or permit to be instituted, 
submitted or filed on the Released Parties, nor shall you voluntarily participate or cooperate in the prosecution of, any lawsuit, charge, claim, complaint or 
other proceeding against the Released Parties with any administrative agency, court or other forum under any federal, state or local laws or regulations, 
including, but not limited to, under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; claims under the Civil 
Rights Action of 1991; claims under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended; claims under 42 USC § 1981, 1981a, 1983, 1985, 
or 1988; claims under the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993; claims under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended; claims under 
the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 as amended; claims under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended; the Worker 
Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act; the Equal Pay Act of 1963; the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985; the applicable 
Workers’ Compensation statutes; and all amendments to each such Act as well as the regulations issued; or any other federal, state, or local laws, rules or 
regulations, including any insurance, human rights, civil rights, wage-hour, pension, or labor laws, rules or regulations; public policy, contract or tort laws, 
or any claim of retaliation under any law, or any claim arising under common law, including, but not limited to, causes of action for wrongful termination; 
discrimination on the basis of age, sex, race, or national origin or any other basis; intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress; intentional or 
negligent misrepresentation; fraud; conspiracy to commit any act mentioned herein; breach of the employment offer letter or of any other contract 
(whether express or implied, oral or written); breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing; interference with business advantage; 
interference with prospective economic advantage; interference with contractual relationship; defamation; failure to pay compensation of any kind, or to 
pay equal compensation for equal work; or any other action whether cognizable in law or in equity, based upon any conduct up to and including the date 
of this Separation Agreement, and shall not, from any source or proceeding, seek or accept any award or settlement therefrom.  
 

(d)           You knowingly and voluntarily agree to waive any rights or claims arising out of or relating to the federal Age Discrimination 
in Employment Act (29 USC) Section 621 et seq.) (“ADEA”) and you represent and acknowledge that you have been informed of the following:  (i) you 
are waiving any and all rights or claims that you may have arising under the ADEA; (ii) you understand that you are not waiving any rights or claims that 
may arise after the date this Separation Agreement is executed; (iii) you understand that in exchange for the waiver and release of your rights under this 
Separation Agreement, you are receiving consideration in addition to any consideration to which you are already entitled; (iv) you understand that this 
Separation Agreement does not bar you from bringing a claim under ADEA challenging the validity of the ADEA waiver set forth herein; (v) you have 
been advised to seek legal counsel regarding this waiver, to the extent you deem necessary or appropriate, and you have had ample time to review and 
analyze this entire Separation Agreement, and understands its final and binding effect; and (vi) you have seven (7) days to revoke this Separation 
Agreement after signing and delivering it to us.  
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(e)            You agree not to seek any personal recovery (of money damages, injunctive relief or otherwise) for the claims you are 

releasing in this Separation Agreement, either through any complaint to any governmental agency or otherwise.  You agree never to start any lawsuit or 
arbitration asserting any of the claims you are releasing in this Separation Agreement.  You represent and warrant that you have not initiated any 
complaint, charge, lawsuit or arbitration involving any of the claims you are releasing in this Separation Agreement.  Should you apply for future 
employment with Employer, Employer has no obligation to consider you for future employment.  
 

(f)            You represent and warrant that you have all necessary authority to enter into this Separation Agreement (including, if you are 
married, on behalf of your marital community) and that you have not transferred any interest in any claims to your spouse or to any third party.  
 

(g)            This Separation Agreement does not affect your rights, if any, to receive pension plan benefits, medical plan benefits, 
unemployment compensation benefits or workers’ compensation benefits.  This Separation Agreement also does not affect your rights, if any, under 
agreements, bylaw provisions, insurance or otherwise, to be indemnified, defended or held harmless in connection with claims that may be asserted 
against you by third parties.  
 

(h)            You understand that you are releasing potentially unknown claims, and that you have limited knowledge with respect to some 
of the claims being released.  You acknowledge that there is a risk that, after signing this Separation Agreement, you may learn information that might 
have affected your decision to enter into this Separation Agreement.  You assume this risk and all other risks of any mistake in entering into this 
Separation Agreement.  You agree that this release is fairly and knowingly made.  
 

(i)            You are giving up all rights and claims of any kind, known or unknown, except for the rights specifically given to you in this 
Separation Agreement.  
 

8.       Acceptance and Revocation Period and Effective Date .  You shall have twenty-one (21) days after the Delivery Date in which to 
review this Separation Agreement and deliver the Separation Agreement signed by you to us by such date.  The signed agreement must be delivered to 
Lithia Motors, Inc. to the attention of the Chief Executive Officer, at 360 E. Jackson Street, Medford, Oregon  97501.  You shall have a period of seven 
(7) days after the date upon which you deliver the signed Separation Agreement to us in which to revoke your acceptance (the “Revocation Period”).  This 
Separation Agreement shall become effective upon expiration of the Revocation Period, provided you have not delivered a written notice of revocation to 
us before such expiration (“Effective Date”).  In the event of any such revocation of this Separation Agreement, the obligations contained in the 
Separation Agreement shall be null and void and of no further force and effect, and there shall be no obligation by us to pay the sums, or provide the 
benefits, otherwise provided for in this Separation Agreement or the Change in Control Agreement.  For purposes of this Section, “delivery” of the 
Separation Agreement will be deemed given as of (i) the day the Separation Agreement is  delivered to us in person, or by a nationally recognized express 
delivery service (such as Federal Express, UPS or DHL) to the above address; (ii) the day the Separation Agreement is delivered via facsimile to us; or 
(iii) the day the Separation Agreement is deposited in the U.S. mail system, postage prepaid, certified or registered, return receipt requested, and addressed 
as set forth above.  
 

9.        Non-solicitation; Non Competition.   You will comply with Sections 5(a)(i) and (ii) of the Change in Control Agreement, 
incorporated herein by reference, and Employer will have the right to enforce those provisions under the terms of Section 5(c) of the Change in Control 
Agreement, incorporated herein by reference.  After the restrictive periods in Sections 5(a)(i) and (ii) of the Change in Control Agreement, you will not, 
apart from good faith competition, interfere with our relationships with customers, employees, vendors, or others.  
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10.       No Disparagement.   You may not disparage us, our officers or directors or our operation as set forth in Section 5(a)(iii) of the 

Change in Control Agreement.  
 

11.      Nondisclosure Agreement.   You will comply with the covenant regarding confidential information as set forth in Section 5(b)(i) of 
the Change in Control Agreement, which covenant is incorporated herein by reference.  
 

12.            Employer Materials.   You represent and warrant that you have, or no later than the Separation Date will have, returned all keys, 
credit cards, documents and other materials that belong to us, in accordance with Section 5(b)(iii) of the Change in Control Agreement, which is 
incorporated herein by reference.  
 

13.      Cooperation Regarding Other Claims .  If any claim is asserted by or against us as to which you have relevant knowledge, you will 
reasonably cooperate with us in the prosecution or defense of that claim, including by providing truthful information and testimony as reasonably 
requested by us.  
 

14.      No Admission of Liability.   Neither this Separation Agreement nor the payments made under this Separation Agreement are an 
admission of any liability or wrongdoing by us.  
 

15.      Independent Legal Counsel.   You are advised and encouraged to consult with an attorney before signing this Separation 
Agreement.  You acknowledge that you have had an adequate opportunity to do so.  
 

16.      Governing Law.   This Separation Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of Oregon that apply to contracts executed and to be 
performed entirely within the State of Oregon.  
 

17.      Dispute Resolution.  
 

(a)            Arbitration.   In the event a dispute arises pursuant to this Separation Agreement we both agree to resolve all disputes by 
submitting such dispute to binding arbitration as set forth below.  We confirm that by agreeing to this alternate dispute resolution process, we both intend 
to give up our rights to have any dispute decided in court by a judge or jury.  Any and all disputes, claims, or controversies between us arising out of or 
relating to this Separation Agreement shall be submitted to final and binding arbitration before JAMS, or its successor, at JAMS’ office in Medford, 
Oregon (or, if none, at JAMS’ office in the United States which is closest to Medford, Oregon), pursuant to the United States Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. 
Sec. 1, et seq.  The dispute shall be submitted to one Arbitrator, who shall have sole authority to determine procedural questions, such as arbitrability, 
standing, and real party in interest, as well as the merits of the claim.  
 

Either of us may commence the arbitration process by filing a written demand for arbitration with JAMS at the designated office and 
concurrently sending a copy to the other party or parties.  The arbitration will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of JAMS’ Comprehensive 
Arbitration Rules and Procedures in effect when the demand is filed.  Each of us will cooperate with JAMS and each other in selecting an arbitrator from 
JAMS’ panel of neutrals and in scheduling the arbitration proceedings.  The costs and fees of JAMS and of the arbitrator shall be borne equally by 
us.  The provisions of this paragraph are specifically enforceable by any court with subject matter jurisdiction sitting in Jackson County, Oregon.  

   

  

  

4 



 
(b)            Expenses/Attorneys’  Fees .  The prevailing party shall be awarded all costs and expenses of the proceeding, including but not 

limited to, attorneys’ fees, filing and service fees, witness fees and arbitrator’s fees.  If arbitration is commenced, the arbitrator will have full authority and 
complete discretion to determine the “prevailing party” and the amount of costs and expenses to be awarded.  
 

18.           Saving Provision .  If any part of this Separation Agreement is held to be unenforceable, it shall not affect any other part.  If any part 
of this Separation Agreement is held to be unenforceable as written, it shall be enforced to the maximum extent allowed by applicable law.  
 

19.      Final and Complete Agreement .  Except for the Change in Control Agreement to the extent it is expressly incorporated herein by 
reference, this Separation Agreement is the final and complete expression of all agreements between us on all subjects and supersedes and replaces all 
prior discussions, representations, agreements, policies and practices.  You acknowledge you are not signing this Separation Agreement relying on 
anything not set out herein.  
 
Lithia Motors, Inc.  
 
 
By: ____________________________________  
 
Title:___________________________________  
 
 
 
 
 
I, the undersigned, having been advised to consult with an attorney, hereby agree to be bound by this Separation Agreement and confirm that I 
have read and understood each part of it.  I acknowledge that pursuant to Section 8, I have twenty-one (21) days after delivery of this Separation 
Agreement within which to review and consider this agreement, prior to signing and delivering to you.  
 
 
____________________________________  
(Name)  
   
____________________________________  
(Signature  
   
____________________________________ 
Date  
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EXHIBIT 12 
   

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES  
 
The following table shows the ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges for us and our consolidated subsidiaries for the dates indicated.  
 
(Dollars in Thousands)  

 

 
For purposes of these ratios, “earnings” consist of income from continuing operations before income taxes and fixed charges, and “fixed charges” consist 
of interest expense on indebtedness and the interest component of rental expense, and amortization of debt discount and issuance expenses.  
 
We did not have any preferred stock outstanding for the periods presented above, and therefore the ratios of earnings to combined fixed charges and 
preferred stock dividends would be the same as the ratios of earnings to combined fixed charges presented above.  
 
 

  

    Year Ended December 31,    

    2012      2011      2010      2009      2008    
Earnings                                

Income (loss) from continuing operations 
before income taxes    $ 128,457     $ 88,270     $ 22,212     $ 11,578     $ (322,182 ) 

Fixed charges      27,381       26,866       29,401       30,947       45,357   
Amortization of capitalized interest      276       270       268       256       224   
Capitalized interest      (294 )     (163 )     -      (916 )     (1,661 ) 

Total earnings    $ 155,820     $ 115,243     $ 51,881     $ 41,865     $ (278,262 ) 
                                          
Fixed Charges                                          

Floor plan interest expense    $ 12,816     $ 10,364     $ 10,155     $ 10,581     $ 19,838   
Other interest expense (1)      9,621       12,878       14,523       13,845       17,539   
Capitalized interest costs      294       163       -      916       1,661   
Interest component of rent expense      4,650       3,461       4,723       5,605       6,319   

Total fixed charges    $ 27,381     $ 26,866     $ 29,401     $ 30,947     $ 45,357   
                                          
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges      5.7 x     4.3 x     1.8 x     1.4 x     (323,619 ) (2) 

(1)  Other interest expense includes amortization of debt issuance costs  
(2)   Reflects deficiency of earnings available to cover fixed charges. Because of the deficiency, ratio information is not provided.  



EXHIBIT 21 
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES  

   

   
NAME OF ENTITY (1)  

STATE OF  
ORIGIN  

ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME(S)  
(if different than entity name)  

    Lithia of Anchorage, Inc.     Alaska     Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of South Anchorage 
Lithia Value Autos  

Lithia Imports of Anchorage, Inc.  Alaska  Lithia Hyundai of Anchorage  
Lithia Kia of Anchorage  
Lithia Anchorage Auto Body  

Lithia of Fairbanks, Inc.  Alaska  Chevrolet of Fairbanks  
Chevrolet Buick GMC of Fairbanks  

Lithia NA, Inc.  Alaska  BMW of Anchorage  
Mini of Anchorage  

Lithia of South Central AK, Inc.  Alaska  Chevrolet of South Anchorage  
Chevrolet of Wasilla  
Saab of South Anchorage  

Lithia CIMR, Inc.  California  Lithia Chevrolet of Redding  

Lithia DC, Inc.  California    

Lithia of Eureka, Inc.  California  Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Eureka  

Lithia FMF, Inc.  California  Lithia Ford of Fresno  

Lithia Fresno, Inc.  California  Lithia Subaru of Fresno  
Fresno Mitsubishi  

Lithia JEF, Inc.  California  Lithia Hyundai of Fresno  

Lithia MMF, Inc.  California  Lithia Mazda of Fresno  
Lithia Suzuki of Fresno  

Lithia NF, Inc.  California  Lithia Nissan of Fresno  

Lithia of Santa Rosa, Inc.  California  Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Santa Rosa  

Lithia Sea P, Inc.  California  Porsche of Monterey  

Lithia Seaside, Inc.  California  BMW of Monterey  

Lithia TR, Inc.  California  Lithia Toyota of Redding  
Lithia Scion of Redding  

Lithia Ford of Boise, Inc.  Idaho  Lithia Ford Lincoln of Boise  
Auto Credit of Idaho  
Lithia Body & Paint of Boise  

Lithia of Pocatello, Inc.  Idaho  Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Pocatello  
Lithia Hyundai of Pocatello  
Lithia Dodge Trucks of Pocatello  

Lithia Poca-Hon, Inc.  Idaho  Honda of Pocatello  

Lithia CCTF, Inc.  Idaho  Chevrolet of Twin Falls  

Lithia of TF, Inc.  Idaho  Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Twin Falls  

Lithia AcDM, Inc.  Iowa  Acura of Johnston  
Lithia Body and Paint of Des Moines  

Lithia HDM, Inc.  Iowa  Honda of Ames  

  
  



   

   

  

   
NAME OF ENTITY (1)  

STATE OF  
ORIGIN  

ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME(S)  
(if different than entity name)  

Lithia MBDM, Inc.  Iowa  Mercedes Benz of Des Moines  
European Motorcars Des Moines  

Lithia NDM, Inc.  Iowa  Lithia Nissan of Ames  

Lithia of Des Moines, Inc.  Iowa  BMW of Des Moines  
European Motorcars Des Moines  

Lithia VAuDM, Inc.  Iowa  Audi Des Moines  
Lithia Volkswagen of Des Moines  

Lithia of Billings, Inc.  Montana  Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Billings  

Lithia of Billings II LLC  Montana  Lithia Toyota of Billings  
Lithia Scion of Billings  

Lithia of Missoula, Inc.  Montana  Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Missoula  

Lithia of Missoula II, LLC  Montana  Lithia Auto Center of Missoula  

Lithia CDH, Inc.  Montana  Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Helena  

Lithia HGF, Inc.  Montana  Honda of Great Falls  

Lithia of Great Falls, Inc.  Montana  Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Great Falls  

Lithia of Helena, Inc.  Montana  Chevrolet of Helena  

Lithia SALMIR, Inc.  Nevada  Lithia Volkswagen of Reno  
Lithia Hyundai of Reno  
Lithia Chrysler Jeep of Reno  

Lithia Reno Sub-Hyun, Inc.  Nevada  Lithia Reno Subaru  

LDLC, LLC  New Mexico  Lithia Dodge of Las Cruces  

Lithia CJDSF, Inc.  New Mexico  Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Santa Fe  
Lithia’s Las Vegas Auto Center  

Lithia ND Acquisition Corp. #1  North Dakota  Lithia Ford Lincoln of Grand Forks  

Lithia ND Acquisition Corp. #3  North Dakota  Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Grand Forks  

Lithia ND Acquisition Corp. #4  North Dakota  Lithia Toyota of Grand Forks  
Lithia Scion of Grand Forks  

Lithia Financial Corporation  Oregon    

Lithia Real Estate, Inc.  Oregon    

Lithia Motors Support Services, Inc.  Oregon    

Lithia MTLM, LLC  Oregon  Lithia Toyota  
Lithia Scion  

LGPAC, Inc.  Oregon  Lithia’s Grants Pass Auto Center  

Lithia DM, Inc.  Oregon  Lithia Dodge  
Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge  
Xpress Lube  

Lithia HPI, Inc.  Oregon    

Lithia DE, Inc.  Oregon  Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Eugene  

Lithia BNM, Inc.  Oregon    

  
  



   

   

  

   
NAME OF ENTITY (1)  

STATE OF  
ORIGIN  

ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME(S)  
(if different than entity name)  

Hutchins Imported Motors, Inc.  Oregon  Lithia Toyota of Springfield  
Lithia Scion of Springfield  

Hutchins Eugene Nissan, Inc.  Oregon  Lithia Nissan of Eugene  

Lithia Klamath, Inc.  Oregon  Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Klamath Falls  
Lithia Toyota of Klamath Falls  
Lithia Scion of Klamath Falls  
Lithia Klamath Falls Auto Center  

Lithia SOC, Inc.  Oregon  Lithia Subaru of Oregon City  

Lithia of Roseburg, Inc.  Oregon  Lithia Chrysler  Jeep Dodge of Roseburg  
Lithia Roseburg Auto Center  

Lithia Rose-FT, Inc.  Oregon  Lithia Ford Lincoln of Roseburg  

Lithia Medford Hon, Inc.  Oregon  Lithia Honda  

Lithia of Bend #1, LLC  Oregon  Bend Honda  

Lithia of Bend #2, LLC  Oregon  Chevrolet Cadillac of Bend  

Lithia of Eugene, LLC  Oregon  Lithia FIAT of Eugene  

LMBB, LLC  Oregon  Mercedes-Benz of Beaverton  

LMBP, LLC  Oregon  Mercedes-Benz of Portland  

LMBW, Inc.  Oregon  Mercedes-Benz of Wilsonville  

LMOP, LLC  Oregon    

LBMP, LLC  Oregon  BMW Portland  
MINI of Portland  

LFKF, LLC  Oregon  Lithia Ford of Klamath Falls  

Lithia Bryan Texas, Inc.  Texas  Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Bryan College Station  

Lithia CJDSA, Inc.  Texas  All American Chrysler Jeep Dodge of San Angelo  

Lithia CSA, Inc.  Texas  All American Chevrolet of San Angelo  

Lithia NSA, Inc.  Texas  Honda of San Angelo  
All American Autoplex  

Lithia CJDO, Inc.  Texas  All American Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Odessa  

Lithia DMID, Inc.  Texas  All American Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Midland  

Lithia CO, Inc.  Texas  All American Chevrolet of Odessa  

Lithia CM, Inc.  Texas  All American Chevrolet of Midland  

Lithia HMID, Inc.  Texas  Hyundai of Odessa  

Lithia TO, Inc.  Texas  Lithia Toyota of Odessa  
Lithia Scion of Odessa  

Lithia of Abilene, Inc.  Texas  Honda of Abilene  

Lithia of Corpus Christi, Inc.  Texas  Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Corpus Christi  

Lithia of Killeen, LLC  Texas  All American Chevrolet of Killeen  

Lithia of Midland, Inc.  Texas  Honda of Midland  

  
  



   
  

   
NAME OF ENTITY (1)  

STATE OF  
ORIGIN  

ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME(S)  
(if different than entity name)  

Lithia TA, Inc.  Texas  Lithia Toyota of Abilene  
Lithia Scion of Abilene  

Camp Automotive, Inc.  Washington  Camp BMW  
Camp Chevrolet  
Subaru of Spokane  
Camp Cadillac  

Lithia Dodge of Tri-Cities, Inc.  Washington  Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Tri-Cities  

Lithia DC of Renton, Inc.  Washington  Lithia Chrysler Jeep Dodge of Renton  

Lithia HyR, Inc.  Washington  Lithia Hyundai of Renton  

Lithia of Bellingham, LLC  Washington  Chambers Chevrolet Cadillac of Bellingham  

Lithia of Seattle, Inc.  Washington  BMW Seattle  

Lithia of Spokane, Inc.  Washington  Mercedes Benz of Spokane  

(1)  Unless specifically noted to the contrary, all entities are wholly owned subsidiaries of Lithia Motors, Inc.  



EXHIBIT 23 
 
 
   

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
   
The Board of Directors  
Lithia Motors, Inc.:  
   
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (Nos. 333-43593, 333-69169, 333-156410, 333-39092, 333-61802, 333-106686, 
333-116839, 333-116840, 333-135350, 333-161590 and 333-168737) on Forms S-8 and registration statement (No. 333-182913) on Form S-3 of Lithia 
Motors, Inc. of our reports dated February 22, 2013, with respect to the Consolidated Balance Sheets of Lithia Motors, Inc. and subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related Consolidated Statements of Operations, Comprehensive Income, Changes in Stockholders’ Equity and Cash 
Flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2012, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2012, which reports appear in the December 31, 2012 annual report on Form 10-K of Lithia Motors, Inc.  
   
/s/ KPMG LLP  
   
Portland, Oregon  
February 22, 2013  
   
 
 



EXHIBIT 31.1 
   

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR RULE 15d-14(a)  

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934  
 
I, Bryan B. DeBoer, certify that:  
 

 
Date: February 22, 2013  
 
/s/ Bryan B. DeBoer  
Bryan B. DeBoer  
President and Chief Executive Officer  
Lithia Motors, Inc.  

1.   I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Lithia Motors, Inc.;  
2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report;  

3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.   The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
(f)) for the registrant and have:  

  (a)   Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

  (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

  (c)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

  (d)   Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.   The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

  (a)   All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

  (b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting.  



EXHIBIT 31.2 
   

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER  
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR RULE 15d-14(a)  

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934  
 
I, Christopher S. Holzshu, certify that:  
 

 
Date: February 22, 2013  
   
/s/ Christopher S. Holzshu  
Christopher S. Holzshu  
Senior Vice President,  
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary  
Lithia Motors, Inc.  

  

1.   I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Lithia Motors, Inc.;  
2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report;  

3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.   The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
(f)) for the registrant and have:  

  (a)   Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

  (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

  (c)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

  (d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.   The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

  (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

  (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting.  



EXHIBIT 32.1 
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OR RULE 15d-14(b)  

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350  
 
In connection with the Annual Report of Lithia Motors, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Bryan B. DeBoer, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, 
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:  

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.  

   
/s/ Bryan B. DeBoer  
Bryan B. DeBoer  
President and Chief Executive Officer  
Lithia Motors, Inc.  
February 22, 2013  



EXHIBIT 32.2 
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER  
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OR RULE 15d-14(b)  

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350  
 
In connection with the Annual Report of Lithia Motors, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012   as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Christopher S. Holzshu, Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and 
Secretary of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:  

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.  

   
/s/ Christopher S. Holzshu  
Christopher S. Holzshu  
Senior Vice President,  
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary  
Lithia Motors, Inc.  
February 22, 2013  


